

ADVERTIMENT. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi queda condicionat a l'acceptació de les condicions d'ús establertes per la següent llicència Creative Commons:

ADVERTENCIA. El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis queda condicionado a la aceptación de las condiciones de uso establecidas por la siguiente licencia Creative Commons:

**WARNING.** The access to the contents of this doctoral thesis it is limited to the acceptance of the use conditions set by the following Creative Commons license: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en

BY NC SA

# A Ror2/Snail1 signaling axis controls colorectal tumor formation and chemoresistance

**Guillem Fuertes Marín** 



Departament de Bioquímica i Biologia Molecular

Unitat de Biofísica, Facultat de Medicina

# A Ror2/Snail1 signaling axis controls colorectal tumor formation and chemoresistance

Guillem Fuertes Marín

Memòria presentada per optar al grau de Doctor en Bioquímica, Biologia Molecular i Biomedicina per la Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona

Setembre 2021

Directors de la Tesi Doctoral:

Dra. Mireia Duñach Masjuan

Dr. Antonio García de Herreros Madueño

# ABSTRACT

Snail1 transcriptional factor is a key driver of EMT and controls invasion and chemo-resistance of cancer cells. Snail1 expression in tumor cells has been associated to a poor prognosis and increased resistance to chemotherapy. The exactly regulation of Snail1 in tumor cells has not been identified although several extracellular factors can induce Snail1 expression in different tumor cells and fibroblasts, such as TGF- $\beta$  or Wnt factors. Canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways are activated by Wnt factors, that can be differentiated between canonical and non-canonical Wnts. Both use a common receptor, Fz, but differ in the co-receptor, LRP5/6 for the canonical and Ror2 in the noncanonical. Both pathways also us common downstream effectors, such as Dvl2 or Fyn, although the final response is totally different. While canonical pathway promotes the stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin, non-canonical Wnts promote its degradation. However, previous results of our lab have demonstrated that both, canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways regulate a common subset of genes associated to EMT, including Snail1. In this work we have found that non-canonical Wnt pathway, and not TGF-  $\beta$ , is regulating Snail1 expression in colon tumor cells. Accordingly, Ror2 knock-down decreases Snail1 expression, reducing transcription and protein stability. Ror2 and Snail1 participate in a positive feedback loop, since Ror2 depletion decreases Wnt5a production. By itself, Wnt5a induces the expression of Wnt5a, Ror2, Snail1and Fz2. This Ror2/Snail1 autoactivation loop controls invasion, tumor growth and chemoresistance to cisplatin. Inhibition of Wnt5a signaling with Porcupine inhibitors decreases Snail1, Ror2 and Wnt5a expression and reduces the resistance to cisplatin in Snail1-expressing cells. Together, these results described that Snail1 expression in colon tumor cells is controlled by an autoactivated non-canonical Wnt signaling that also controls invasion and chemoresistance. Thus, inhibitors of this pathway may be useful to prevent colon tumor progression, metastasis and chemoresistance.

# RESUM

El factor de transcripció Snail1 és un dels reguladors més importants de la EMT i controla la invasió i la quimioresistència de cèl·lules tumorals. L'expressió d'Snail1 en cèl·lules tumorals ha estat associada a una mala prognosi i un augment de la resistència a quimioteràpia. La exacta regulació d'Snail1 en cèl·lules tumorals no ha estat encara identificada, tot i que l'expressió d'Snail1 pot induir-se en cèl·lules tumorals i fibroblasts per diferents factors extracel·lulars, com ara TGF-β o factors Wnt. Les vies Wnt canònica i no canònica s'activen pels factors Wnt, que poden diferenciarse en canònics o no canònics. Ambdues vies usen un receptor comú, Fz, però difereixen en el coreceptor, LRP5/6 per la canònica i Ror2 per la no canònica. Ambdues vies utilitzen també efectors downstream comuns, com ara Dvl2 o Fyn, tot i que la resposta final és diferent. Mentre la via canònica promou l'estabilització de β-catenina, la no canònica promou la seva degradació. Tot i això, resultats previs del nostre laboratori han demostrat que ambdues vies, canònica i no canònica, regulen un grup comú de gens associats a EMT, incloent Snail1. En aquest estudi, hem trobat que la via de Wnt no canònica, i no TGF-β, regula l'expressió d'Snail1 en cèl·lules tumorals de colon. Com a conseqüència, el knock-down de Ror2 redueix l'expressió d'Snail1, reduint la transcripció i l'estabilitat de la proteïna. Ror2 i Snail1 participen en un loop positiu d'activació, ja que la depleció de Ror2 també redueix la producció de Wnt5a. A més, l'estimulació amb Wnt5a indueix l'expressió de Wnt5a, Ror2, Snail1 i Fz2. Aquest loop d'autoactivació format per Ror2 i Snail1 controla la invasió, el creixement tumoral i la quimioresistència a cisplatí. La inhibició de la senyalització per Wnt5a amb inhibidors de la Porcupina redueixen els nivells d'Snail1, Ror2 i Wnt5a i bloqueja la resistència a cisplatí en cèl·lules que expressen Snail1. Aquests resultats descriuen que l'expressió d'Snail1 en cèl·lules tumorals de colon està controlada per un loop d'autoactivació de la senyalització no canònica de Wnt que també controla la invasió tumoral i la quimioresistència. Per tant, inhibidors d'aquesta via podrien ser útils per prevenir la progressió del càncer de colon, la metàstasis i la quimioresistència.

# ABBREVIATIONS

AP-1: Activator protein 1 APC: Adenomatous polyposis coli ATF-2: Activating transcription factor 2 **BSA:** Bovine serum albumin **CAFs:** Cancer associated fibroblasts **CA-LRP5/6:** Constitutively active Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein CCND1: Cyclin D1 cDNA: Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid CK1: Casein kinase 1 family CM: Conditioned medium CRD: Cysteine-rich domain Ctl: Control DKK1: Dickkopf1 DMEM: Dulbecco-s modified Eagle's medium **DMSO:** Dimethyl sulfoxide DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid **DUB:** Deubiquitinating enzyme **Dvl2:** Disheveled 2 **ECM:** Extracellular matrix EGF: Epidermal growth factor **EMT:** Epithelial to mesenchymal transition EndMT: Endothelial to mesenchymal transition ER: Endoplasmic reticulum ERK: Extracellular signal-regulated kinase FBS: Fetal bovine serum

**FBXL5/14:** F-box leucine-rich-repeat protein 5/14

FGF: Fibroblast growth factor

FN1: Fibronectin 1

Fz: Frizzled

GFP: Green fluorescent protein

**GSK3β:** Glycogen synthase kinase 3β

GTPasa: Guanosine triphosphatase

IL: Interleukin

Jnk2: c-jun N-terminal kinase 2

KD: Kinase dead

kDA: Kilo Dalton

KN: Kringle

KO: Knock-out

LB: Luria broth

LEF1: Lymphoid enhancer factor 1

**LRP5/6:** Low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 5/6

**MEFs:** Mouse embryonic fibroblasts

MET: Mesenchymal to epithelial transition

Mmp: Matrix metalloprotease

mMSCs: Mouse mesenchymal stem cells

mRNA: Messenger ribonucleic acid

**MVB:** Multivesicular bodies

**NFκB:** Nuclear factor κB

PAGE: Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

PARP1: Poly8ADP-ribose) polymerase 1

**PBS:** Phosphate buffered saline

PCP: Planar cell polarity

**PDZ:** Post synaptic density protein, Drosophila disc large tumor suppressor and zonula occludens-1 protein domain

PEI: Polyethylenimine

PP2A: Protein phosphatase 2A

P-R: Proline-rich domain

PR61E: PP2A regulatory subunit 61E

**PTEN:** Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate 3-phosphatase

PVDF: Polyvinylidene difluoride

**Rac1:** Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1

RhoA: Ras homolog family member A

**RIPA:** Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer

**Ror1/2:** Receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1/2

RTK: Receptor tyrosine kinase

**RT-qPCR:** Real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction

Ryk: Receptor-like tyrosine kinase

**S/T-R:** Serine/threonine-rich domain

SDS: Sodium dodecyl sulfate

shRNA: short hairpin RNA

**STAT3:** Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3

TCF4: Transcription factor 4

TF: Transcription factor

**TGF-** $\beta$ : Transforming growth factor  $\beta$ 

TGS: Tris glycine SDS

Thbs1: Thrombospondin 1

TM: Transmembrane domain

Treg: Regulatory T lymphocyte

TTBS: Tris-buffered saline-Tween 20

**TWIST1:** Twist family BHLH transcription factor 1

USP: Ubiquitin specific peptidase

WB: Western blot

WIF: Wnt inhibitor factor

**YWTD**: β-sheet domain

**Zeb:** Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox

**ZnF:** Zinc finger domain

 $\alpha$ -SMA:  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin

**\beta-TrCP1:**  $\beta$ -transducin-repeat containing protein

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABST	RACT		4
RESUM6			
ABBR	EVIAT	10NS	8
TABLI	E OF C	ONTENTS	11
LIST C	of fig	URES AND TABLES	15
INTRO	DDUC	ΓΙΟΝ	19
1.	W	nt signaling pathway in colorectal cancer	21
2.	G	eneral components of the Wnt signaling	23
	2.1.	The Wnt ligands	. 23
	2.2.	The receptor Frizzled	. 23
3.	Tł	ne canonical Wnt pathway	25
	3.1.	Canonical co-receptor: LRP5/6	. 25
	3.2.	Canonical Wnt pathway activation	. 25
4.	N	on-canonical Wnt pathway	28
	4.1.	Non-canonical Wnt co-receptors	. 28
	4.2.	Non-canonical Wnt pathway activation	. 31
5.	Α	common signaling axis in canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathway	33
	5.1.	Targets of the Wnt-STAT3 axis	. 34
	5.2.	Targets of the Wnt-JNK2 axis	. 35
6.	Tł	e epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT)	36
	6.1.	EMT in cancer	. 37
	6.2.	EMT markers	. 38
	6.3.	Wnt signaling and EMT	. 39
7.	Sr	ail1 transcription factor	41
	7.1.	Snail1 structure and function	. 41
	7.2.	Snail1 target genes	. 43
	7.3.	Control of Snail expression, protein stability and gene transcription	44
	7.4.	Snail1 expression in tumors	. 46
OBJE	CTIVES	5	49
RESU	LTS		53
1.	R	or2 is required for Snail1 expression in tumor cells	55
	1.1.	Wnt and not TGF- $\beta$ controls Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cells	. 55

	1.2.	Ror2 correlates with Snail1 expression in colorectal tumors and colorectal tumor cell
	lines .	
	1.3.	Frizzled2 receptor correlates with Snail1 expression
	1.4.	Ror2 knock-down decreases Snail1 expression
	1.5.	Ror1 and Ryk co-receptors are not affected by Ror2 depletion
	1.6.	Ror2 depletion affects JNK2 and STAT3 basal phosphorylation
	1.7.	The expression of non-canonical Wnt target genes decreases in Ror2-depleted cells
	1.8.	Ror2 depletion decreases mesenchymal gene expression whereas epithelial genes
	increa	ase 64
2.	M	echanism of Snail1 regulation by Ror266
	2.1.	Snail1 transcription is controlled by Ror2 through Jnk2 and Stat3 activation
	2.2.	Ror2 increases Snail1 protein stability
	2.3.	Ror2 depletion modulates the expression of DUB3 69
3.	W	nt5a – Ror2 – Snail1 define a positive feedback loop70
	3.1.	Ror2 depletion decreases the production of Wnt5a ligand 70
	3.2.	Inhibition of Wnt secretion mimics Ror2 depletion72
	3.3.	Wnt5a induces the expression of Snail1, Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz274
	3.4.	Overexpression of Ror2 or Snail1 induces the activation of the non-canonical Wnt
	signal	ing 75
	3.5.	Snail1 knock-down decreases the expression of Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz277
4.	Ro	or2-depletion inhibits CAF activation by tumor cells79
	4.1.	Conditioned medium from Ror2-depleted tumor cells decreases mMSCs activation 79
	4.2.	Ror2-depleted cells produced less TGF-β
	4.3.	Ror2-depleted cells decrease mMSC-induced invasion in co-culture
	4.4.	$TGF\text{-}\beta$ inhibition decreases Fibronectin but not Snail1 activation in mesenchymal cells
	upon	addition of conditioned medium from tumor cells
	4.5.	Wnt secretion inhibition mimics the effect of Ror2-deleted tumor cells conditioned
	mediu	um 83
	4.6.	Snail1-overexpression in tumor cells increase their ability to activate fibroblasts 84
5.	Ro	or2 controls tumorigenesis
	5.1.	Ror2 depletion impairs proliferation and colony formation capacities
	5.2.	Ror2 depletion decreases migration and invasion
	5.3.	Ror2 depletion impairs tumor growth
6.	Ro	er2 – Snail1 axis promotes resistance to cisplatin91
	6.1.	Ror2 knock-down decreases cisplatin resistance
	6.2.	Snail1 overexpression increases cisplatin resistance in the Ror2-depleted cells 92
	6.3.	Cisplatin increases Snail1 protein stability and Snail1 transcription

	6.4.	Ror2 also modulate the response to other DNA-damage agents	95
	6.5.	Inhibition of Wnt secretion decreases cisplatin resistance	96
	6.6.	Non-canonical Wnt pathway controls Snail1 upregulation upon cisplatin	96
	6.7.	Wnt inhibition blocks cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in Mouse Tumor Organoid	s 98
	6.8.	Wnt inhibition reduces MTOs increases sensitivity to cisplatin	99
7.	Ра	clitaxel and other microtubule-affecting drugs promote a Snail1-modification the	at
рі	revents	s Snail1-induced resistance	. 100
	7.1.	Snail1 does not promote higher resistance to paclitaxel	100
	7.2.	Paclitaxel induces an increase in Snail1 expression	101
	7.3.	Microtubule-affecting drugs induce Snail1 phosphorylation	102
8.	N	on-canonical Wnt signaling factors correlate with Snail1 in human colorectal	
tu	mors		. 104
	8.1. tumo	non-canonical with factors, but not canonical ones, correlate with shall in colore	104
	8.2	Wnt5a and Ror2 correlate with Spail1 in other human cancers	106
DISC	USSIO		. 108
1.	Ro	pr2 controls Snail1 expression in colon tumor cells	. 110
2.	Ro	pr2/Snail1 define a positive loop of autoactivation	. 113
3.	Ro	pr2 is required for tumor progression, metastasis and fibroblast activation	. 115
4.	Ro	pr2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	. 117
4. CON	Ro CLUSIC	pr2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	. 117 . 121
4. CON MAT	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs NS AND METHODS	. 117 . 121 . 125
4. CONO MAT 1.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS Ce	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs NS AND METHODS	. 117 . 121 . 125 . 127
4. CONO MAT 1.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS Ce 1.1.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs NS AND METHODS	. <b>117</b> . <b>121</b> . <b>125</b> . <b>127</b> 127
4. CONO MAT 1.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS Ce 1.1. 1.2.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs ONS AND METHODS Il culture Eukaryotic cell lines Obtention of conditioned medium	. <b>117</b> . <b>121</b> . <b>125</b> . <b>127</b> 127 128
4. CON MAT 1.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs AND METHODS	. <b>117</b> . <b>121</b> . <b>125</b> . <b>127</b> 127 128 129
4. CON MAT 1. 2.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs AND METHODS	.117 .121 .125 .127 127 128 129 .130
4. CON MAT 1. 2.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	. 117 . 121 . 125 . 127 127 128 129 . 130
4. CON MAT 1. 2.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	. 117 . 121 . 125 . 127 128 129 . 130 130 131
4. CON MAT 1. 2.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	.117 .121 .125 .127 128 129 .130 130 131 131
4. CON MAT 1. 2.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   onS   AND METHODS   ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   ell transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification	.117 .121 .125 .127 127 128 129 .130 131 131 131 .132
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1.	pr2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   NS   AND METHODS   Ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   Ell transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification   cell extracts preparation:	.117 .121 .125 .127 127 128 129 .130 131 131 .131 .132
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1. 3.2.	pr2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   oNS   AND METHODS   ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   ell transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification   cell extracts preparation:   Electrophoresis and Western blot:	.117 .121 .125 .127 127 128 129 .130 131 131 .131 .132 132
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1. 3.2. 3.3.	pr2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs	.117 .121 .125 .127 127 128 129 .130 131 131 .131 .132 132 133
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. Ri	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   oNS   AND METHODS   ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   Il transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification   cell extracts preparation:   Electrophoresis and Western blot:   Dephosphorylation assay	.117 .121 .125 .127 128 129 .130 131 131 .132 132 132 133 .134
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. Rf 4.1.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   NNS   AND METHODS   ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   ell transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification   cell extracts preparation:   Electrophoresis and Western blot:   Dephosphorylation assay   NA extraction	.117 .121 .125 .127 128 129 .130 131 131 131 .132 132 133 .134
4. CON MAT 1. 2. 3. 4.	Ro CLUSIC ERIALS 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. Ce 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. Te 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. RI 4.1. 4.2.	or2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs   NS   AND METHODS   Ell culture   Eukaryotic cell lines   Obtention of conditioned medium   Cellular treatments   Ell transfection and selection of transfectants   DNA transfection with PEI   DNA constructs   Plasmid DNA purification   cell extracts preparation:   Electrophoresis and Western blot:   Dephosphorylation assay   VA analysis   RNA extraction   Quantitative Real Time PCR (RT-qPCR)	.117 .121 .125 .127 128 129 .130 131 131 .131 .132 132 133 .134 134

	5.1	. MTT assay	135
	5.2	2. Celltiter glo assay	135
	5.3	Colony formation assays	136
6.		Migration and invasion assays	136
7.		SNAI1 promoter activity assay	137
8.		TGF-β reporter assay	137
9.		Human tumor data analysis	137
10	).	Statistical analyses	138
11	L.	Reagents and solutions	138
BIBLI	OGF	арну	140

# LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1: Intestinal crypt representation	. 22
Figure 2: Wnt secretion route	. 23
Figure 3: Frizzled receptor diagram.	. 24
Figure 4: Representation of the LRP5/6 receptor.	. 25
Figure 5: Canonical Wnt pathway and $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex	. 26
Figure 6: Canonical Wnt pathway activation	. 26
Figure 7: Canonical Wnt pathway activation	. 27
Figure 8: Representation of the Ror-family RTKs structure	. 29
Figure 9: p120-catenin and CK1ɛ interact with Ror2	. 29
Figure 10: Representation of the Ryk receptor structure	. 30
Figure 11: Non canonical Wnt pathway activation	. 32
Figure 12: Canonical and non-canonical Wnt-STAT3 axis	. 34
Figure 13: Markers of the Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition	. 36
Figure 14: Snail1 protein structure and post-translational modifications controlling its function	. 42
Figure 15: Snail1 protein stability regulation by E3 ubiquitin ligases and DUBs	. 45
Figure 16: Inhibition of TGF- $eta$ receptor does not affect Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer ce	ell.
lines	. 56
Figure 17: Inhibition of Wnt secretion decreases the expression of Snail1 in colorectal cancer ce	ells
Figure 18: Snail1 expression correlates better with Ror2 than LRP5/6 in human colorectal cance	. 50 er
patients	. 57
Figure 19: Snail1 protein levels correlate with Ror2 in colorectal cancer cell lines	. 58
Figure 20: Ror2 and Snail1 mRNA levels correlate in colorectal tumor cell lines	. 59
Figure 21: SNAI1 mRNA expression correlates with FZD2 in colorectal cancer patients	. 60
Figure 22: Fz2 protein levels correlate with Snail1 in colorectal cancer cell lines	. 60
Figure 23: Ror2 knock-down decreases Snail1 protein levels	. 61
Figure 24: ROR1 and RYK expression is not affected by Ror2 depletion	. 62
Figure 25: Ror2 knock-down decreases JNK2 and STAT3 basal phosphorylation	. 62
Figure 26: Ror2 knock-down decreases Wnt5a target genes, but not Wn3a target genes	. 63
Figure 27: Ror2 knock-down decreases mesenchymal genes expression whereas increases	
epithelial genes	. 65
Figure 28: Representation of the -869/+59 and -194/+59 SNAI1 promoter fragments	. 66
Figure 29: SNAI1 promoter activity is decreased in Ror2-depleted cells	. 67
Figure 30: Inhibition of JNK2 and STAT3 decreases SNAI1 promoter activity	. 67
Figure 31: Inhibition of JNK2 and STAT3 decreases Snail1 protein levels	. 68
Figure 32: Ror2 increases Snail1 protein stability	. 68
Figure 33: Ror2 modulates DUB3 expression	. 69
Figure 34: Ror2 depletion decreases Wnt5a production	. 70
Figure 35: Conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 control cells induces STAT3	
phosphorylation in mMSCs	. 71

Figure 36: Depletion of Ror2 in HEK293T cells decreased STAT3 phosphorylation after treatmen	t
with HCT116 control cells conditioned medium	. 71
Figure 37: LGK974 decreases Wnt5a production	. 72
Figure 38: LGK974 decreased canonical and non-canonical target genes expression	. 73
Figure 39: Wnt5a treatment induces the expression of Snail1, Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a	. 74
Figure 40: Overexpression of Ror2 in SW480 increases Snail1, Fz2 and Wnt5a expression	. 75
Figure 41: Overexpression of Snail1 in HT29 M6 and SW480 cells increases Ror2, Fz2, FN1 and	
αSMA protein levels	. 76
Figure 42: Overexpression of Snail1 in HT29 M6 and SW480 cells increases SNAI1, WNT5A, ROR.	2,
FZD2 and FN1 expression.	. 77
Figure 43: Snail1 knock-down decreases Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a expression	. 78
Figure 44: Conditioned medium from SW620 Ror2-depleted cells does not induce fibroblast	
activation	. 79
Figure 45: Conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 Ror2-depleted cells does not induce	
fibroblast activation	. 80
Figure 46: Ror2-depleted cells produce less TGF-β	. 81
Figure 47: Ror2 depletion affects the basal phosphorylation level of SMAD2	. 81
Figure 48: Ror2 depletion impairs tumor cells-induced mMSC invasion	. 82
Figure 49: TGF- $\beta$ inhibition decreases Fibronectin1 and pSMAD2 induction but not Snail1 in	
mMSCs	. 83
Figure 50: LGK974 decreases TGF-β production and fibroblast activation	. 84
Figure 51: HT29 M6 overexpressing Snail1 induces fibroblast activation	. 85
Figure 52: Ror2 depletion decreases cell proliferation at 1% FBS	. 86
Figure 53: Ror2 depletion impairs the clonogenic capacities in 2D culture.	. 87
Figure 54: Ror2 knock-down decreases the clonogenic capacities in soft agar 3D culture	. 88
Figure 55: Ror2 overexpression increases clonogenic capacities in 2D culture	. 88
Figure 56: Ror2 knock-down decreases cell migration and invasion.	. 89
Figure 57: Ror2 depletion decreases tumor growth	. 90
Figure 58: Ror2-depleted tumors show a lower CAF infiltration	. 90
Figure 59: Ror2 modulates cell resistance to cisplatin	. 91
Figure 60: Snail1 overexpression increases Ror2-depleted cells resistance to cisplatin	. 92
Figure 61: Snail1 overexpression induces resistance to cisplatin.	. 92
Figure 62: Ror2 knock-down impairs Snail1 increase upon cisplatin	. 93
Figure 63: Cisplatin induces higher cell death in Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells than in	
control cells.	. 93
Figure 64: Cisplatin induces higher Snail1 mRNA expression	. 94
Figure 65: Cisplatin promotes Snail1 protein stabilization	. 94
Figure 66: Ror2-depleted HCT116 cells are more sensitive to oxaliplatin and 5-FU than control	
cells	. 95
Figure 67: DNA-damaging drugs induce Snail1 increase	. 95
Figure 68: LGK enhances cisplatin toxicity.	. 96
Figure 69: LGK974 prevents Snail1 upregulation upon cisplatin	. 97
Figure 70: Non-canonical Wnt is required for cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation	. 97
Figure 71: LGK974 prevents cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in other colorectal cancer cells	. 98

Figure 72: LGK974 and WntC59 block cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in MTOs	98
Figure 73: LGK974 and WntC59 induced higher sensitivity to cisplatin in MTOs	99
Figure 74: Ror2 expression does not affect resistance to paclitaxel	100
Figure 75: Snail1 overexpression does not induce higher resistance to paclitaxel	101
Figure 76: Paclitaxel induces an increase on Snail1 protein levels	101
Figure 77: Paclitaxel induces higher Snail1 mRNA expression	102
Figure 78: Paclitaxel induces a change on Snail1 protein molecular weight	102
Figure 79: Paclitaxel induces Snail1 phosphorylation.	103
Figure 80: Microtubule-affecting drugs induce Snail1 phosphorylation	103
Figure 81: Expression of Snail1, Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a correlates with non-canonical genes	105
Figure 82: Wnt5a/Ror2 and not Wnt3a/LRP5 correlate with Snail1 in human cancers	106
Figure 83: The non-canonical Wnt pathway controls SNAI1 transcription and Snail1 protein	
stability	111
Figure 84: Wnt5a/Ror2/Snail1 define a loop of autoactivation	113
Figure 85: Role of the non-canonical Wnt signaling in the control of Snail1 expression and car	ncer
progression	119

Table 1: Enumeration and characteristics of the cell lines used in the thesis.	127
Table 2: Cell culture treatments	129
Table 3: DNA constructs employed during the thesis	131
Table 4: List of antibodies used in the thesis	132
Table 5: Primer sequences used in quantitative RT-PCR	134

# INTRODUCTION

# 1. Wnt signaling pathway in colorectal cancer

Colorectal cancer is the second and third most common cancer in women and men, respectively, ant it is a major cause of cancer mortality<sup>1,2</sup>. Importantly, in the majority of the cases, patients are diagnosed at advanced ages, which has a high impact in mortality, making this cancer the fourth most common cause of cancer death worldwide<sup>2</sup>. In general, the majority of colorectal cancer cases are sporadic. However, there are hereditary colorectal cancer cases caused, principally, by mutations in the adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*) gene, which controls activation of the Wnt signaling<sup>2</sup>.

Wnt signaling pathway plays a key role during embryonic development and tissue homeostasis by controlling different cellular functions such as proliferation, differentiation, migration or invasion<sup>3,4</sup>. Therefore, as mentioned above, deregulation of the Wnt signaling pathway drives to problems in development and more importantly to tumorigenesis and metastasis.

Wnt signaling is divided in two different pathways, the canonical and the non-canonical Wnt pathway, depending on the capacity to stabilize  $\beta$ -catenin, the central protein in the Wnt signaling pathway<sup>5,6</sup>. Indeed, the canonical Wnt pathway is also known as  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent and the non-canonical as  $\beta$ -catenin -independent pathway.

In the intestine, canonical Wnt pathway is essential for the maintenance and self-renewal of epithelial stem cells, which are located at the base of the intestinal crypts<sup>7,8</sup>. In fact, the higher expression of canonical Wnt target genes is in the bottom of the crypt and decrease over the top, generating a Wnt gradient along the crypt axis<sup>8</sup> (Figure 1). Due to its important role in controlling the intestinal homeostasis, mutations in the canonical Wnt pathway lead to the appearance of colorectal cancer<sup>9</sup>. The majority of colorectal cancer cases present mutations in the APC gene, although mutations in other members of canonical Wnt machinery have also been described<sup>8,9</sup>.

Despite the abnormal activation of the canonical Wnt signaling is the cause of most colorectal cancer cases, in recent years the contribution of the non-canonical pathway to the progression of colorectal cancer has also been considered. Specifically, increased expression of Wnt5a has been observed in colorectal cancer samples<sup>10</sup>. Moreover, this augmented Wnt5a expression correlates with poor prognosis of colorectal cancer patients<sup>11</sup>.



**Figure 1: Intestinal crypt representation.** The diagram shows the spatial distribution of the different cell types found in the intestinal crypts and the Wnt gradient. On the top, there are the enterocytes, in the middle the rapidly proliferating transit-amplifying (TA) cells and the goblet cells. In the bottom, where more Wnt signaling occurs, the intestinal stem cells are located. Adapted from [1].

In fact, while canonical Wnt pathway is mostly regulating the initiation of colorectal cancer, the non-canonical pathway could be more involved in the migratory and invasive capacities of the colorectal cancer cells<sup>11</sup>. Thus, non-canonical Wnt pathway also plays an important role in colorectal cancer malignancy.

# 2. General components of the Wnt signaling

## 2.1. The Wnt ligands

Activation of the canonical or the non-canonical pathway depends on the Wnt ligands that bind to the receptors. Wnt ligands are a family of secreted glycoproteins that in mammals is comprised by 19 members<sup>12</sup>. Wnt factors are proteins of about 350 to 400 amino acids enriched in cysteine residues and with a N-terminal signaling peptide that targets for secretion<sup>12</sup>.

Wnt factors suffer posttranslational modifications in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), such as glycosylation and palmitolaytion, are required for a correct secretion and activity<sup>13</sup>. Porcupine protein, a transmembrane protein in the ER, is the responsible of Wnt palmitoylation and is a key protein for Wnt secretion<sup>14</sup>. For this reason, in the last years, Porcupine inhibitors have come out as potent inhibitors of the Wnt pathway for different type of cancers<sup>15,16</sup> (Figure 2).





Although it is difficult to classify the Wnt factors among canonical and non-canonical, classically, Wnt1, Wnt3a, Wnt8 and Wnt8b have been considered canonical ligands, whereas Wnt4, Wnt5a and Wnt11 as non-canonical<sup>18</sup>.

## 2.2. The receptor Frizzled

The Wnt ligands bind to Frizzled receptor (Fz)<sup>19</sup>, which is a common element in both canonical and non-canonical pathways<sup>20</sup>. In humans, the Frizzled protein family is formed by 10 different genes. Fz receptors are seven-pass transmembrane proteins with an N-terminal extracellular cysteine-rich domain (CRD)<sup>21</sup>. This CRD is a conserved sequence of approximately 120 amino acids necessary for

the interaction of the Wnt ligands with the receptor<sup>22</sup> (Figure 3). In the intracellular C-terminal region, Fz receptors present a KTxxxW motif needed for Dishevelled interaction and signaling<sup>23</sup> (Figure 3).

Fz is considered the specific receptor for Wnt ligands, but for the activation of the signaling, other proteins act as co-receptors, that are specific for either the canonical or the non-canonical pathway. LRP5/6 is the co-receptor of the canonical pathway, while Ror1, Ror2 and Ryk are the co-receptors of the non-canonical<sup>20,24</sup>.



**Figure 3: Frizzled receptor diagram.** The representation shows the different domains of Frizzled receptor. The cysteine-rich domain (CRD), the seven transmembrane domains and the Dvl binding motif are represented. Figure from [18].

# 3. The canonical Wnt pathway

## 3.1. Canonical co-receptor: LRP5/6

The receptors LRP5 and LRP6 are homologs proteins that structurally are constituted by an extracellular part with 4 epidermal growth factor (EGF) domains and 3 low density lipoproteins (LDL) type A domains<sup>25</sup> (Figure 4). Moreover, LRP5/6 also present 4  $\beta$ -sheet domains (YWTD) in the extracellular region that are required for the interaction with the canonical Wnt ligands and the inhibitor Dickkopf (DKK1)<sup>26</sup>.

A cluster of serines and threonines followed by five PPPSPxP motifs constitutes the intracellular part of LRP5/6 (Figure 4). When the signaling is activated, some of these residues are phosphorylated<sup>27,28</sup>. The C-terminal region contains a tyrosine-rich YxxYxYxx motif that can be phosphorylated by the Src family of kinases, mostly by Src and Fer<sup>29</sup>.



**Figure 4: Representation of the LRP5/6 receptor.** The diagram shows the four tandem YWTD and RGF domains followed by the LDL-A repeats. In the intracellular part, the five PPPSPxP motifs are also represented. Adapted from [18].

Several mutant forms of the LRP5/6 co-receptors have been described. For instance, a mutant lacking the intracellular part acts as dominant negative of the pathway, while a mutant without the extracellular domain, but maintaining the transmembrane domain, works as a constitutively active co-receptor (CA-LRP5/6)<sup>30,31,32</sup>.

# 3.2. Canonical Wnt pathway activation

The canonical Wnt signaling or  $\beta$ -catenin -dependent is determined by the capacity to stabilize the cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin that is translocated then to the nucleus promoting its transcriptional activity<sup>5</sup>.

In the absence of canonical Wnt signaling, the levels of  $\beta$ -catenin are maintained low, by the action of its degradation complex. This  $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex if formed by Axin, APC and the kinases GSK-3 and CK1 $\alpha$ . These two kinases phosphorylate the cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin promoting its degradation by the proteasome<sup>33</sup> (Figure 5).

At the membrane, the co-receptor LRP5/6 is constitutively bound to E-Cadherin, which is also bound to p120-catenin. Additionally, p120-catenin binds to CK1 $\epsilon$  as well, being these two factors

essential for the activation of the pathway<sup>34</sup> (Figure 5). Moreover, p120-catenin is also necessary to maintain cadherins at the cellular membrane<sup>35</sup>. In the absence of this interaction, cadherins are internalized by clathrin mediated endocytosis and degraded in the proteasome<sup>36</sup>. p120-catenin/cadherin interaction is regulated by the phosphorylation of specific residues by Src<sup>37,38</sup> and CK1 family kinases<sup>39,34</sup>.



Figure 5: Canonical Wnt pathway and  $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex. Representative diagram of the canonical Wnt pathway elements and the  $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex in the absence of a Wnt ligand. In the absence of Wnt,  $\beta$ -catenin is phosphorylated by GSK3 and CK1 $\alpha$  that target it for proteasomal degradation. Adapted from [40].

Upon activation of the pathway, the canonical Wnt ligand binds to the receptor Fz and the coreceptor LRP5/6, generating a signalosome that includes p120-catenin and CK1 $\epsilon$ . Once formed, the phosphatase PP2A regulatory subunit PR61 $\epsilon$ , constitutively bound to Fz, interacts with CK1 $\epsilon$  causing its dephosphorylation and activation (Figure 6 A). CK1 $\epsilon$  activation causes the recruitment of Dishevelled2 (Dvl2) to Fz receptor<sup>41,42</sup>. Dvl2 is a key element in the activation of the canonical Wnt pathway, but also participates in the non-canonical pathway. It is unclear whereas CK1 $\epsilon$  activation promotes Dvl2 phosphorylation increasing its affinity to Fz or, alternatively, it phosphorylates Fz inducing Dvl2 recruitment (Figure 6 B).



**Figure 6: Canonical Wnt pathway activation.** Representation of the first steps in the activation of the canonical Wnt pathway until Dvl recruitment to Fz. Upon binding of Wnt to Fz and LRP5/6, CK1ɛ is activated (A) causing Dvl recruitment to Fz and signalosome formation (B). Adapted from [40].

Dvl2 recruitment to Fz promotes then the phosphorylation of LRP5/6 in the residue Thr1479 by CK1 $\gamma$  (Figure 7 A) inducing the recruitment of Axin to LRP5/6 together with GSK-3 and CK1 $\alpha$ , which

inhibits GSK-3<sup>27</sup> (Figure 7 B and C). Moreover, CK1 $\alpha$  phosphorylates p120-catenin and cadherins disrupting this interaction and promoting the release of both proteins from the signalosome<sup>39</sup> (Figure 7 D and E). This dissociation induces the internalization of the signalosome in multivesicular bodies (MVB), which inhibits the  $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex promoting its stabilization in the cytosol<sup>32</sup> (Figure 7 F).

Once released from the cadherins, p120-catenin interacts and activates Rac1, a GTPase protein that controls cell adhesion and migration. Rac1 activation induces the activation of PAK1, which phosphorylates and activates JNK2 kinase<sup>40</sup>. Finally, JNK2 phoshporylates  $\beta$ -catenin and induces its nuclear translocation. In the nucleus, p120-catenin removes Kaiso from the TCF-4 transcriptional factor and allows TCF-4/ $\beta$ -catenin interaction<sup>43</sup>, activating canonical Wnt target genes<sup>44</sup>.





## 4. Non-canonical Wnt pathway

The non-canonical Wnt pathway or  $\beta$ -catenin-independent is a group of several routes that do not require the  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity<sup>45</sup>. The two main non-canonical Wnt routes that have been described so far are the planar cell polarity (PCP) and the Wnt-Ca<sup>2+</sup> pathway<sup>18</sup>. The non-canonical Wnt pathway shares common elements with the canonical pathway, such as the receptor Fz, Dvl2, p120-catenin or CK1 $\epsilon$ , but differs in the co-receptor and in the final responses.

#### 4.1. Non-canonical Wnt co-receptors

As mentioned above, a part from the Wnt ligands, the differential element between the canonical and the non-canonical pathways are the co-receptors that activate the signaling cascade. In the case of the non-canonical, these co-receptors are the Ror family of tyrosine kinase receptors, composed by Ror1 and Ror2<sup>46,47</sup>, and Ryk<sup>24</sup>.

All three co-receptors are essential during development. Mutations in any of the three produce severe malformations, but compared to the other two co-receptors, mutations in Ror2 produce malformations that are more similar to the ones generated when the Wnt5a gene is mutated. Moreover, Ror2 has been found upregulated in many cancers, becoming the most studied co-receptor<sup>24</sup>. For these reasons, although Wnt5a interacts with the three receptors<sup>18</sup>, Ror2 has been considered the principal co-receptor involved in the activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway.

#### 4.1.1. Ror2

Ror2 is a tyrosine kinase receptor highly conserved in vertebrates. Structurally, it is formed by different domains. It has three extracellular domains: the Ig-like domain, the Frizzled-like cysteine-rich domain (CRD) and the Kringle domain, a single-pass transmembrane domain and the intracellular domains: a tyrosine kinase domain, a proline-rich domain and two serine/threonine-rich domains<sup>48</sup> (Figure 8).

The Ror2 CRD domain is similar to the one present in the Fz family of receptors and it is the responsible for the binding of Wnt ligands to the receptors<sup>49</sup>. Moreover, it has been described that Fz and Ror2 also interact through their CRD domains<sup>50</sup>. Another domain of Ror2 important for the signaling is the tyrosine kinase domain. Wnt5a stimulation induces Ror2 dimerization, which is necessary for its autophosphorylation and activation. In studies performed with a Ror2-KD mutant, the phosphorylation and activation of the receptor were partially decreased, demonstrating the

importance of Ror2 kinase domain<sup>51</sup>. Due to this partial reduction, some studies have suggested the presence of an associated kinase responsible for Ror2 phosphorylation.

In fact, it has been described that Src, an intracellular tyrosine kinase, interacts with Ror2 at the P-R domain and the first S/T-R domain, being responsible for Ror2 phosphorylation in tyrosine residues of the P-R domain upon Wnt5a stimulation<sup>52</sup>.



**Figure 8: Representation of the Ror-family RTKs structure.** The diagram shows the immunoglobulin-like (Ig-like) domain, the Frizzled-like cysteine-rich domain (CRD), the Kringle domain (KR), the transmembrane domain (TM), the tyrosine kinase domain, the proline-rich domain (Pro) and the two serine/threonine-rich domains (S/T-rich). Adapted from [18].

Other relevant factors for the activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway, such as p120-catenin and CK1ε, have been described to interact with Ror2 in its intracellular part. p120-catenin binds to Ror2 in the juxtamembrane domain. Similarly to its role in the adherent junctions, p120-catenin controls the presence of Ror2 in the plasma membrane, protecting it from a clathrin-mediated internalization and subsequent degradation<sup>53</sup>. On the other hand, CK1ε binds to Ror2 in its Cterminal part and phosphorylates Ror2 on serine/threonine residues of the S/T-R domain allowing Ror2 autophosphorylation<sup>54</sup>. Besides this function in Ror2 activation, CK1ε also protects Ror2 from degradation, since in cells KO for CK1ε, the levels of Ror2 decreased<sup>53</sup> (Figure 9).



**Figure 9: p120-catenin and CK1***ɛ* **interact with Ror2.** In basal conditions p120catenin is constitutively bound to the Ror2 juxtamembrane domain. CK1*ɛ* interacts constitutively with the C-terminal part of Ror2. Adapted from [53].

As mentioned before, Ror2 is crucial during development. Mutations in the Ror2 gene generate pathological consequences due to failures during development. Deletion of the tyrosine kinase domain or endoplasmic reticulum retention and degradation of the protein causes a rare disorder called recessive Robinow Syndrome<sup>55,56</sup>. Moreover, nonsense mutations in the N or C-terminal of the tyrosine kinase domain of Ror2 causes Brachydactyly Type B syndrome<sup>57</sup>.

Although Ror2 is critical during development, very low levels of the receptor have been detected in normal adult tissues<sup>58</sup>. In contrast, Ror2 has been found upregulated in some type of cancers, such as osteosarcoma, melanoma, renal carcinoma or neck and head squamous cell carcinoma<sup>59</sup>.

## 4.1.2. Other non-canonical Wnt co-receptors: Ror1 and Ryk

Ror1 is the other member of the Ror family of tyrosine kinase receptors<sup>47</sup>. Ror1 has also been described as a Wnt5a co-receptor that activates the non-canonical pathway<sup>20</sup>. Structurally, Ror1 presents the same domains as Ror2<sup>48</sup>, but it is still unknown if it also presents the same interactions in the intracellular part (Figure 8).

An alternative splice variant of Ror1 has been described, which lacks the extracellular part and the transmembrane domain<sup>60</sup>. Little is known about this truncated form of Ror1, but it was found in the nucleus and it has been reported to play a role in cell migration and cytoskeleton remodeling<sup>61,62</sup>.

Ror1 has also a key role during development, maintaining neural progenitor cell fate<sup>63</sup> and, as Ror2, its expression in adult tissues is very low<sup>64</sup>. However, Ror1 has been found to be overexpressed and constitutively phosphorylated in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)<sup>65,66</sup>. These findings suggest that Ror1 could also have a role in regulating the non-canonical pathway and be important in cancer.

Ryk is a single-pass transmembrane receptor that, in contrast to the Ror family, presents an extracellular Wnt-binding WIF domain, a putative tetrabasic cleavage site, a  $\gamma$ -secretase cleavage site and an intracellular part containing the tyrosine kinase-related domain and a C-terminal part with a PDZ-binding domain<sup>67</sup> (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Representation of the Ryk receptor structure. The figure shows the different domains of the Ryk receptor: the Wnt-binding WIF domain, the putative tetrabasic cleavage site, the transmembrane domain with the  $\gamma$ -secretase cleavage site and the intracellular tyrosine kinase-related domain and the C-terminal PDZ-binding site. Adapted from [67].

Ryk has been described to participate in a complex with Wnt11 and Fz7 and to induce endocytosis of Dvl<sup>68</sup>. It has also been reported to regulate Wnt5a-induced axon growth and guidance<sup>69</sup>. Although

30

Ryk has been defined as a non-canonical Wnt co-receptor, it has been found activating the canonical pathway<sup>70</sup>.

Little is known about how Ryk mediates Wnt signaling, although it seems that it can activate canonical and non-canonical pathways depending on the context<sup>71</sup>. Remarkably, upon Wnt stimulation, cleavage and nuclear translocation of the C-terminal fragment of Ryk occurs and it is essential for the neuronal Ryk-mediated responses<sup>72</sup>.

### 4.2. Non-canonical Wnt pathway activation

The non-canonical pathway is activated when a non-canonical Wnt ligand, Wnt5a for instance, binds to the receptor Fz and the co-receptor Ror2<sup>50,73</sup> (Figure 11 B). This binding induces the phosphorylation of the receptors and the dimerization of Ror2<sup>51</sup>, which is then activated<sup>74</sup>. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Ror2 increases its affinity to p120-catenin and CK1ε<sup>53</sup> (Figure 11 C).

As happens in the canonical pathway, when the receptor complex is formed, Ror2 constitutivelybound CK1ɛ interacts with Fz-bound PR61ɛ, which dephosphorylates CK1ɛ, thus activating it. CK1ɛ activation promotes Dvl2 recruitment to Fz, as occurs in the canonical pathway<sup>41,53</sup> (Figure 11 C). After Dvl2 recruitment to Fz, the clathrin adaptors associate to the complex and the clathrinmediated endocytosis of the signaling complex is induced<sup>75,76,77</sup>.

The internalization of the complex promotes the activation of Rac1 and RhoA that causes JNK2 phosphorylation and Rho-associated protein kinase activation, respectively. The activation of these two effectors leads to the polarization of the actin cytoskeleton to induce cell migration<sup>77</sup>. To go forward and activate invasion, the non-canonical pathway regulates the AP-1 target gene expression. Activated JNK2 induces c-Jun/ATF-2 binding to the AP-1 binding site of its target genes, among them metalloproteases (Mmp13, Mmp2 or Mmp9) that will degrade the ECM<sup>46,78,79</sup> (Figure 11 C).

Other final responses of the non-canonical pathway are the increased expression of Siah2<sup>80</sup>, an E3 ubiquitin ligase that promotes  $\beta$ -catenin degradation, and the up-regulation of EMT-related genes<sup>79</sup> (Figure 11 C).



**Figure 11: Non canonical Wnt pathway activation.** Representation of the different steps in the activation of the pathway. In the absence of Wnt, Ror2-bound CK1ε is inactive(A). upon Wnt binding to Fz and Ror2, CK1ε is activated (B), leading to Dvl recruitment to Fz and Ror2 phosphorylation and dimerization. Dvl recruitment promotes JNK2 activation, which induces then the expression of AP-1 target genes, EMT-related genes and β-catenin degradation (C). Adapted from [53].

# 5. A common signaling axis in canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathway.

In 2014, Gujral et al described a new signaling branch for the non-canonical Wnt pathway that includes the activation of Fyn kinase, which phosphorylates the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). In this study, performed in metastatic tumor-derived cells, after Wnt5a stimulation, Fz is tyrosine phosphorylated in the residue Tyr552 of its C-terminal part (Figure 12 E). Then, Fyn is recruited to this phosphorylated region of Fz, inducing Fyn activation. Activated Fyn phosphorylates STAT3 that promotes invasion by inducing the expression of invasion and EMT-related genes<sup>79</sup> (Figure 12 F).

Historically, canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways have been separated due to the opposite effects produced on  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization<sup>40,80</sup>. However, both pathways induce similar final responses, such as migration or invasion<sup>41,53</sup>. These effects can be easily attributed to Rac1 and JNK2 signals that are commonly activated by both pathways, but in the recent years our group has described that canonical Wnts also activate the Fyn-STAT3 pathway<sup>81</sup>.

Fyn-STAT3 activation, then, is commonly induced by canonical and non-canonical Wnts, Wnt3a and Wnt5a, respectively, but in a receptor-specific manner (Figure 12 A-F). DKK1, a specific inhibitor of the canonical LRP5/6 co-receptor, blocked Fyn-STAT3 Wnt3a-dependent activation and, on the other hand, specific Ror2 knock-down reduced Fyn-STAT3 activation by Wnt5a, but not by Wnt3a<sup>81</sup>.

As mentioned above, Fz Tyr552 phosphorylation is required for Wnt-induced Fyn-STAT3 activation. Importantly, this residue is only found in Fz1, Fz2 and Fz7<sup>79</sup>. A kinase commonly involved in both pathways could perform this phosphorylation. Src is the tyrosine kinase responsible for Fz phosphorylation in this residue<sup>81</sup>. Indeed, Src is activated by canonical and non-canonical Wnts<sup>76,81,82</sup>. Moreover, Src has been found interacting with the canonical and non-canonical correceptors, LRP5/6 and Ror2, respectively<sup>52,29</sup> (Figure 12 A-F). Ror2-Src interaction has been described to be necessary for Ror2 phosphorylation<sup>52,83</sup>.

Interestingly, Dvl2 is not necessary for Wnt-STAT3 activation. In fact, Fz/Fyn interaction is incompatible with Dvl2 recruitment to Fz, which defines two distinct and antagonistic branches of Wnt signaling<sup>44,81</sup>. In this sense, previous results have suggested that Src inhibits canonical Wnt signaling by phosphorylating LRP5/6<sup>29</sup>, but this inhibition could also be due to a Fz Tyr552 phosphorylation that induces Fyn activation and blocks the Dvl2-dependent branch<sup>44</sup>.

Besides, p120-catenin and CK1ɛ, which are required for the activation of both canonical and noncanonical pathways, are not necessary for the canonical Wnt-STAT3 axis, while they are in the noncanonical. This suggests that receptor polymerization and signalosome formation is not required for the canonical activation of the Wnt-STAT3 axis, although it is for the non-canonical<sup>81</sup>. CK1ɛ and p120-catenin play an essential role maintaining Ror2 levels and localization<sup>53</sup>, respectively. Thus, as Ror2 is necessary for the non-canonical activation of the Wnt-STAT3 axis, these two factors are also required.



**Figure 12: Canonical and non-canonical Wnt-STAT3 axis.** Representation of the events in the activation of the Wnt-STAT3 axis. In the canonical pathway, Src is associated to LRP5/6 and is inactive in the absence of Wnt (A). Upon Wnt activation, Src is phosphorylated, promoting Fz Tyr552 phosphorylation (B). then, Fyn is recruited to Fz and STAT3 is activated (C). in the non-canonical, Src is also associated to Ror2 (D). Upon activation, Src phosphorylation also induces Fz Tyr552 phosphorylation (E) leading to Fyn recruitment and STAT3 activation (F). Adapted from [81].

## 5.1. Targets of the Wnt-STAT3 axis

Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling promotes the expression of several target genes needed for the Wnt-regulated processes during development and tissue homeostasis, but also during

tumorigenesis and metastasis<sup>78,79,10</sup>. These target genes are specifically activated by common or non-common signals between canonical and non-canonical pathway.

As explained before, STAT3 can be stimulated by canonical and non-canonical Wnts and through this activation, the expression of its target genes is induced. In a recent work of our group, a subset of genes related to EMT that were activated by both, canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways, was found. As an example, Mmp7, Thbs1, CyclinD1 and Snail1. Interestingly, these genes were sensitive to Fyn depletion. This indicates that STAT3 activation is required for the expression of those EMT-related genes that are regulated by both, canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways<sup>81</sup>.

STAT3 has also been related with the expression of other important genes of the non-canonical Wnt pathway. For instance, Wnt5a has been described as a target gene of STAT3 in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia<sup>84</sup>. Moreover, STAT3 is also implicated in the gene regulation of DUB3, which is an key enzyme that regulates Snail1 protein stability<sup>85,86</sup>.

### 5.2. Targets of the Wnt-JNK2 axis

In the canonical Wnt pathway, Fyn not only controls the expression of several target genes through the Wnt-STAT3 axis<sup>81</sup>, it is also necessary for a full  $\beta$ -catenin gene transcription activation<sup>40</sup>. Fyn phosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin in Tyr142 residue that mobilizes it from the adherent junctions allowing its nuclear translocation<sup>38,40</sup>. However, there are still some canonical Wnt target genes that do not depend on Fyn activation and just depend on the classical Wnt3a-Dvl2 axis, such as Axin2<sup>81</sup>.

For the non-canonical Wnt pathway, there are target genes that are specific for the Wnt5a-Dvl2 axis. For instance, Siah2 and Mmp13 are activated by Wnt5a and do not depend on Fyn<sup>78,81</sup>.

Interestingly, in general, those genes that are commonly activated by canonical and non-canonical Whts are regulated through STAT3 and are related to EMT, while those genes that are only activated specifically just by canonical or non-canonical Whts are not regulated through STAT3, those are regulated through Dvl<sup>81</sup>. However, Snail1 is not following this rule. Snail1 expression is induced by both canonical and non-canonical Whts and it is regulated by both axis, STAT3 and Dvl<sup>81,87,88</sup>.
## 6. The epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT)

The Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) is a reversible process in which cells lose the epithelial phenotype and acquire mesenchymal characteristics. On the other hand, Mesenchymal to Epithelial Transition (MET) is the opposite process through which mesenchymal cells become epithelial<sup>89</sup> (Figure 13).

Epithelial cells establish close contacts and present an apicobasal cell polarity through the formation of adherent junctions, desmosomes and tight junctions. This epithelial cell layer is separated from adjacent tissues by a basal lamina, acts as a barrier and has the capacity to mediate absorption. In contrast, mesenchymal cells organize in three-dimensional extracellular matrix and form the connective tissues adjacent to epithelia. EMT is an essential process during embryonic development<sup>90</sup>.

During EMT, epithelial cells lose cell-cell contacts, including adherent junctions and desmosomes, modulate their cell polarity and reorganize their cytoskeleton by the expression of vimentin. Cells that have undergone EMT become isolated, resistant to apoptosis and acquire migratory and invasive properties<sup>91</sup> (Figure 13).



**Figure 13: Markers of the Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition.** Representation of the EMT process and the principal markers of the epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes. The main EMT drivers are also represented. Adapted from [89].

EMT plays a key role in regulating several of the hallmarks of cancer<sup>92</sup>. Besides its role in activating invasion and driving cancer metastasis, it is also involved in cell metabolism reprogramming, suppression of immune response, controlling telomere integrity and the acquisition of stem cell characteristics<sup>93,94,95,96</sup>. Therefore, EMT plays a central role in cancer regulation and progression.

EMT has been deeply studied allowing the characterization of several pathways that involve growth and differentiation factors, such as EGF, FGF, TGF- $\beta$  and the Wnt pathway, and also transcriptional factors as Snail-family, Twist, Zeb and E47<sup>89,91</sup> (Figure 13).

## 6.1. EMT in cancer

EMT is a crucial process for the embryonic development and also in a physiological response to injury, but it has a high impact in pathological conditions such as fibrosis and cancer<sup>97</sup>. Mechanistically, signaling pathways and regulators participating in physiological EMT are similar to the ones orchestrating pathological EMT<sup>90</sup>.

The relevance of EMT during cancer progression has been a matter of debate since many years because, although EMT processes have been observed in cancer in *in vitro* cancer cell models, convincing evidences of EMT in clinical samples are still lacking<sup>90</sup>. One explanation could be the difficulty to distinguish between cancer cells that have undergone EMT and cells from the tumor microenvironment or stroma, due to the similarity and the shared markers<sup>98</sup>.

Interestingly, small aggregates of tumor cells have been found detaching from the tumor mass into the adjacent stroma providing evidences of EMT at the invasive fronts of human tumors<sup>99</sup>. In a similar way, EMT occurs at the invasive front producing single migratory cells that have lost E-Cadherin expression in colon carcinoma<sup>100</sup>.

EMT and activation of stromal fibroblast, or cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), have been very related to Snail1 expression in both, tumor cells and fibroblasts<sup>101</sup>. A part from sustaining tumor growth, CAFs have also a very important role in metastasis<sup>101</sup>. It has been proposed that activated fibroblasts can induce tumor metastasis by physical interactions between them and tumor cells. This study claims that fibroblasts physically pull the tumor cells promoting invasion and metastasis<sup>102</sup>. CAFs have been also described to have an important role in Extracellular Matrix (ECM) remodeling<sup>103</sup>. ECM remodeling by CAFs has been proved to be an Snail1-dependent property and it has been related metastasis<sup>104,105</sup>.

EMT has also been related to the acquisition of better chemoresistance properties<sup>106</sup>. Indeed, expression of Snail1 has been related to greater resistance to different drugs<sup>107,108</sup>. For instance, it has been proposed that Snail1 is stabilized upon DNA damage due to the downregulation of its ubiquitin ligase FBXL5<sup>109</sup>. This stabilization leads to Akt2 activation and association with Snail1<sup>110,111</sup>, which enhances Akt activity on T45 in histone H3 that is associated with transcription termination after DNA damage<sup>112</sup>. Thus, Snail1 might confer resistance to DNA damaging agents through an association with Akt2.

Moreover, Snail1 knock-down treatments stopped tumor metastasis in melanoma<sup>113</sup> and sensitized tumor cells to cisplatin in lung adenocarcinoma, head and neck squamous and ovarian cancers<sup>114,115,116</sup>.

#### 6.2. EMT markers

As previously explained, during EMT, epithelial cells acquire a mesenchymal phenotype by losing cell-cell contacts due to a general repression of epithelial genes and an upregulation of mesenchymal genes. Among the epithelial genes that are repressed, the more representative are the occludins or the tight junctions<sup>117</sup>, desmoplakins that are part of the desmosomes<sup>118</sup>, and E-Cadherin, which is essential in the adherens junctions and is considered as the main epithelial marker. Therefore, loss of E-Cadherin is the principal feature of EMT<sup>91</sup>.

#### 6.2.1. EMT and E-Cadherin repression

E-Cadherin is considered the principal epithelial gene and its regulation drives EMT. Loss of this factor is associated to higher invasion and metastasis capacities<sup>119</sup>, while its expression in tumor cells induces an epithelial phenotype and decreases migration<sup>120</sup>. Moreover, E-Cadherin ectopic expression reduces mesenchymal gene expression<sup>121</sup>.

Several transcription repressors that are expressed in mesenchymal cells mediate E-Cadherin repression. These transcriptional factors bind to specific sequences in the CDH1 promoter containing a central region called E-boxes<sup>91</sup>. Snail family of transcriptional repressors, comprised mainly by Snail1 and Snail2, is one of the CDH1 gene repressors<sup>122,123</sup>.

Furthermore, other EMT transcriptional repressors have been identified, such as the Zeb family, consisting in Zeb1 and Zeb2<sup>124,125</sup>, the Twist family, where Twist1 and Twist2 are the most described<sup>126,127</sup> (Figure 13), and LEF1, which expression is regulated by the canonical Wnt

pathway<sup>128</sup>. Although all these transcriptional factors act as E-Cadherin repressors, only Twist is described to bind to E-boxes<sup>129</sup>.

## 6.2.2. Mesenchymal gene expression

Besides the repression of epithelial genes, during EMT, mesenchymal genes are upregulated<sup>90</sup>. For instance, the upregulation of non-epithelial cadherins, such as N-Cadherin, replaces the loss of E-Cadherin. N-Cadherin expression is related with motility and invasive capacities<sup>130,131</sup>.

Fibronectin (FN1) is another mesenchymal marker upregulated during EMT. FN1 is a dimeric extracellular protein that acts as a scaffold for the extracellular matrix (ECM). It is one of the main proteins in the ECM and has a key role in ECM remodeling<sup>132</sup>.

Matrix metalloproteases (Mmp) are also involved in EMT and are upregulated in this process. These proteins degrade and modify the ECM and cell-cell contacts, forcing detachment of epithelial cells from the surrounding environment<sup>133</sup>. Moreover, other genes, such as vimentin, FSP1 or  $\alpha$ -SMA are typical mesenchymal markers upregulated during EMT and their expression induces the acquirement of invasive properties<sup>134</sup>.

However, the most important gene for this project that is upregulated during EMT is Snail1. Snail1 is considered the major driver of EMT<sup>91</sup> since it is upregulated during EMT and has a strong capability to repress E-Cadherin.

## 6.3. Wnt signaling and EMT

Wnt signaling has been historically related to EMT<sup>135</sup>. When the canonical Wnt pathway is triggered,  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity is fully activated and promotes the expression of its target genes, such as Snail1<sup>136</sup>. Moreover, as previously explained, the canonical Wnt-STAT3 axis also induces Snail1 upregulation and the expression of mesenchymal markers such as Mmp7 and THBS1<sup>81,137</sup>.

Besides  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity, canonical Wnt induction indirectly promotes EMT through GSK3 inactivation. Snail1 is phosphorylated by GSK3 and this phosphorylation induces its degradation. Therefore, GSK3 inactivation induced in the canonical Wnt pathway, directly increases Snail1<sup>138</sup>.

In a recent study it has been observed that p120-catenin, a key element in both canonical and noncanonical Wnt pathways, negatively regulates EMT by preventing an excessive canonical Wnt pathway activation<sup>139</sup>.

Non-canonical Wnt signaling has also been related to EMT, although less than the canonical. The regulation of several Mmp by the non-canonical Wnt has been described, as well as other mesenchymal markers. For instance, Mmp2, Mmp7, Mmp9 and Mmp13 expression is induced by Wnt5a<sup>78,81,140</sup>. Snail1 upregulation by Wnt5a has been observed as well<sup>79,81</sup>.

A crosstalk between non-canonical Wnt pathway and TGF- $\beta$  pathway has been described. This study shows that Wnt11 promotes Fz8 activation, which then forms a complex with TGF- $\beta$  receptors. This activation leads to migration, invasion and ATF2-dependent gene transcription and expression of EMT-related markers, N-Cadherin, Twist1, Zeb1 and Snail1<sup>141</sup>.

## 7. Snail1 transcription factor

As previously mentioned, Snail family of transcription factors includes Snail1, Snail2 or Slug and a third less studied member, Snail3 or smug. Among these, Snail1 has been considered the main member of the family since its expression has been observed preceding the other EMT transcription factors (EMT-TF) and its ectopic expression induces other EMT-TF<sup>101</sup>. For this reason, Snail1 has been considered as a key marker of EMT<sup>107</sup>.

Moreover, a part from inducing EMT in epithelial cells, Snail1 is also essential for fibroblasts activation<sup>101</sup>, which have a crucial role in tumor invasion and metastasis<sup>142</sup>.

## 7.1. Snail1 structure and function

Snail1 protein contains two different domains: the N-terminal part or regulatory domain and the Cterminal portion, which is de DNA-binding domain<sup>122</sup>. The regulatory domain comprises the SNAG domain, which is a short sequence relevant for the binding of co-repressors and plays a significant role in the repression function. Moreover, the serine-rich domain (SRD) and the nuclear export sequence (NES) are also localized in the regulatory domain<sup>143</sup>. These last two regions contain most of the Snail1 post-translational modifications that determine Snail1 localization or stabilization<sup>107</sup>. The DNA-binding domain comprises four Zinc finger regions (ZnF) of the C2H2 type<sup>144</sup> (Figure 14).

## 7.1.1. Snail1 repression function

Snail1 contains four ZnF domains of the C2H2 type in the C-terminal part. These domains are the responsible of E-Cadherin direct repression through the binding to tandem repeated E-boxes in the CHD1 promoter<sup>145</sup>.

Besides its function, the ZnF domains also determine Snail1 nuclear localization due to the nuclear location signal (NLS) present there<sup>144</sup>. Several modifications in this region have been described. Phosphorylation by Lats2 and PAK1 induces Snail1 nuclear retention, which enhances its repressor function<sup>146,147</sup> (Figure 14).

## 7.1.2. Snail1 binding to co-repressors and transcriptional factors

Snail1 transcriptional function requires the interaction with other factors. These complex may differentially lead to Snail1 function as repressor or transcriptional activator of mesenchymal genes<sup>148</sup>.

Through the SNAG domain, Snail1 binds to different co-repressors that have been associated with E-Cadherin repression<sup>107</sup> (Figure 14). Histone deacetylase (HDAC) complex Sin3a/HDAC1/HDAC2 associates with Snail1 through its SNAG domain<sup>149</sup>. Together with HCADs, it has been also described that Ajuba and FHL2, both containing LIM domains, also interact with Snail1 in the SNAG domain and promote E-Cadherin repression<sup>150,151</sup>. Ajuba mediates the interaction of Snail1 with the protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PMRT5), a histone modifier that cooperates with E-Cadherin repression by transferring methyl groups to the CDH1 promoter<sup>152</sup>. Remarkably, Snail1 S11 phosphorylation by PKD1 blocks Ajuba binding, preventing Snail1 repression functions<sup>153</sup>.

Another repressive regulator that binds to the Snail1 SNAG domain is the Polycomb complex 2 (PRC2), which also contributes to E-Cadherin repression<sup>154</sup>. In addition, through the SNAG domain, Snail1 binds to Lysyl oxidase-like 2 (LOXL2)<sup>155</sup>. LOXL2 oxidizes and demethylates K4 in histone 3, thus participating in Snali1-induced gene repression<sup>156</sup>.

However, Snail1 not only acts as a transcriptional repressor, it activates transcription as well. For instance, during TGF- $\beta$ -induced EMT, Snail1 interacts with the promoter of the mesenchymal gene FN1, activating its transcription<sup>148</sup>. In this case, activation is induced by



**Figure 14: Snail1 protein structure and post-translational modifications controlling its function.** The figure shows a representation of the different domains of Snail1. The modifications are depicted in green or red depending if they activate or inhibit Snail1, respectively. (Ub): Ubiquitination, (P): Phosphorylation, (Ac): Acetylation, (NAcGlc): Glycosylation and (Su); Sumoylation. Adapted from [107].

Snail1 association with the NF $\kappa$ B and PARP1 complex<sup>148</sup>. Snail1 interaction with  $\beta$ -catenin has also been described and stimulates  $\beta$ -catenin -induced transcription<sup>157</sup>. This interaction is not mediated by the SNAG domain<sup>157</sup>. Moreover, Snail1 induces transcriptional activation of Mmp9 and Zeb1 by direct binding to their promoters<sup>158</sup>.

### 7.2. Snail1 target genes

Although the main function of Snail1 is the E-Cadherin repression, other targets have been identified. Besides repressing E-Cadherin, Snail1 also repress other epithelial markers, such as occludins, claudins or mucins, and upregulates mesenchymal markers. Snail1 also upregulates the expression of other co-repressors, to complete the EMT program<sup>159</sup>.

Occludins and claudins are membrane proteins that are essential components of tight junctions<sup>160,161</sup>. Claudins expression has been inversely correlated with Snail1 in invasive breast tumors<sup>162</sup>. Snail1 has been described as a direct repressor of occludins and claudins, as E-box regions have been found in their promoters<sup>163</sup>. Mucin-1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed at the apical membrane of epithelial cells. Interestingly, Mucin-1 is upregulated in some epithelial tumors<sup>164</sup>. However, two E-boxes have been found in the mucin-1 promoter, proving Snail1 direct repression<sup>124</sup>.

Fibronectin and vimentin are mesenchymals markers and both are upregulated during EMT. As previously mentioned, Snail1 upregulates FN1 and vimentin during EMT<sup>123</sup>. The exact mechanism is not well understood yet. One possibility for FN1 is that upon E-Cadherin repression, the transcription factor NFKB becomes active and then is capable to induce FN1 upregulation<sup>121</sup>. Zeb1, like Snail1, is a zinc-finger transcription factor activated in EMT that also represses E-Cadherin and mucin-1, although less potent than Snail1<sup>124,165</sup>. It has been described that Snail1 cooperates with Twist1 in the regulation of Zeb1 during EMT<sup>126</sup>. Matrix metalloproteases (Mmps) have also an important during EMT and it has been shown that Snail1 expression increases the levels of Mmp2 and Mmp9<sup>166,167</sup>.

Importantly, Snail1 has been demonstrated to regulate its own expression. This effect occurs due to the presence of an E-box in its promoter and through the direct binding of Snail1 to it<sup>168</sup>. Snail1 self-inhibition prevents aberrant activation of EMT and controls undesired effects<sup>107</sup>.

43

#### 7.3. Control of Snail expression, protein stability and gene transcription

Snail1 expression is highly controlled at different levels. *SNAl1* gene transcription is regulated by different transcription factors induced by several growth factors or cellular proteins, such as the TGF- $\beta$  pathway, some cytokines, NF $\kappa$ B or the Wnt pathway. The stability of Snail1 mRNA is also controlled by some micro-RNAs and translation of Snail1 protein is regulated by some factors as well. Finally, the stability of Snail1 protein is highly controlled by E3 ubiquitin ligases and deubiquitinating enzymes, which promote Snail1 degradation and stabilization, respectively<sup>107</sup>.

### 7.3.1. Regulation of protein stability

Snail1 is a short-lived protein with a half-life of about 25 minutes and it is highly regulated in epithelial cells<sup>169</sup>. In normal conditions, Snail1 is rapidly ubiquitinated and degraded by the proteasome<sup>170</sup>. Several E3 ubiquitin ligases of the multimeric SCF subtype have been described to participate in Snail1 ubiquitination, which suggests a highly redundant mechanism to maintain Snail1 protein levels low in non-pathological conditions<sup>107</sup> (Figure 15).

The SCF subtype of E3 ubiquitin ligases is a complex composed by a Skp1, Cullin1 and F-box, being this last protein the one that contributes to the substate specificity<sup>170</sup>. Recognition of Snail1 by the F-box module is normally associated with Snail1 phosphorylation, although it is not always a requisite<sup>107</sup> (Figure 14).

FBXW1 or  $\beta$ -TrCP1 recognize the Snail1 phosphorylated by GSK3  $\beta$  in the SRD domain, curiously in a sequence also present in  $\beta$ -catenin <sup>171,172</sup>. In addition, GSK3 $\beta$  phosphorylation needs a previous phosphorylation of Snail1 in the S92 residue by CK1 $\epsilon$  or CK2 $\beta$ <sup>173,174</sup> (Figure 14 and Figure 15).

However, it has been demonstrated that in many cells Snail1 degradation occurs independently of GSK3β, which implies that other E3 ubiquitin ligases may participate in this process<sup>107</sup>.

FBXL14, another member of the SCF family, has been identified as phosphorylation-independent Snail1 E3 ubiquitin ligase<sup>175</sup>. Moreover, FBXL14 action has also been detected in other EMT transcription factors, such as Snail2, Twist1 and Zeb2<sup>176</sup>. In hypoxia conditions, FBXL14 expression is repressed, thus stabilizing Snail1<sup>175</sup> (Figure 14 and Figure 15).

FBXL5 has also been identified as a Snail1 E3 ubiquitin ligase. In particular, FBXL5 is a nuclear E3 ligase that binds to Snail1 C-terminal lysines<sup>109</sup> (Figure 14 and Figure 15). In this study, after blocking Snail1 nuclear export, FBXL5-mediated Snail1 degradation was inhibited, which suggests that Snail1 degradation occurs mainly in the cytosol<sup>107,109</sup>.

44

Some of these FBX proteins controlling Snail1 stability are regulated by micro-RNAs. FBXL14 and FBXL5 are negatively regulated by miR-17/20a and miR-1306-3p, respectively. Therefore, the expression of these micro-RNAs induces Snail1 stabilization<sup>177,178</sup>.

As Snail1 degradation is closely linked with its phosphorylation in specific residues, Snail1 dephosphorylation by specific phosphatases leads to Snail stabilization<sup>170</sup>. Snail1 stabilization has been observed due to dephosphorylation in the C-terminal domain by small phosphatases<sup>179</sup> and by poly-ubiquitinated PTEN<sup>180</sup>. Despite that, there are other kinases that phosphorylate Snail1 promoting its stabilization<sup>107</sup>. For instance, ATM phosphorylates Snail1 in the Ser100 residue inducing Snail1 stabilization<sup>181</sup> (Figure 14).



**Figure 15: Snail1 protein stability regulation by E3 ubiquitin ligases and DUBs.** Snail1 protein degradation is promoted by specific E3 ubiquitin ligases, such as β-TrCP1, FBXL14, FBXL5, Fbxo11 and Fbxo45 that induce Snail1 ubiquitination and subsequent degradation in the proteasome. In contrast, deubiquitinating enzymes or DUBs induce the opposite effect; DUBs eliminate the ubiquitin residues promoting Snail1 stabilization. Adapted from [182].

As mentioned before, other kinases that stabilize Snail1 are Lats2 and PAK1 that phosphorylate Snail1 in the C-terminal domain in the T203 and S246, respectively<sup>146,147</sup> (Figure 14). It has been described that in stress conditions, induced by gamma-irradiation or DNA damage, PAK1 and ATM phosphorylate Snail1 promoting its stabilization<sup>147,181</sup>.

As explained above, Snail1 degradation requires ubiquitination and phosphorylation can prevent this process. In addition to this, ubiquitination can be reverted by the action of deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs), which eliminate the ubiquitin residues in the Snail1 protein and, therefore, promote its stabilization<sup>183</sup>. Snail1 deubiquitination has been reported by several DUBs<sup>107</sup>, being DUB3, UPS27X and USP37 the most relevant<sup>184,108,185,186</sup> (Figure 15). DUB3 and USP27X are induced by IL-6<sup>86</sup> and TGF- $\beta^{108}$ , respectively, which are important modulators of EMT and suggest an important role for these DUBs during EMT. Moreover, DUB3 induction by IL-6 is thought to work through STAT3 activation, which is also important in regulating Snail1<sup>85</sup>.

## 7.3.2. Snail1 transcription regulation

*SNAI1* transcription regulation is another important level of Snail1 expression control. Since Snail1 is rapidly degraded, besides an increase in protein stability, upregulation of SNAI1 transcription is also necessary to observe changes in Snail1 expression. Some extracellular growth factors and cellular proteins have been related to Snail1. However, there are not so many extracellular factors that modulate Snail1 expression in tumors.

For instance, in humans, it was first described that *SNAI1* gene transcription is controlled by TGF- $\beta$  and canonical Smads, thus TGF- $\beta$  treatment induces *SNAI1* transcription<sup>107</sup>. However, most tumor cells do not respond to TGF- $\beta$  and many of them are insensitive to it.

NFκB pathway also promotes *SNAI1* transcription, by directly binding the p50 and p65 subunits to the *SNAI1* promoter<sup>187</sup>. In a similar way, Akt also increases *SNAI1* transcription by activating NFκB and Smad3<sup>188,189</sup>.

Remarkably, Wnt signaling effectors have been described to control *SNAI1* transcription. ERK or JNK participate in *SNAI1* regulation, since AP-1 sites are present in the *SNAI1* promoter<sup>187,87</sup>. In addition, STAT3 is another transcriptional factor that has been reported as a potent *SNAI1* activator. For instance, in cisplatin-resistant atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor cells, STAT3 was bound to *SNAI1* promoter region<sup>88</sup>. These findings corroborate data of our group that show that Snail1 is upregulated by both canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways<sup>81</sup>.

Finally, as mentioned before, Snail1 itself binds to the *SNAl1* promoter and inhibits its own transcription to avoid excessive EMT activation<sup>168</sup>.

## 7.4. Snail1 expression in tumors

Snail1 expression occurs in many types of tumors. Snail1 role in EMT has been widely described and its overexpression correlates with increased migration, invasion and metastasis. Therefore, Snail1 expression in tumors has been associated to bad prognosis in many cancers<sup>159</sup>.

However, Snail1 function is not restricted to tumor cells, but also to the stromal cells, mainly in CAFs<sup>101</sup>. The relevance of Snail1 in stromal cells was first determined when it was detected in the front of an invasive tumor, which leaded to think that Snail is important for stromal activation<sup>190</sup>.

CAF activation is mainly induced by the TGF- $\beta$  pathway and the activation is mediated by Snail1<sup>191</sup>. In CAFs, Snail1 induction by TGF- $\beta$ , promotes the secretion of prostaglandin E2, which enhances the invasive and metastatic capacities of tumor epithelial cells, establishing a cross-talk between

stromal and cancer cells<sup>192</sup>. Moreover, Snail1 of the stromal cells regulates ECM remodeling facilitating tumor invasion<sup>103</sup>.

Snail1 expression has also been detected in endothelial cells and it is required for tubulogenesis and neoangionesis<sup>193</sup>. Moreover, it has been proposed that Snail1 is necessary for TGF- $\beta$ -induced endothelial to mesenchymal transition (EndMT)<sup>194</sup>.

Although Snail1 expression in other types of stromal cells, such as immune system cells (macrophages or T lymphocytes), is still unknown, it has been proposed that Snail1-expressing cancer cells can modulate the immune response against the tumor<sup>89</sup>. For instance, in melanoma cells, Snail1 expression induced the formation of Treg lymphocytes and also decreased the antigen-presenting capacities of dendritic cells<sup>113</sup>. In addition, Snail1 expressed in tumor cells modulates the secretome of these cells and produces macrophage polarization towards a M2 phenotype, which has been associated to a more protumorigenic role<sup>195</sup>.

## OBJECTIVES

## Objectives

Since Snail1 expression can be induced by canonical and non-canonical Wnts in fibroblasts, we wondered how Snail1 is controlled in tumor cells. So, the main objective of this thesis is to study the contribution of canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways in controlling Snail1 expression in colon tumor cells and its role in tumor progression.

RESULTS

## 1. Ror2 is required for Snail1 expression in tumor cells

We centered this study in the regulation of Snail1 expression in tumors. It is known that Snail1 expression can be induced by several extracellular growth factors, such as TGF- $\beta^{107}$  and Wnt ligands<sup>81</sup>. However, it is not clear that these factors can regulate Snail1 expression in human colorectal tumors. For this reason, since we have previously observed that canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways activate Snail1 expression in non-tumoral cells, we focused on studying how Wnt factors regulate Snail1.

## 1.1. Wnt and not TGF- $\beta$ controls Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cells

TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway has been described to control the expression of Snail1<sup>107</sup>. For instance, it is known that TGF- $\beta$  treatment induces Snail1 expression in breast tumor cells and fibroblasts<sup>108,191</sup>. However, some elements of the TGF- $\beta$  pathway machinery have been found mutated in human colorectal cancer<sup>196</sup>. Mutations in the TGF- $\beta$  receptor have been found in human colorectal cancer samples<sup>197</sup>. Moreover, the SMAD family of proteins, which are the intracellular transducers of the TGF- $\beta$  signaling, are also mutated or inactivated in many colorectal tumors<sup>198</sup>, being the SMAD4 protein the one found mutated with higher frequency<sup>199,200</sup>.

In order to study if TGF- $\beta$  signaling controls Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cells, we analyzed the levels of Snail1 in SW620 and HCT116 cell lines treated with the TGF- $\beta$  receptor inhibitor (SB505124). As shown in Figure 16, the basal levels of Snail1 are not affected by the inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  receptor, although SMAD2 phosphorylation is impaired at 5  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M (Figure 16). This effect suggests that TFG- $\beta$  signaling is not controlling Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cells.

As mentioned in the introduction, canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways regulate Snail1 expression through JNK2 and STAT3<sup>81,87</sup>. We wondered if Wnt signaling could also be regulating Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cell lines.



**Figure 16:** Inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  receptor does not affect Snail1 expression in colorectal cancer cell lines. Colorectal cancer cells SW620 and HCT116 were treated for 24h with the inhibitor of TGF- $\beta$  receptor, SB505124, at the indicated concentrations. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

To study whether Wnt signaling regulates Snail1, we treated SW620 and HCT116 cells with LGK-974 inhibitor, which targets the Porcupine protein<sup>17</sup>. Porcupine is a key protein in the secretion and the activity of Wnt ligands<sup>201</sup> and its inhibition has been probed to impair Wnt signaling<sup>16</sup>. Inhibition of Wnt secretion by LGK decreased the expression of Snail1 in SW620 and HCT116 cells (Figure 17). To check that LGK is indeed blocking Wnt signaling, we confirmed that the phosphorylation of STAT3 is also affected. These results confirm that the basal expression of Snail1 is controlled by Wnt signaling and not by TGF- $\beta$  signaling in colorectal cancer cells.



**Figure 17: Inhibition of Wnt secretion decreases the expression of Snail1 in colorectal cancer cells.** Colorectal cancer cells SW620 and HCT116 were treated for 24 h with the LGK-974 inhibitor at the indicated concentrations. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

Results

# 1.2. Ror2 correlates with Snail1 expression in colorectal tumors and colorectal tumor cell lines

Wnt signaling has been historically divided in canonical and non-canonical pathways depending on the capacity to promote  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity<sup>44</sup>. Although this established classification, both pathways share common elements in the signaling cascade, such as the Fz receptor, Dvl recruitment to Fz, p120-catenin or CK1 $\epsilon^{41,53}$  and the activation of JNK2 and STAT3<sup>81,53</sup>, but differ in the co-receptor used to activate the pathway<sup>20</sup>.

Since we have observed in Figure 17 that Wnt signaling controls the expression of Snail1 in colorectal cancer cells, we decided to compare whether the expression of the canonical and noncanonical Wnt co-receptors, LRP5/6 and Ror2 respectively, correlates with Snail1 expression in human colorectal tumors. As explained in the introduction, two other co-receptors of the noncanonical Wnt pathway have been described, Ror1 and Ryk<sup>24</sup>, but we centered the study in Ror2 because in our group we have previously described its importance in the activation of the noncanonical pathway<sup>81,53</sup>. We searched for colorectal cancer studies in the cancer database cBioPortal<sup>202,203</sup> and we used the TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Firehose Legacy database. This tool allowed us to analyze the mRNA expression of Snail1 and Wnt co-receptors in tumors.





As shown in the graphs in Figure 18, the expression of Snail1 positively correlates with Ror2 in human colorectal adenocarcinoma samples. For the canonical co-receptors, the correlation between Snail1 and LRP5 is negative and for LRP6, although the correlation is still positive, there is

Results

less correlation compared to Ror2. These results suggested that in colorectal cancer the noncanonical Wnt seems to be more involved in the control of Snail1 expression.

The correlation between Snail1 and Ror2 was also analyzed in eight different colorectal cancer cell lines (SW480, SW620, HCT116, HT29 M6, LS174, Caco2, DLD1 and LoVo). Consistent with the human colorectal tumor data, we found a general correlation between the protein levels of Snail1 and Ror2 (Figure 19). Those cell lines with higher Ror2 expression also showed higher levels of Snail1, while there is no correlation between Snail1 with the canonical co-receptors LRP5/6 nor with the other non-canonical co-receptor Ror1.



Figure 19: Snail1 protein levels correlate with Ror2 in colorectal cancer cell lines. Cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

This correlation was confirmed at mRNA levels (Figure 20). The mRNA expression of Ror2 and the other non-canonical co-receptors, Ror1 and Ryk, was analyzed from the colorectal tumor cell lines and compared with Snail1 mRNA expression. As observed in Figure 20, there is a general correlation between Ror2 mRNA levels and Snail1 (Figure 20 A and D), while no correlation was observed with Ror1 or Ryk, that are highly expressed in HT29 M6 cells (Figure 20 B, C and D).

Together, these results confirm that the expression of the non-canonical Wnt co-receptor Ror2 correlates with the expression of Snail1 in colorectal tumor cells. Therefore, the non-canonical Wnt pathway regulates the expression of Snail1 in colorectal cancer.



**Figure 20: Ror2 and Snail1 mRNA levels correlate in colorectal tumor cell lines**. mRNA was isolated from the colorectal cancer cell lines. A) *ROR2*, B) *ROR1*, C) *RYK* and D) *SNAI1* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to the SW620 mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented  $\pm$  SD.

## 1.3. Frizzled2 receptor correlates with Snail1 expression

A part from Ror2, the receptor Frizzled (Fz) is also required for the activation of the non-canonical pathway<sup>53,20</sup>. We centered in Fz2 because it has been reported that the non-canonical Wnt pathway regulates EMT through Fz2<sup>79</sup>. We have also studied the expression of Fz2 in colorectal tumors from the TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Firehose Legacy on cBioPortal<sup>202,203</sup> database and compare it with Snail1 expression. As observed in the data from cBioPortal, the mRNA expression of Fz2 positively correlates with the expression of Snail1 (Figure 21).



Figure 21: *SNAI1* mRNA expression correlates with *FZD2* in colorectal cancer patients. The correlation between the RNA expression (log RNA seq V2 RSEM) from *SNAI1*, and *FZD2* is represented. Data was obtained from the TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Firehose Legacy database and analyzed in the cBioPortal.

The protein levels of Fz2 were also analyzed in colorectal tumor cell lines and compared with Snail levels. In accordance with the human tumor database, Fz2 protein levels correlated with Snail1 protein levels (Figure 22 A-B). As shown in Figure 22 A, Fz2 expression is higher in those cell lines with also higher expression of Ror2. As expected, those cell lines with higher expression of Ror2 and Fz2 expressed higher levels of Snail1.



**Figure 22: Fz2 protein levels correlate with Snail1 in colorectal cancer cell lines.** A) Colon and breast cell lines were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the specific antibodies. B) Correlation between Fz2 and Snail1 protein levels. Protein quantification from A.

## 1.4. Ror2 knock-down decreases Snail1 expression

To better understand how Ror2 controls the activation of the non-canonical pathway and the expression of Snail1, we decided to knock-down Ror2 from the SW620 and HCT116 cell lines, which expressed higher levels of Ror2. Thus, we carried out a stable knock-down of Ror2 in these cell lines. We achieved a very good efficiency in Ror2 depletion in both cell lines and, as shown in Figure 23, the levels of Ror2 were strongly decreased, both at protein and at mRNA levels.



**Figure 23: Ror2 knock-down decreases Snail1 protein levels.** A-B) SW620 and HCT116 control and knock-down for Ror2 were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies. C) mRNA was isolated from the control and Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells. *ROR2* and *SNAI1* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to control cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

As expected, when the non-canonical Wnt pathway was abrogated due to the decrease in Ror2 expression, Snail1 expression also decreased. The decrease in Snail1 expression was detected both at protein and mRNA levels (Figure 23). Together, these results support the idea that Ror2 controls the expression of Snail1 in colorectal tumors.

## 1.5. Ror1 and Ryk co-receptors are not affected by Ror2 depletion

As mentioned above, there are other co-receptors, Ror1 and Ryk, that can also activate the noncanonical Wnt pathway<sup>24</sup>. Although the expression of both co-receptors in SW620 and HCT116 cell lines is low (Figure 21; compared to HT29 M6 cells), we checked whether the knock-down of Ror2 in these cell lines affects the expression of Ror1 or Ryk.

We analyzed the mRNA expression of Ror1 and Ryk in the Ror2 depleted cells and no changes were observed (Figure 24). This result confirms that Ror2 depletion is not affecting the expression of the other two non-canonical Wnt co-receptors.



**Figure 24:** *ROR1* and *RYK* expression is not affected by Ror2 depletion. mRNA was isolated from the control and Ror2depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells. *ROR1* and *RYK* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to control cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

## 1.6. Ror2 depletion affects JNK2 and STAT3 basal phosphorylation

As previously described, the non-canonical Wnt pathway activates different branches. Among these, the ones promoting JNK2 and STAT3 phosphorylation upon Wnt5a stimulation are the most representative and studied in our group<sup>81,53</sup>. Thus, we analyzed the basal phosphorylation levels by WB.

As expected, the basal levels of JNK2 and STAT3 phosphorylation were decreased in the SW620 and HCT116 Ror2 knock-down cells, whereas their total levels did not change (Figure 25), as a consequence of a less capacity to activate the pathway due to Ror2 depletion. This result, with the concomitant Snail1 down-regulation, confirms the idea that Ror2 is the co-receptor controlling the activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway in colorectal tumor cells.



Figure 25: Ror2 knock-down decreases JNK2 and STAT3 basal phosphorylation. A) SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knock-down cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the specific antibodies. B) Quantification of phosphorylated JNK2 and STAT3 levels. Mean  $\pm$  SD of three different experiments is represented.

## 1.7. The expression of non-canonical Wnt target genes decreases in Ror2-depleted cells

Activation of canonical or non-canonical Wnt signaling, promotes the expression of several target genes that are essential during embryonic development and tissue homeostasis, but also during cancer progression and metastasis<sup>81,79</sup>. In order to determine the relevance of Ror2 in the expression of the non-canonical Wnt target genes, several of these genes were analyzed in the SW620 and HCT116 Ror2 knock-down cells. In addition, the expression of canonical Wnt target genes was also assessed.

Siah2, Mmp9 and Mmp13 were selected as well-documented non-canonical Wnt5a-target genes<sup>79,78,80</sup>. As expected, the basal mRNA levels of Siah2, Mmp9 and Mmp13 were decreased in the Ror2 knock-down cells (Figure 26), as a consequence of the poor activation of the pathway. This result confirms that Ror2 is also necessary for the expression of non-canonical target genes in tumor cells.



**Figure 26: Ror2 knock-down decreases Wht5a target genes, but not Wh3a target genes.** mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knock-down cells and *SIAH2, MMP9, MMP13, CCND1* and *AXIN2* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

On the other hand, target genes of the canonical Wnt pathway, such as Axin2 (AXIN2) and CyclinD1 (CCND1)<sup>81</sup>, were also analyzed in the SW620 and HCT116 Ror2 knock-down cells. As shown in Figure 26, mRNA expression of Axin2 and CyclinD1 was not modified by Ror2 knock-down, suggesting that the canonical Wnt pathway is not affected by the depletion of Ror2 in colorectal cancer cells.

Results

# **1.8.** Ror2 depletion decreases mesenchymal gene expression whereas epithelial genes increase

Snail1 is one of the main EMT transcriptional factors and controls one of the most important steps in EMT, the E-Cadherin repression<sup>122,123</sup>. Besides, Snail1, directly or indirectly, also regulates the expression of several mesenchymal markers<sup>121,126</sup>. For these reasons, as Ror2 depletion causes a dramatically decrease in Snail1 levels, we have studied how Ror2 down-regulation could affect epithelial and mesenchymal markers.

The protein levels of E-Cadherin were analyzed in the Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells and both cell lines presented an increase in E-cadherin (Figure 27A and B). This rise in E-Cadherin, which is an epithelial marker, was accompanied by a decrease in αSMA protein levels (Figure 27A and B), which is a mesenchymal marker that increases during EMT and fibroblast activation<sup>204</sup>. Interestingly, the protein levels of Fz2 receptor were strongly reduced in the Ror2 knocked-down cells (Figure 27A and B). This finding is in accordance with previous works in which Fz2 has been closely related with EMT<sup>79,205</sup>.

We corroborated these changes in epithelial and mesenchymal markers at mRNA level as well. As observed in Figure 27C, the mRNA levels of Fz2 were decreased in the Ror2-depleted cells and, inversely, E-Cadherin mRNA increased. Moreover, the expression of two other EMT transcription factors, such as Zeb1 and Twist1, decreased also in Ror2-depleted cells. These results suggested that the reduction in Snail1 expression, due to Ror2 depletion, promotes a mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) that induces the expression of epithelial markers and decreased the mesenchymal ones in colorectal tumor cells.



**Figure 27: Ror2 knock-down decreases mesenchymal genes expression whereas increases epithelial genes**. A-B) SW620 and HCT116 control and knock-down for Ror2 were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies (Note that Ror2, Snail1 and Actin panels are the same that in Figure 23, because all the panels showed in this figure came from the same experiment). C) mRNA was isolated from the control and Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells. *FZD2, CDH1, ZEB1* and *TWIST1* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to control cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

## 2. Mechanism of Snail1 regulation by Ror2

In the previous experiments we have observed that non-canonical Wnt pathway controls Snail1 expression through Ror2. However, the complete mechanism of Snail1 regulation by Ror2 is not studied. Indeed, Snail1 expression is controlled by multiple mechanisms<sup>107</sup>. For this reason, we wanted to assess whether Ror2 and the non-canonical pathway is controlling Snail1 expression at different levels.

## 2.1. Snail1 transcription is controlled by Ror2 through Jnk2 and Stat3 activation

Since the non-canonical Wnt pathway induces Snail1 expression and Ror2 depletion decreases the mRNA levels of Snail1, we first analyzed if Ror2 knock-down is affecting the transcription of the *SNAI1* gene. We assessed the *SNAI1* promoter activity with a Luciferase assay. For this experiment, two different fragments of the *SNAI1* promoter were used; a short fragment -194/+59 and a long fragment -869/+59 (Figure 28). The constructs were overexpressed in the Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells and the Luciferase activity was determined.



**Figure 28: Representation of the -869/+59 and -194/+59** *SNAI1* **promoter fragments.** The fragments of the *SNAI1* promoter used for the promoter activity experiments are represented. STAT3 and AP1 putative binding sequences are represented in orange and blue, respectively. Base pairs distance is represented relative to the transcription starting site (TSS).

As shown in Figure 29, the activity of both, the short and the long fragment of the *SNAI1* promoter, was lower in the Ror2 knock-down cells compared to the control cells. This result suggested that Snail1 transcription is controlled by the non-canonical Wnt pathway in a Ror2-dependent manner.



**Figure 29:** *SNAI1* **promoter activity is decreased in Ror2-depleted cells.** SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knockdown cells were transfected with pGL3\*prSNA P900 or pGL3\*prSNA P300 and pTK-Renilla. After 48 hours the basal activity of the *SNAI1* promoter was analyzed. The graph shows the quantification of three independent experiments ± SD.

Interestingly, when we looked to the fragments of the *SNAI1* promoter region that we used, we found two putative AP1 and STAT3 binding motifs (Figure 28). These binding motifs are present in the long fragment, whereas in the short only one AP1 binding motif is found (Figure 28).

Then, the *SNAI1* promoter activity was also analyzed with specific inhibitors of STAT3 and JNK2. The promoter fragments were overexpressed in wildtype SW620 and HCT116 cells and cells were treated with the inhibitors. After treatment, the *SNAI1* promoter activity was analyzed as before. As observed in the graph, the long fragment of the promoter containing the AP1 and STAT3 binding motifs showed a reduced activity with both inhibitors (Figure 30). By contrast, the activity of the short form, which only presents one AP1 motif (Figure 28), was just affected by JNK2 inhibitor and not by STAT3 inhibitor (Figure 30).



**Figure 30: Inhibition of JNK2 and STAT3 decreases** *SNAI1* **promoter activity.** SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knockdown cells were transfected with pGL3\*prSNA P900 or pGL3\*prSNA P300 and pTK-Renilla. After 32 hours cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 16 hours and after a total of 48 hours the basal activity of the *SNAI1* promoter was analyzed. The graph shows the quantification of three independent experiments ± SD.

This effect of JNK2 and STAT3 inhibition on Snail1 expression was also confirm at protein level. SW620 cells were treated with both inhibitors and the protein expression of Snail1 was analyzed. As shown in Figure 31, Snail1 protein levels decreased by both, JNK2 and STAT3 inhibition.



**Figure 31: Inhibition of JNK2 and STAT3 decreases Snail1 protein levels.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated for 24h with the STAT3 or JNK2 inhibitor at the indicated concentrations. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

These findings confirmed that Snail1 expression is controlled by JNK2 and STAT3 activation.

#### 2.2. Ror2 increases Snail1 protein stability

Besides Snail1 transcription regulation, Snail1 is a very unstable protein and it is widely known that regulation of Snail1 protein stability is also highly controlled by different mechanisms<sup>107</sup>. Thus, Snail1 protein stability was investigated in the Ror2 knock-down SW620 cells. As Snail1 protein levels in Ror2-depleted cells are very low, ectopic Snail1-HA was overexpressed to study protein stability. 24 hours after Snail1-HA overexpression, cells were treated with cycloheximide at different times and the Snail1-HA levels were analyzed by WB.



**Figure 32: Ror2 increases Snail1 protein stability.** Control and Ror2 knock-down SW620 cells were transfected with ectopic Snail1-HA and treated with 50  $\mu$ g/mL cycloheximide for the indicated times. A) Cells were lysed and Snail1-HA protein levels were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies. B) The graph shows the quantification of three independent experiments using the ImageJ software and represented as the mean of each time point ± SD.

As shown in Figure 32, Snail1 protein stability was decreased in the Ror2 depleted cells, compared to control cells. Therefore, Ror2 also modulates Snail1 protein stability, although the mechanism is still not known.

## 2.3. Ror2 depletion modulates the expression of DUB3

Snail1 protein levels are controlled by specific ubiquitin E3 ligases that ubiquitinate Snail1 promoting its proteasomal degradation<sup>170</sup>. However, ubiquitination can be reverted by the action of the DUBs. As explained in the introduction, different Snail1 E3 ligases and DUBs have been described<sup>107</sup>. Whether Ror2 can affect the E3 ligases or DUBs activity is not known, but as a decrease in Snail1 protein stability has been observed in the Ror2-depleted cells, the expression of the different Snail1 E3 ligases and DUBs was also analyzed in these cells.

The expression of the three main Snail1 ubiquitin E3 ligases was analyzed and no clear changes were observed in the Ror2-depleted cells compared to control cells (Figure 33). Just the expression of FBXL5 seems to be increased when Ror2 is knocked-down. On the other hand, when we studied the expression of Snail1 DUBs, we observed a clear decrease in DUB3 (Figure 33). Together, the increase in FBXL5, but mainly the strong decrease in DUB3 expression, explains why Snail1 protein stability decreases in Ror2-depleted cells.



**Figure 33: Ror2 modulates DUB3 expression.** mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knock-down cells. *FBXL5, FBXL14, BTRC* (β-TRCP1), *USP17L2* (DUB3), *USP27X* and *USP37* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

## 3. Wnt5a – Ror2 – Snail1 define a positive feedback loop

It has been previously described that Wnt5a is upregulated in a STAT3-dependent manner. Indeed, evolutionary conserved STAT3-binding sites have been found in the *WNT5A* gene<sup>206</sup> and downregulation of STAT3 induces a decrease in Wnt5a expression<sup>84</sup> in lymphocytic leukemia cells. Moreover, it has been found that Ror2 knock-down induced downregulation of Wnt5a<sup>207</sup>.

For these reasons, we wondered if in our Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells, Wnt5a expression is affected.

#### 3.1. Ror2 depletion decreases the production of Wnt5a ligand

First, we analyzed the expression of Wnt5a in Ror2 knock-down cells. As observed in Figure 34A, the mRNA levels of Wnt5a were decreased in both Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells. This result confirms previously reported data and suggests that Wnt5a is a gene target of the non-canonical Wnt pathway. Moreover, conditioned medium from Ror2-depleted SW620 cells was also analyzed to confirm that these cells also produce less Wnt5a ligand. Wnt5a protein levels in the conditioned medium were analyzed by WB and it was confirmed that Ror2-depleted cells produce and secrete less Wnt5a ligand (Figure 34B).



**Figure 34: Ror2 depletion decreases Wnt5a production.** A) mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knock-down cells. *WNT5A* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B) Conditioned medium from SW620 control and Ror2-depleted cells was analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies. Ponceau was used as loading control.

To study whether this decrease in the production of Wnt5a in the Ror2-depleted cells is affecting the capacity to activate the non-canonical Wnt pathway, we collected conditioned medium from control and Ror2 knock-down cells and mMSCs were treated at different time points. The capacity to induce STAT3 phosphorylation was analyzed. STAT3 phosphorylation was induced with the control conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 cells at 30', while conditioned medium from Ror2-depleted cells failed to induce STAT3 phosphorylation or induced less. This effect was observed both in SW620 and HCT116 cell lines (Figure 35).



Figure 35: Conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 control cells induces STAT3 phosphorylation in mMSCs. mMSCs were treated at the indicated times with conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2-depleted cells. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

As previously described, STAT3 phosphorylation can also be induced through the canonical Wnt pathway by the action of Wnt3a<sup>81</sup>. To test whether STAT3 phosphorylation induced by SW620 and HCT116 conditioned medium is due to the action of Wnt5a, we knocked-down Ror2 in HEK293T cells and treated them with control or Ror2-depleted HCT116 cells conditioned medium. As expected, Ror2 depletion in HEK293T cells caused a decrease in the induction of STAT3 phosphorylation (Figure 36), which suggested that Wnt5a and the activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway mainly cause this induction.



Figure 36: Depletion of Ror2 in HEK293T cells decreased STAT3 phosphorylation after treatment with HCT116 control cells conditioned medium. HEK293T cells were knocked-down for Ror2 and were treated at the indicated with conditioned medium from HCT116 control and Ror2-depleted cells. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.
As observed, Ror2 depletion caused a decrease in the expression and production of Wnt5a, which in turn cannot induce activation of STAT3 in other cell types. Therefore, with these findings we hypothesized that Wnt5a induces the expression of itself through Ror2 and the non-canonical Wnt pathway, generating a kind of autoactivation loop.

#### 3.2. Inhibition of Wnt secretion mimics Ror2 depletion

After determining that Ror2 depletion affected the expression of Wnt5a in SW620 and HCT116 cells and Wnt5a seems to be regulating its own expression, we wondered if blocking the secretion of Wnt factors could mimic the depletion of Ror2. For that, we used the LGK-974 inhibitor. Although LGK blocks the function of Porcupine and it may affect all Wnt factors, canonical and non-canonical, we have centered in the analysis of Wnt5a expression.

We treated the SW620 and HCT116 wildtype cells with 10 µM LGK and analyzed the expression of Wnt5a at mRNA level. As observed in Figure 37A, when the secretion of Wnt factors was blocked with LGK, the mRNA levels of Wnt5a decreased compared to cells that were not treated. Moreover, the conditioned media from SW620 cells treated or not with LGK was also analyzed to determine the secretion of Wnt5a and it was also decreased compared to control conditioned medium (Figure 37B). These results reinforced our hypothesis that Wnt5a is regulating its own expression, because when its secretion is blocked and there is less Wnt5a in the medium, a smaller activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway occurs and, therefore, less Wnt5a expression is observed.



**Figure 37: LGK974 decreases Wnt5a production.** A) mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 cells treated with LGK974 for 24 hours. *WNT5A* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B) Conditioned medium from SW620 control and LGK974 treated cells was analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies. Ponceau was used as loading control.

Although LGK is reducing the expression and secretion of Wnt5a, it should be affecting the secretion of all Wnt factors. We checked whether LGK treatment was reducing the expression of both,

canonical and non-canonical Wnt target genes and, indeed, it was. As shown in Figure 38A, the expression of canonical target genes *AXIN2* and *CCND1* was decreased compared to not treated cells and the same happened with the non-canonical target genes *MMP9* and *SIAH2*. Moreover, in accordance with Figure 17, the cells treated with LGK expressed decreased mRNA levels of *SNAI1* as well (Figure 38A).

Interestingly, inhibition of Wnt secretion with LGK also promoted a decrease in the protein levels of Ror2 and Fz2 (Figure 38B). This effect was similar to the effect observed with Ror2 depletion (Figure 27). Thus, we hypothesized that Ror2 and Fz2 expression is also controlled by the non-canonical Wnt pathway, although LGK is inhibiting canonical Wnt signaling too and it cannot be discarded that it could have an effect on its expression.



**Figure 38: LGK974 decreased canonical and non-canonical target genes expression**. SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with LGK974 for 24 hours. A) mRNA was isolated from the control and treated cells. *SNA11, MMP9, SIAH2, AXIN2* and *CCND1* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to control cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B) After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

#### 3.3. Wnt5a induces the expression of Snail1, Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz2

As mentioned, these previous findings suggested that Wnt5a – Ror2 generate an autoactivation feedback loop that regulates the expression of Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz2. In order to study this hypothesis, we treated SW620 and HCT116 cells with Wnt5a conditioned medium for 16 hours and analyzed the levels of all these factors. Wnt5a treatment induced an increase in the protein levels of Ror2 and Fz2 in HCT116 cells, besides increasing Snail1 expression (Figure 39A).

The upregulation of Ror2, Fz2 and Snail1 was also confirmed at mRNA levels in both cell lines (Figure 39B). Moreover, an increase in Wnt5a expression was also detected (Figure 39B), confirming that Wnt5a is a target gene of itself, as suggested by previous experiments. The mRNA levels of Mmp13 were analyzed as a positive control for the non-canonical Wnt pathway activation and as expected, Mmp13 expression increased with Wnt5a treatment. Interestingly, DUB3 expression was also increased upon Wnt5a treatment (Figure 39B). This was an interesting result because we have previously seen that DUB3 expression was strongly downregulated in Ror2-depleted cells. These results, together with previous studies showing that DUB3 is related to STAT3 activation, suggested us that DUB3 is a target gene of the non-canonical Wnt pathway.



**Figure 39: Wht5a treatment induces the expression of Snail1, Ror2, Fz2 and Wht5a.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with Wht5a conditioned medium for 16 hours. A) After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies. B) mRNA was isolated from the control and treated cells. *SNA11, ROR2, WNT5A, FZD2, MMP13* and *USP17L2* (DUB3) mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented  $\pm$  SD.

## 3.4. Overexpression of Ror2 or Snail1 induces the activation of the non-canonical Wnt signaling

At that point, we have observed that the non-canonical Wnt pathway defines an autoactivation loop in which the expression of all the proteins that participate in its activation is regulated by themselves. Another way to activate the non-canonical Wnt signaling that we have previously reported is the overexpression of Ror2<sup>81</sup>. Then, we wondered if Ror2 overexpression in colorectal cancer cells could also activate the pathway.

For that, we chose the SW480 cell line due to its low expression of Ror2 and Snail1 (see Figure 20). Ror2-HA was overexpressed in SW480 cells and Ror2-overexpressing clones were selected. The expression of Snail1, Fz2 and Wnt5a was analyzed in two different Ror2-overexpressing SW480 clones. As shown in Figure 40, in both clones, Ror2 overexpression induced an increase in the expression of Snail1, Fz2 and Wnt5a. This result confirms that Ror2 overexpression is sufficient to activate the non-canonical Wnt pathway and induce the expression of the different partners involved. Moreover, it also reinforces our previous results and highlights the importance of Ror2 in the regulation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway.



Figure 40: Overexpression of Ror2 in SW480 increases Snail1, Fz2 and Wnt5a expression. A) SW480 control and overexpressing Ror2 clones were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

B) mRNA was isolated from SW480 cells. *SNAI1, FZD2* and *WNT5A* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented  $\pm$  SD.

The most important effect observed upon non-canonical Wnt pathway stimulation is the upregulation of Snail1. It is known that upregulation of Snail1 is one of the main steps in EMT<sup>91</sup>. Our findings also have revealed that upon Ror2 knock-down, Snail1 is down-regulated together with different mesenchymal markers and, epithelial markers such as E-Cadherin, are upregulated (Figure 27). These results suggested that Ror2 expression and non-canonical Wnt pathway activation correlate with a more mesenchymal phenotype of the cell. Therefore, we wanted to study how the non-canonical Wnt pathway elements are affected when cells are forced to undergo EMT.

To do that, we used HT29 M6 and SW480 cells overexpressing Snail1 or not. These colorectal cells are very epithelial, but when Snail1 is overexpressed they are forced to undergo EMT and loss E-Cadherin expression, while mesenchymal markers are upregulated<sup>122</sup>. In those cells, we analyzed the expression of Ror2 and Fz2. As observed in Figure 26, both, HT29 M6 and SW480 overexpressing Snail1 cells presented higher levels of Ror2 and Fz2 than control cells. Moreover, these cells also expressed more FN1 and  $\alpha$ SMA, which are well known mesenchymal markers (Figure 41).



**Figure 41: Overexpression of Snail1 in HT29 M6 and SW480 cells increases Ror2, Fz2, FN1 and αSMA protein levels.** HT29 M6 and SW480 control and overexpressing Snail1 cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

These changes were longer confirmed at mRNA levels. In Snail1 overexpressing HT29 M6 and SW480 cells, the mRNA levels of Wnt5a, Ror2 and FZ2 were increased compared to control cells (Figure 42). These findings confirmed that the non-canonical Wnt pathway activation and,



therefore, the expression of Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a are related to a more mesenchymal state of the cell.

**Figure 42: Overexpression of Snail1 in HT29 M6 and SW480 cells increases SNAI1, WNT5A, ROR2, FZD2 and FN1 expression.** mRNA was isolated from A) HT29 M6 and B) SW480 control and overexpressing Snail1 cells. *SNAI1, WNT5A, ROR2, FZD2* and *FN1* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

#### 3.5. Snail1 knock-down decreases the expression of Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz2

In the previous experiments, we have seen that Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a are upregulated when epithelial cells undergo EMT induced by Snail1 overexpression. We wondered then how the expression of these proteins is affected upon Snail1 knocked-down in the colorectal cells that express high levels of Snail1 and Ror2.

Snail1 was knocked-down from SW620 and HCT116 cells with a specific siRNA. After 48 hours of transfection, the mRNA levels were analyzed. As expected, Snail1 knock-down decreased the expression of Ror2, Fz2, Wnt5a and FN1 (Figure 43A). However, when we analyzed the cells knocked-down for Snail1 by WB, no changes were observed in Ror2 or Fz2 protein levels, while Snail1 and FN1 levels decreased (Figure 43B).



**Figure 43: Snail1 knock-down decreases Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a expression.** A) mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 control and Snail1-depleted cells. *SNAI1, ROR2, FZD2, FN1* and *WNT5A* mRNA levels were quantified by quantitative RT-PCR (RT-qPCR). The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells mRNA levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B) SW620 and HCT116 control and Snail1-depleted cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

All together these results confirmed that Wnt5a – Ror2 – Snail1 generate a positive feedback loop of activation, since Wnt5a induces the expression of itself, Ror2 and Snail1. Moreover, the overexpression or downregulation of Ror2 or Snail1 modulates the expression of themselves and the other partners of the non-canonical Wnt pathway.

#### 4. Ror2-depletion inhibits CAF activation by tumor cells

Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are one of the main components of the tumor stroma<sup>101</sup>. It is well described the crosstalk between the tumor stromal cells and cancer cells and its importance for tumor progression<sup>192</sup>. Indeed, several reports have described that the cancer cells activate CAFs by the secretion of different cytokines, such as TGF- $\beta^{192,191}$ . It is also known that Snail1 plays an essential role in CAF activation<sup>191,192</sup>. Thus, in this part we investigated whether the Ror2 knockdown SW620 and HCT116 tumor cells maintain their capacity to promote fibroblast activation.

#### 4.1. Conditioned medium from Ror2-depleted tumor cells decreases mMSCs activation

To investigate whether Ror2 depletion in the tumoral cells affect the capacity to induce fibroblast activation, we used mMSCs as a fibroblast model. We chose this cell line due to its lower basal activation state compared to other fibroblasts, such as MEFs or CAFs. mMSCs were treated with conditioned medium from control and Ror2-depleted SW620 cells at different time points and fibroblast activation markers were analyzed. As observed, upon control conditioned medium treatment, FN1 and Snail1 protein levels were increased over time, while less increase was observed in the Ror2-depleted cells conditioned medium (Figure 44). This suggested that upon Ror2 depletion the tumor cells lost the capacity to promote fibroblast activation.



**Figure 44: Conditioned medium from SW620 Ror2-depleted cells does not induce fibroblast activation.** mMSCs were treated at the indicated times with conditioned medium from SW620 control and Ror2-depleted cells. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

One of the main cytokines described to promote fibroblast activation is TGF- $\beta$ . To study if TGF- $\beta$  is implicated in the reduced capacity of the Ror2-depleted tumor cells to activate fibroblasts, we analyzed TGF- $\beta$  signaling activation in the mMSCs. We treated mMSCs with control or Ror2-depleted cells conditioned medium at different times and analyzed SMAD2 phosphorylation. Control conditioned medium induced SMAD2 phosphorylation starting at 30' and with a peak at 1h.

By contrast, SMAD2 phosphorylation was totally abrogated with Ror2-depleted cells conditioned medium (Figure 45).

These findings suggested that depletion of Ror2 in the tumoral cells impairs its capacity to induce fibroblast activation. This seems to be due to a lower ability to activate the TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway in fibroblasts.



Figure 45: Conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 Ror2-depleted cells does not induce fibroblast activation. mMSCs were treated at the indicated times with conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2depleted cells. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

#### 4.2. Ror2-depleted cells produced less TGF-β

The preceding results suggested that Ror2 depletion could be affecting the capacity of these cells to produce TGF- $\beta$ . So, we analyzed the expression of TGF- $\beta$  in the Ror2-depleted HCT116 and SW620 cells. As observed in Figure 46A, TGF- $\beta$  expression was dramatically decreased in the cells knocked-down for Ror2. We wondered if these changes in TGF- $\beta$  expression were accompanied by changes in the production of the cytokine to the medium. To study that, we used a HEK293T cell line that express a TGF- $\beta$  reporter system. These cells were treated with the control and Ror2-depleted conditioned medium from HCT116 cells and the luciferase activity was measured. In concordance with the previous result, Ror2-depleted cells induced lower activation of the TGF- $\beta$  reporter (Figure 46B). Therefore, these cells produced less TGF- $\beta$ .



**Figure 46: Ror2-depleted cells produce less TGF-** $\beta$ **.** A) mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2depleted cells. *TGFB1* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B) HEK293T cells overexpressing TGF- $\beta$  reporter system were treated with HCT116 control and Ror2-depleted cells conditioned medium. Luciferase activity was measured. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

The decrease observed in TGF- $\beta$  production in the Ror2-depleted cells is not only important for the capacity of these cells to promote fibroblast activation; it is also relevant for the autocrine activation of the TGF- $\beta$  pathway, which is required for several functions of the tumoral cells. So, we analyzed also the basal activation state of the TGF- $\beta$  pathway in the Ror2-depleted cells. As observed in Figure 47, SMAD2 phosphorylation decreased in the cells lacking Ror2.



Figure 47: Ror2 depletion affects the basal phosphorylation level of SMAD2. A) SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2 knock-down cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the specific antibodies. B) Quantification of phosphorylated SMAD2 levels referred to control cells. Quantification of three different experiments is represented  $\pm$  SD

#### 4.3. Ror2-depleted cells decrease mMSC-induced invasion in co-culture

As explained before, it has been largely described that tumor cells-induced fibroblast activation also promote fibroblast migration and invasion<sup>192</sup>. We have previously observed that Ror2 depletion

Results

compromises the capacity of the tumoral cells to induce fibroblast activation and we wanted to further analyze whether the capacity to promote fibroblast invasion is also reduced.

We performed an invasion assay using transwells. The transwells were previously coated with Matrigel and the cells were seeded on top. We analyzed the capacity of the mMSCs to invade towards the Matrigel alone or in co-culture with control or Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells. As shown inFigure 48, incubation with control cells induced fibroblast invasion, while no invasion was observed when the fibroblasts were co-cultured with Ror2-depleted cells. Moreover, the TGF- $\beta$  receptor inhibitor SB prevented the induction of fibroblast invasion by control tumor cells.



**Figure 48: Ror2 depletion impairs tumor cells-induced mMSC invasion.** mMSCs were seeded on top of Matrigel-coated transwells alone or in co-culture with SW620 and HCT116 control (treated or not with SB) or Ror2-deplted cells. A) Representative images of invaded mMSCs. B-C) Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

## 4.4. TGF-β inhibition decreases Fibronectin but not Snail1 activation in mesenchymal cells upon addition of conditioned medium from tumor cells

As observed in Figure 48, a TGF- $\beta$  receptor inhibitor decreased invasion of fibroblast induced by the tumor cells. An explanation could be that inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  signaling is preventing fibroblast activation. To study the effect of TGF- $\beta$  inhibition on fibroblast activation, we treated mMSCs with

conditioned medium from control SW620 and HCT116 cells alone or with SB and analyzed fibroblast activation markers Snail1 and FN1 at early and late times. FN1 and pSMAD2 protein levels increased at 16 and 1 hours of treatment, respectively, and both were prevented by addition of SB inhibitor (Figure 49). However, Snail1 induction was not affected. Control cell conditioned medium induced a rapid increase in Snail1 protein levels at 1 hour and was not affected by SB (Figure 49). These results suggested that, although TGF- $\beta$  inhibition seems to be sufficient to prevent fibroblast invasion, other factors secreted by tumor cells are also responsible of fibroblast activation.



**Figure 49: TGF-**β **inhibition decreases Fibronectin1 and pSMAD2 induction but not Snail1 in mMSCs.** mMSCs were treated at the indicated times with conditioned medium from SW620 and HCT116 control cells alone or with SB. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

## 4.5. Wnt secretion inhibition mimics the effect of Ror2-deleted tumor cells conditioned medium

As previously observed, inhibition of Wnt signaling by LGK mimicked the effect of Ror2 depletion. Interestingly, LGK treatment in SW620 and HCT116 cells strongly decreased the mRNA expression of *TGFB1*, *TGFB2* and *TGFB3* (Figure 50A). This effect was similar than the one triggered by Ror2 depletion.

Once we have observed that LGK decreased TGF- $\beta$  production, we investigated the capacity of tumor cells, previously treated with LGK, to activate fibroblasts. Therefore, we treated mMSCs with conditioned medium from control SW620 and HCT116 cells previously incubated or not with LGK during 24 hours. As observed in Figure 50B and C, conditioned medium from cells treated with LGK was much less efficient in inducing Snail1 and FN1 expression in fibroblasts.



**Figure 50: LGK974 decreases TGF-β production and fibroblast activation.** A) mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 cells treated or not with LGK974. *TGFB1, TGFB2* and *TGFB3* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to the control cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD. B-C) mMSCs were treated for 16 hours with conditioned medium coming from SW620 or HCT116 cells previously treated with LGK974 or not. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

#### 4.6. Snail1-overexpression in tumor cells increase their ability to activate fibroblasts

Contrary to Ror2 depletion or Wnt inhibition, Snail1 overexpression in colorectal tumor cells showed increased levels of Wnt5a, Ror2 among others. Then, it is reasonable to think that the Snail1 overexpressing cells could also produce more TGF- $\beta$  and have an increased capacity to promote fibroblast activation than control cells. To check that, we treated mMSCs with conditioned medium from control and Snail1-overexpressing HT29 M6 cells and analyze Snail1 and FN1 activation in fibroblasts. As shown in Figure 51, conditioned medium from HT29 M6 overexpressing Snail1 cells presented an enhanced capacity to activate fibroblasts compared to control cells.



**Figure 51: HT29 M6 overexpressing Snail1 induces fibroblast activation.** mMSCs were treated at the indicated times with conditioned medium from HT29 M6 control or overexpressing Snail1 cells. After the treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

Together, all these results indicated that Wnt5a and the non-canonical Wnt pathway is controlling TGF- $\beta$  production by colorectal cancer cells and the capacity of these cells to promote fibroblast activation and invasion.

#### 5. Ror2 controls tumorigenesis

The requirement of Ror2 for non-canonical Wnt activation in non-tumoral cell lines has been previously described by our group<sup>81,53</sup>. Moreover, since Ror2 knock-down decreased Snail1 expression in colorectal cell lines, we wanted to investigate whether Ror2 depletion affects cellular properties depending on Snail1.

#### 5.1. Ror2 depletion impairs proliferation and colony formation capacities

Ror2-depleted cells showed slower proliferation than control cells *in vivo* when injected in mice. Thus, we wanted to assess if Ror2 depletion also provokes changes in proliferation *in vitro*. Ror2 depletion did not affect SW620 or HCT116 cell proliferation when the cells were cultured in normal culture conditions, in DMEM medium with 10% FBS (Figure 52A). However, when these cells were cultured just with 1% FBS, in more physiologic conditions, Ror2-depleted cells showed a slightly decrease in proliferation (Figure 52B).



**Figure 52: Ror2 depletion decreases cell proliferation at 1% FBS.** The graph shows the proliferation capacity of SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2-depleted cells in A) 10% FBS and B) 1% FBS conditions. Cell proliferation was measured every day and the representation shows the average of three independent experiments ± SD.

This change in cell proliferation was confirmed with clonogenic assays. These experiments were carried out seeding a few numbers of cells, 1000 cells/well, and we let them grow forming colonies for 10 days. As observed in Figure 53A, the difference in the clonogenic capacities of the Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells was easily visible. The clonogenic capacity was clearly lower in the Ror2-depleted cells, especially when cells were growing at 1% FBS (Figure 53A and B). Finally, colony formation capability was also analyzed in soft agar. For that, control and Ror2 knock-down cells were mixed with soft agar at 0.6% and seeded on top of a layer of soft agar at 1%. Colonies were left to grow during 21 days. As shown inFigure 54, the colony formation capacities of these cells were also compromised when cells were depleted of Ror2.



**Figure 53: Ror2 depletion impairs the clonogenic capacities in 2D culture.** A) Representative images of the clonogenic assay. 1000 cells/well of control and Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells were seeded and after stopping the experiment at day 10 pictures were obtained. B) Quantification of three independent experiments ± SD is represented.



**Figure 54: Ror2 knock-down decreases the clonogenic capacities in soft agar 3D culture.** A) Representative images of the clonogenic assay in soft agar. Control and Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells were seeded in soft agar and after stopping the experiment at day 21 pictures were obtained. B) Quantification of three independent experiments ± SD is represented.

Colony formation capacity was also assessed in SW480 overexpressing Ror2 cells. The assay was performed as in Figure 53 at 1% FBS. Confirming the role of Ror2 in controlling tumor formation, SW480 cells overexpressing Ror2 presented higher colony formation capacities (Figure 55). This finding is in accordance to previous results and clearly demonstrates that Ror2 expression confers to the cell a more stem phenotype and, thus, is controlling tumor formation.



**Figure 55: Ror2 overexpression increases clonogenic capacities in 2D culture.** A) Representative image of the clonogenic assay. 1000 cells/well of control and Ror2-overexpresing SW480 cells were seeded and after stopping the experiment at day 10 pictures were obtained. B) Quantification of three independent experiments ± SD is represented.

#### 5.2. Ror2 depletion decreases migration and invasion

Non-canonical Wnt pathway has been described to promote migration and invasion<sup>53,208</sup>, two processes that are dependent on Snail1<sup>108,192</sup>. To test whether Ror2 depletion is affecting these Snail1-dependent processes, migration and invasion assays were performed with the Ror2 knock-

down SW620 and HCT116 cells. Both experiments were done in a Boyden chamber seeding the cells in the upper compartment and using 10% FBS DMEM as a chemoattractant in the lower compartment.

In the migration assay, Ror2 knock-down cells were directly seeded on the upper compartment and were left to migrate overnight (16 hours) towards the other side of the membrane. For the invasion assay, cells were seeded on the upper chamber previously coated with Matrigel 0.5  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L and were left to invade for 48 hours. Ror2 knock-down cells showed less migration and invasion capacities than control cells (Figure 56). Therefore, Ror2 controls Snail1-dependent tumor migration and invasion.



Figure 56: Ror2 knock-down decreases cell migration and invasion. Control and Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells were seeded in Transwell chambers, coated or not with Matrigel  $0.5\mu g/\mu L$ . Culture medium containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber and after 16 hours for migration or 48 hours for invasion, cells were fixed and stained with crystal violet and optical density was quantified at 590 nm. The graph shows the quantification of three independent experiments ± SD.

#### 5.3. Ror2 depletion impairs tumor growth

The tumorigenic capability of the Ror2 knock-down cells was also assessed. For this, control and Ror2-depleted SW620 cells were subcutaneously injected in immune-deficient NOD scid gamma mice. Tumors were left to grow until they reached a detectable volume at day 15. Then, tumor growth was quantified every 2-3 days. As observed in the graph, control tumors grew faster than Ror2-depleted tumors, which took more time start to grow. At day 28, when those mice injected with the control SW620 cells have to be euthanized, control tumors presented a bigger average size compared to those generated from Ror2-depleted SW620 cells (Figure 57).



**Figure 57: Ror2 depletion decreases tumor growth.** SW620 control and Ror2-depleted cells were injected in NOD SCID gamma mice. Once tumors were detectable at day 15, tumor growth was measured. The graph shows the mean volume of tumors at each time point ± SD.

The tumor phenotype was analyzed at early time point, 15 days, when they started to be detectable. At that time, control tumors presented higher infiltration by stromal cells than Ror2-depleted tumors. Control tumors showed higher Fibronectin and Vimentin levels in the stroma than Ror2-depleted tumors. Moreover, these tumors also presented higher phosphorylated STAT3, a marker of Wnt signaling (Figure 58).



**Figure 58: Ror2-depleted tumors show a lower CAF infiltration.** Representative images of the tumors generated by shCtl and shRor2 SW620 cells in mice. Fibronectin, Vimentin and pSTAT3 analysis of the tumors.

#### 6. Ror2 – Snail1 axis promotes resistance to cisplatin

Cell resistance to apoptosis is one of the hallmarks of cancer<sup>92</sup> and EMT has been described to play a role in the acquisition of resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs<sup>89</sup>. Interestingly, Snail1 has been related to the acquisition of chemoresistance properties<sup>89,209</sup>. In this part of the study, the resistance of Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells to different chemotherapeutic drugs was assessed, since we have previously determined that Ror2 is a modulator of Snail1 expression.

#### 6.1. Ror2 knock-down decreases cisplatin resistance

Cisplatin and platin-based agents, such as oxaliplatin, are widely studied chemotherapeutic agents used for treatment of numerous types of human cancers, such as colorectal, bladder, ovarian or lung cancers. Cisplatin induces apoptosis by causing DNA damage<sup>210</sup>. In fact, it has been previously proposed that Snail1 expression enhances chemoresistance<sup>115,116</sup>. We wondered whether Ror2 depletion could also affect cisplatin resistance.

To determine the cell sensitivity towards cisplatin, MTT assay was performed treating control and Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells with increasing concentrations of cisplatin for 24 hours. As observed in the graph, SW620 and HCT116 Ror2 knock-down cells showed higher sensitivity to cisplatin compared to control cells that were more resistant (Figure 59). This result suggested that Snail1 expression is promoting resistance to cisplatin.



**Figure 59: Ror2 modulates cell resistance to cisplatin.** Control and Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of cisplatin for 24 hours. Then, MTT assay was performed and after solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

#### 6.2. Snail1 overexpression increases cisplatin resistance in the Ror2-depleted cells

According to the results obtained with the Ror2 knock-down cells, Snail1 expression seems to be very related to cisplatin resistance. To further study that, we overexpressed Snail1 in Ror2-depleted cells and analyzed the sensitivity of these cells to cisplatin. As observed in Figure 60, Snail1 overexpression in Ror2-depleted cells rescued cisplatin resistance.



**Figure 60: Snail1 overexpression increases Ror2-depleted cells resistance to cisplatin.** Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells overexpressing Snail1 or not were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of cisplatin for 24 hours. Then, MTT assay was performed and after solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

In accordance with these last results, a higher resistance to cisplatin was also observed in HT29 M6 cells overexpressing Snail1 compared to control cells (Figure 61). These results confirmed that Snail1 expression directly confers resistance to cisplatin in colorectal cancer cells.



**Figure 61: Snail1 overexpression induces resistance to cisplatin.** Control and Snail1-HA overexpressing HT29-M6 cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of cisplatin for 24 hours, respectively. Then, MTT assay was

performed. After solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

#### 6.3. Cisplatin increases Snail1 protein stability and Snail1 transcription

The higher sensitivity of the Ror2 knock-down cells is clearly due to the low levels of Snail1 in these cells. But not only that, interestingly, upon cisplatin treatment Snail1 protein levels increased in the control cells and this effect does not occur in the Ror2 knock-down cells (Figure 62). pCHK1 was used as a maker of DNA damage generated upon cisplatin.



**Figure 62: Ror2 knock-down impairs Snail1 increase upon cisplatin.** SW620 and HCT116 control and knock-down for Ror2 were treated with 40 µM cisplatin for 8 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

In addition, a time course experiment with cisplatin increased Snail1 protein levels in control cells with a peak at 16 hours, although the increase is maintained until 48 hours (Figure 63). Cisplatin induced a higher increase of cleaved Caspase 3, an apoptosis marker, in the cells depleted of Ror2, while little increase was observed in the control cells (Figure 63). This confirmed that higher Snail1 levels reduces the cisplatin-induced apoptosis.



**Figure 63: Cisplatin induces higher cell death in Ror2-depleted SW620 and HCT116 cells than in control cells.** SW620 and HCT116 control and Ror2-depleted cells were treated with cisplatin at the indicated times. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

Results

Although the increase in Snail1 expression is clear at protein level, we also evaluated Snail1 mRNA expression upon cisplatin treatment in SW620 and HCT116 cells. As observed in the graph, cisplatin increased Snail1 mRNA levels as well (Figure 64).



**Figure 64: Cisplatin induces higher Snail1 mRNA expression.** mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 cells treated or not with cisplatin for 16 hours. *SNAI1* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

Besides these changes observed in Snail1 mRNA, it has been described that the Snail1 E3 ubiquitin ligase FBXL5 is downregulated in DNA damage conditions, such as doxorubicin or  $\gamma$ -irradiation treatments<sup>109</sup>. This effect leads to Snail1 protein stabilization. Thus, Snail1 protein stabilization was also assessed upon cisplatin treatment. For this purpose, we used control and Snail1 HT29-M6 cells. Cisplatin treatment induced an increase of the ectopic Snail1-HA protein levels, which indicates that cisplatin promotes higher Snail1 protein stability (Figure 65).



**Figure 65: Cisplatin promotes Snail1 protein stabilization.** HT29 M6 control and overexpressing Snail1 cells were treated with cisplatin for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

#### 6.4. Ror2 also modulate the response to other DNA-damage agents

As Snail1 is inducing higher resistance to cisplatin in colorectal cancer cells, we wondered if this effect is also promoted by other chemotherapy drugs, such as oxaliplatin and 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU), which are current treatments for colorectal cancer patients<sup>211</sup>.

We assessed whether Ror2-depleted cells were also more sensitive to oxaliplatin and 5-FU. As observed in the graph (Figure 66), control HCT116 cells were also more resistant to oxaliplatin and 5-FU than Ror2-depleted cells, as happened with cisplatin. This result suggested that Snail1-induced resistance seems to be a general effect to DNA-damaging drugs.



**Figure 66: Ror2-depleted HCT116 cells are more sensitive to oxaliplatin and 5-FU than control cells.** Control and Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of oxaliplatin and 5-FU for 24 hours. Then, MTT assay was performed and after solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

Moreover, Snail1 protein levels also increased when cells were treated with other DNA-damaging drugs, such as doxorubicin, oxaliplatin and 5-FU (Figure 67). These results confirmed the role of Snail1 in promoting better resistance towards DNA-damaging chemotherapy drugs, such as cisplatin, oxaliplatin, 5-FU and doxorubicin.



**Figure 67: DNA-damaging drugs induce Snail1 increase.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with doxorubicin, 5-FU and oxaliplatin for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

#### 6.5. Inhibition of Wnt secretion decreases cisplatin resistance

After finding that Snail1 expression promoted higher resistance of colorectal cancer cells to cisplatin, we wondered how this effect could be reverted. As confirmed in previous results, the non-canonical Wnt pathway is controlling Snail1 expression through Wnt5a and Ror2 and when the signaling was blocked with LGK inhibitor, the expression of Snail1 decreased considerably.

For this reason, the sensitivity of control SW620 and HCT116 cells to cisplatin and LGK co-treatment was assessed in a MTT assay. Addition of LGK increased the toxicity of cisplatin. Wnt inhibition by LGK reversed the Snail1 protective effect to a similar level than Ror2 depletion (Figure 68).



**Figure 68: LGK enhances cisplatin toxicity.** SW620 and HCT116 control, co-treated or not with LGK974 10μM, and Ror2depleted cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of cisplatin for 24 hours. Then, MTT assay was performed and after solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

#### 6.6. Non-canonical Wnt pathway controls Snail1 upregulation upon cisplatin

Since LGK is preventing the protective effect of Snail1 to cisplatin, we wanted to study this effect at molecular level. LGK co-treatment blocked the Snail1 increase in response to cisplatin (Figure 69). This result suggested that Wnt signaling is required for Snail1 upregulation upon cisplatin, because when Wnt signaling is blocked, the expression of Snail1 is maintained at very low levels and cisplatin cannot induce Snail1 increase.



**Figure 69: LGK974 prevents Snail1 upregulation upon cisplatin.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with 40 μM cisplatin, LGK974 10μM or the combination of both for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

Then, as we have previously demonstrated that Snail1 expression is controlled by non-canonical Wnt, we wanted to elucidate whether it is also regulating the cisplatin-induced increase of Snail1. As observed in Figure 70A, addition of recombinant Wnt5a reversed the effect of LGK of blocking cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation. Moreover, when recombinant DKK1, which is a specific inhibitor of the canonical Wnt pathway, was added together with cisplatin, no effect was observed and Snail1 levels increased in response to cisplatin (Figure 70A). Same results were obtained with another Porcupine inhibitor, the WntC59<sup>212</sup>. Similar than LGK, WntC59 also blocked the cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation and this effect was rescued by addition of recombinant Wnt5a (Figure 70B).



Figure 70: Non-canonical Wnt is required for cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation. A) SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with the indicated treatments (40  $\mu$ M cisplatin and LGK974 10 $\mu$ M) for 16 hours. B) SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with the indicated treatments (40  $\mu$ M cisplatin and WntC59 100nM) for 16 hours. A-B) After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

Moreover, this effect was confirmed in other colorectal cancer cell lines. Similar results were obtained in LoVo, DLD1 and CaCo2 cells. In these cells, cisplatin increased the levels of Snail1 and

LGK prevented this increase (Figure 71). Together, these results confirmed that the non-canonical Wnt pathway is required for cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation in colorectal cancer cells.



**Figure 71: LGK974 prevents cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in other colorectal cancer cells.** DLD1, LoVo and CaCo2 cells were treated with 40 μM cisplatin, LGK974 10μM or the combination of both for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

#### 6.7. Wnt inhibition blocks cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in Mouse Tumor Organoids

To extend our findings to a more physiologic model, we used cells derived from tumors generated in mice with APC, Kras, TGF- $\beta$  receptor 2 and p53 mutations (LAKTP mice)<sup>213</sup>. These murine cells when grown in Matrigel reorganize themselves to generate organoids. Therefore, we used these mouse derived tumor organoids (MTOs) to confirm our previous results *in vitro*.

MTOs were treated with cisplatin and Snail1 levels were analyzed. As expected, cisplatin increased Snail1 protein levels also in MTOs (Figure 72). Moreover, both, LGK and WntC59 co-treatment blocked the cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation (Figure 72). STAT3 phoshorylation was also blocked by Wnt inhibitors.



**Figure 72: LGK974 and WntC59 block cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase in MTOs.** MTOs grown in Matrigel were treated with 40 μM cisplatin, WntC59 100nM or the combination of both for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

Results

With this result, we have corroborated that cisplatin also induced Snail1 in MTOs and inhibition of Wnt signaling prevented this upregulation as happened in the colorectal SW620 and HCT116 cell lines.

#### 6.8. Wnt inhibition reduces MTOs increases sensitivity to cisplatin

We have previously observed that Wnt inhibition with LGK increases cisplatin sensitivity in SW620 and HCT116 cells and as cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation was impaired by LGK and WntC59 in MTOs, the sensitivity to cisplatin was analyzed. For this experiment, we used higher concentrations of cisplatin and let the treatments for 72 hours. In accordance to the results obtained from Ror2-depleted cells, Wnt inhibition by both, LGK and WntC59, augmented MTOs sensitivity to cisplatin (Figure 73).



Figure 73: LGK974 and WntC59 induced higher sensitivity to cisplatin in MTOs. MTOs were treated with increasing concentrations of cisplatin alone or in combination with LGK974 ( $10\mu$ M) or WntC59 (100nM). After 72 hours of treatment cell viability was quantified using CellTiter-Glo. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

### 7. Paclitaxel and other microtubule-affecting drugs promote a Snail1modification that prevents Snail1-induced resistance

#### 7.1. Snail1 does not promote higher resistance to paclitaxel

Paclitaxel is another drug commonly used in different types of cancers, such as ovarian, lung or breast cancer. Paclitaxel is a microtubule-stabilizing drug that induces mitotic arrest leading to cell death<sup>214</sup>. It has been proposed that Snail1 promotes resistance to paclitaxel in ovarian cancer<sup>159</sup>. As happened before with cisplatin, we speculated that probably the Ror2-depleted cells would also show less resistance to paclitaxel.

In order to measure the cell resistance to paclitaxel, an MTT assay was performed. In this case, the Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of paclitaxel for 24 hours. Interestingly, no differences were observed in the resistance to paclitaxel when comparing the Ror2 knock-down and control cells (Figure 74).



**Figure 74: Ror2 expression does not affect resistance to paclitaxel.** Control and Ror2 knock-down SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of paclitaxel for 24 hours. Then, MTT assay was performed and after solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

According to this result, when HT29 M6 cells overexpressing Snail1 or not, were challenged to paclitaxel no differences in cell survival were observed (Figure 75). Therefore, Snail1 expression is not inducing any change in the sensitivity of colorectal cancer cells to paclitaxel.



**Figure 75: Snail1 overexpression does not induce higher resistance to paclitaxel.** Control and Snail1 overexpressing HT29-M6 cells were treated with the indicated increasing concentrations of paclitaxel for 24 hours, respectively. Then, MTT assay was performed. After solubilization, optical density was quantified at 590 nm. Results are represented as the mean of three independent experiments ± SD.

#### 7.2. Paclitaxel induces an increase in Snail1 expression

In contrast to cisplatin, Ror2 knock-down cells showed similar resistance to paclitaxel than control cells. However, Snail1 protein levels also increased upon paclitaxel treatment in the control cells, while less is observed in the Ror2-depleted cells due to its low Snail1 expression (Figure 76).



**Figure 76: Paclitaxel induces an increase on Snail1 protein levels.** SW620 and HCT116 control and knock-down for Ror2 were treated with 100 nM paclitaxel for 16 hours. After treatment, cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the indicated specific antibodies.

Since paclitaxel induced similar molecular effects on Snail1 protein levels than cisplatin, we investigated whether it also induced higher Snail1 mRNA expression. As shown in the graph, paclitaxel also induced Snail1 mRNA increase (Figure 77). Therefore, although cisplatin and paclitaxel were inducing higher Snail1 expression, Snail1 was only promoting better resistance to cisplatin.



**Figure 77: Paclitaxel induces higher Snail1 mRNA expression.** mRNA was isolated from SW620 and HCT116 cells treated or not with paclitaxel for 16 hours. *SNAI1* mRNA was analyzed by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels are referred to not treated cells levels. Quantification of three different experiments is represented ± SD.

#### 7.3. Microtubule-affecting drugs induce Snail1 phosphorylation

Cisplatin and paclitaxel induced similar effects on Snail1 expression, although only Snail1expressing cells showed better resistance to cisplatin. We questioned the reason of this differential effect from a molecular point of view.

When comparing Snail1 protein levels upon cisplatin and paclitaxel treatment in SW620 and HCT116 cells, we realized that in paclitaxel-treated cells, Snail1 showed a shift in the molecular weight of the band in the WB, which could correspond to phosphorylation (Figure 78).



**Figure 78: Paclitaxel induces a change on Snail1 protein molecular weight.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with 40 μM cisplatin and 100 nM paclitaxel for 16 hours. Cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the Snail1 antibody.

It is described that Snail1 can suffer several post-translational modifications, including phosphorylation, which modify its function, activating or inhibiting it<sup>107</sup> (see introduction Figure 14). In order to investigate whether Snail1 is phosphorylated when the cells are treated with paclitaxel, a dephosphorylation assay was performed. SW620 and HCT116 wildtype cells were treated with paclitaxel for 16 hours and the cell extracts were divided in 3 different conditions. In one condition, calf intestinal phosphatase (CIP) was added in order to dephosphorylate. As shown in Figure 79, paclitaxel-induced shift in Snail1 molecular weight was abrogated in the CIP-treated condition. A

general anti-pTyr was used as a control for unspecific dephosphorylation (Figure 79). This result confirmed that Snail1 is phosphorylated upon paclitaxel treatment.



**Figure 79: Paclitaxel induces Snail1 phosphorylation.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with 100 nM paclitaxel for 16 hours. Cells were lysed and cell extracts were used for a dephosphorylation assay with CIP. After incubating 1 hour at 37°C protein extracts were analyzed by WB with the indicated antibodies.

It is important to remark that Snail1 phosphorylation was only observed in paclitaxel treatment but not in cisplatin treatment. We asked then, if Snail1 phosphorylation is just specific for paclitaxel or if it is a general effect of the microtubule-affecting drugs. To assess this issue, SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with nocodazole<sup>215</sup>, vinblastine<sup>216</sup> and colcemid<sup>217</sup>, which, as paclitaxel, are microtubule-affecting drugs used to treat some types of cancers<sup>218</sup>. After a 16 hours treatment, Snail1 protein levels were analyzed by WB. Nocodazole, vinblastine and colcemid also induced Snail1 phosphorylation (Figure 80), suggesting that this is a general effect for the microtubuleaffecting drugs.



**Figure 80: Microtubule-affecting drugs induce Snail1 phosphorylation.** SW620 and HCT116 cells were treated with 40  $\mu$ M cisplatin, 500 nM paclitaxel, 500 nM nocodazole, 500 nM vinblastine and 500 nM colcemid for 16 hours. Cells were lysed and protein extracts were analyzed by WB using the specific antibodies.

Results

# 8. Non-canonical Wnt signaling factors correlate with Snail1 in human colorectal tumors

## 8.1. Non-canonical Wnt factors, but not canonical ones, correlate with Snail1 in colorectal tumors

In addition to the positive correlation between Ror2 and Snail1 expression in human colorectal cancers previously presented, other interesting correlations were observed in the TCGA database. For instance, a positive correlation is observed between Snail1, Wnt5a and TGF- $\beta$  (Figure 80). As we have reported, Snail1 is a target gene of the non-canonical Wnt pathway. Therefore, Snail1 expression positively correlates with other Wnt5a target genes, such as MMP9 or MMP13, while a negative correlation is observed between Snail1 and  $\beta$ -catenin or Axin2, classical components of the canonical Wnt pathway (Figure 81).

Moreover, expression of other members of the non-canonical Wnt pathway also correlated. For instance, the expression of Fz2 positively correlates with Snail1, Ror2 and Wnt5a expression (Figure 81). Together, these results highlighted the importance of the non-canonical Wnt pathway in the regulation of Snail1 expression and provided strong evidences that Wnt5a, Ror2, Fz2 and Snail1 participate in a common axis in colorectal tumors.



**Figure 81: Expression of Snail1, Ror2, Fz2 and Wnt5a correlates with non-canonical genes.** The correlation between the RNA expression (log RNA seq V2 RSEM) from *SNAI1, ROR2, FZD2, MMP9, MMP13, WNT5A, AXIN2* and *TGFB1* is represented. Correlation between Snail1 and  $\beta$ -catenin protein expression is also represented. Data was obtained from the TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Firehose Legacy database and analyzed in the cBioPortal.

#### 8.2. Wnt5a and Ror2 correlate with Snail1 in other human cancers

The expression of Wnt5a, Ror2 and Snail1 was also investigated in the TCGA database of other human tumors, apart from colorectal. The correlation between Wnt5a and Ror2 with Snail1 expression was compared to the correlation between Snail1 and the canonical Wnt3a and LRP5. As observed in Figure 82, a better correlation is observed between Snail1 and the non-canonical Wnt5a and Ror2 than with the canonical Wnt3a and LRP5 in most of the different human cancer types that were studied. This result further corroborates that the non-canonical Wnt pathway is regulating Snail1, but not only in colorectal cancer; it seems that this regulation is also taking place in other type of cancers.



**Figure 82: Wnt5a/Ror2 and not Wnt3a/LRP5 correlate with Snail1 in human cancers.** The correlation between the RNA expression (log RNA seq V2 RSEM) of *SNAI1* and *ROR2-WNT5A*, or *LRP5-WNT3A* is represented in the heatmap. Spearman coefficient was represented in a color scale. Data was obtained from the TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Firehose Legacy database and analyzed in the cBioPortal.
# DISCUSSION

#### 1. Ror2 controls Snail1 expression in colon tumor cells

Snail1 is a transcriptional factor with a key role during EMT as it directly represses E-Cadherin expression and other epithelial genes and induces the expression of several mesenchymal genes<sup>219,159</sup>. The regulation of Snail1 expression has been widely studied. Different factors have been implicated in *SNAI1* transcription, such as SMADs, STAT3, NFkB or different MAPK pathway downstream effectors, among others<sup>107</sup>.

TGF-β signaling pathway has been considered the classical regulator of Snail1 expression. Different studies have reported that TGF-β upregulates Snail1 mainly in fibroblasts, but also in tumoral cells<sup>104,191,108</sup>. However, in colorectal cancer, some of the effectors of the TGF-β signaling pathway are generally mutated, which makes these cells insensitive to TGF-β. Mutations in the TGF-β receptor and SMADs proteins have been found frequently in colorectal tumors<sup>197,198,199</sup>. Particularly, SW620 cells have mutation in the SMAD4 gene, while HCT116 cells present mutations in TGF-β receptor II (TGFβRII) lacking its expression<sup>220,221</sup>. Since HCT116 cells have mutated TGFβRII, the decrease in SMAD2 phosphorylation observed upon SB treatment was surprising. However, basal phosphorylation of SMAD2 has been previously observed in HCT116 cells, being also increased upon TGF-β treatment<sup>222</sup>, suggesting that other mechanisms may be regulating it. Despite of that, inhibition of TGF-β receptor with SB in SW620 and HCT116 cells did not change Snail1 expression. Therefore, Snail1 expression is not controlled by TGF-β in colon cancer cells.

Other factors that have been described to control Snail1 expression are Wnt ligands. Canonical and non-canonical Wnts regulate Snail1 expression in fibroblasts through a common signaling pathway involving STAT3<sup>81</sup>. In colon cancer cells, Snail1 expression is affected by Porcupine inhibitors that blocks both, canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling. However, specific inhibition of the non-canonical Wnt pathway by depletion of the co-receptor Ror2 shows that Snail1 expression is controlled by the non-canonical Wnt pathway through the receptor Fz2 and Ror2, since knock-down or Ror2 strongly affected the expression of Snail1. Analyzing data from the TCGA database revealed that in human colorectal tumors the expression of Ror2 correlates with the expression of Snail1. Moreover, the expression of the non-canonical Wnt factor Wnt5a also correlates with Snail1, not only in colorectal, also in other type of tumors, while no correlation, or less, is observed between the canonical Wnt3a or the canonical co-receptor LRP5/6 and Snail1.

Interestingly, depletion of Ror2 in colon cancer cells seems to induce a MET process. This process leads to an increase in epithelial markers such as E-Cadherin, whereas mesenchymal markers decrease probably as a consequence of the downregulation of Snail1. Remarkably, in breast cancer

cells, Ror2 downregulation also increased E-Cadherin expression and reduced mesenchymal genes expression, such as Snail1 or Vimentin, and the contrary effect was observed when Ror2 was overexpressed<sup>140</sup>. This confirms that Ror2 is related with EMT not only in colon, but also in other cancers, such as breast cancer.

How the non-canonical Wnt pathway is controlling Snail1 expression through Ror2 was also studied. The increase in *SNAI1* mRNA levels due to Wnt stimulation has been previously described and it has been attributed to STAT3 activation that is common for canonical and non-canonical Wnts<sup>81,79</sup>. However, analysis of the *SNAI1* promoter region showed STAT3 putative binding motifs, but also for AP1, which is a downstream effector of JNK2<sup>223</sup>. Therefore, since inhibition of JNK2 and STAT3 decreases the SNAI1 promoter activity, the non-canonical Wnt signaling is controlling *SNAI1* transcription through JNK2 and STAT3 activation in a Ror2-dependent manner (Figure 83). However, no differences were observed in promoter activity between the two fragments in both cell lines and inhibition of JNK2 or STAT3 was sufficient for decreasing promoter activity to the same level in the long fragment. This suggests that, probably this assay is not the best to know what is really happening *in vivo*, but is useful to analyze *in vitro* how Snail1 transcription is controlled. ChIP experiments should be done to finally confirm that both AP1 and STAT3 are in fact directly binding to the *SNAI1* promoter region.



**Figure 83: The non-canonical Wnt pathway controls SNAI1 transcription and Snail1 protein stability.** Upon Wnt5a binding to Ror2 and Fz2, JNK 2 and STAT3 are phosphorylated and activated. Then, in the nucleus AP1 and STAT3 promote

the transcription of SNAI1. Wnt5a, though STAT3 activation, also promotes the expression of DUB3, which induces higher Snail1 protein stability.

Another important step in Snail1 regulation is the regulation of its protein stability. Snail1 protein stability is specifically regulated by different E3 ubiquitin ligases that target Snail1 for proteasomal degradation and other enzymes called DUBs that remove ubiquitin to promote Snail1 stabilization. Snail1 protein stability is also affected by Ror2 depletion. This is caused by a decrease in the expression of a specific DUB, DUB3, that is down-regulated upon knock-down of Ror2 and, more importantly, that is upregulated upon Wnt5a stimulation in a STAT3-dependent manner, as it has been described before<sup>86</sup>. Whether Ror2 is controlling the expression of the Snail1 E3 ubiquitin ligases is not clear, although a significant increase in FBXL5 expression was observed in Ror2-depleted SW620 cells.

Although Snail1 expression can be controlled at multiple levels by many different mechanisms in different cell types, we have demonstrated that in colon cancer cells it is regulated by the non-canonical Wnt pathway in a Ror2-dependent manner. This regulation seems to affect mainly transcription and protein stabilization, although it cannot be discarded that other levels of regulation could be also affected. Moreover, the contribution of other signaling pathways, such as canonical Wnt pathway or TGF- $\beta$  pathway, may be also playing a role in controlling Snail1 expression and cannot be discarded in a low percentage of colorectal tumors in which no mutations are found in these pathways. For instance, the colon cancer cell lines that were mostly used in this work, SW620 and HCT116 cells, presented mutations in canonical Wnt pathway elements. SW620 cell line has mutations in the *APC* gene, while HCT116 cell line presents a heterozygous mutation consisting of three base deletion in the *CTNNB1* gene in the region in which the protein is phosphorylated by GSK3 $\beta^{224}$ . Thus, in both cell lines  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional activity is high, although not maximal, since inhibition of Porcupine with LGK decreases the expression of several Wnt3a target genes.

We have centered our study in the contribution of Ror2 in the regulation of Snail1 in cells with elevated expression of Ror2, because these cells present also higher levels of Snail1. However, there is a cell line, DLD1, that express medium levels of Snail1 while no expression of Ror2 was observed. In this case, DLD1 express high levels of Ror1, another co-receptor of the non-canonical Wnt pathway. All our results indicate that the non-canonical Wnt pathway is controlling Snail1 expression in a Ror2-dependent manner in colon cancer cells.

# 2. Ror2/Snail1 define a positive loop of autoactivation

Besides impairing Snail1 expression, blockade of the non-canonical by Ror2 knock-down and Porcupine inhibition prevented the secretion of Wnt5a, suggesting that Wnt5a is a target gene of itself. This decrease in the production of Wnt5a affects not only the capacity to activate the pathway in an autocrine manner, but also the ability to activate other cells in a paracrine manner. The initial hypothesis was that Wnt5a is promoting an autoactivation loop in which an initial Wnt5a signal, through Ror2, promotes the activation of more Wnt5a production that spread the signal and maintains the higher expression of Snail1. This idea was confirmed since treating colon cancer cells with exogenous Wnt5a, as expected it upregulates Snail1, but also induces an increase in the expression of Wnt5a.

Apart from Snail1 and itself, Wnt5a signaling also modulates the expression of two other very important proteins that participate in the pathway as Fz2 and Ror2: inhibition of the non-canonical Wnt pathway with LGK decreased the expression of both. Similarly, in the Ror2-deleted cells the expression of Fz2 was also dramatically affected. Accordingly, Wnt5a stimulation induces the expression of Fz2 and Ror2. Therefore, activation of this pathway self-amplifies its response increasing the levels of the ligand, receptor and co-receptor that initiate it (Figure 84).



**Figure 84: Wnt5a/Ror2/Snail1 define a loop of autoactivation.** Upon stimulation of the pathway by Wnt5a binding to the receptors, Snail1 is expressed, but it also promotes the expression of Wnt5a, Ror2 and Fz2. Therefore, all these factors that participate in the activation of the pathway can self-perpetuate the signaling.

Importantly, Fz2 has been previously related to EMT in different studies<sup>79,205</sup>. In a recent study, the authors have demonstrated that Fz2 correlated with an EMT signature in patients with poor survival from different type of cancers. In the same study, it is also possible to see that Fz7, another receptor of the Fz family, also correlates with the EMT signature in colon cancer<sup>205</sup>. Interestingly, Fz2 and Fz7, together with Fz1, are the only Fz members that present the Tyr552 in the C-terminus. The phosphorylation of this Tyr552 by Src is required for Fyn binding to Fz, activation of STAT3 and, thus, for the expression of Snail1<sup>81,79</sup>. In our analysis, Fz2 also correlates with Snail1, Ror2 and Wnt5a in human colorectal tumors, giving a robust confirmation that all these proteins are implicated in the signaling.

Another important effect that we have observed is that the overexpression of Ror2 and Snail1 is sufficient to activate the self-stimulatory loop. Ror2 and Snail1 overexpression induces an increase in Wnt5a that, probably, activates the pathway and, later, induces the upregulation of Ror2 and Fz2. Snail1 overexpression also increases other mesenchymal markers, such as Fibronectin and  $\alpha$ SMA that are sensitive to Snail1 depletion. However, Ror2 and Fz2 expression is not sensitive to Snail1 depletion, suggesting that their induction by Snail1 is more indirect that the one involving Fibronectin or  $\alpha$ SMA.

Together, our findings have demonstrated that Snail1 expression is controlled by the non-canonical Wnt pathway in a Ror2-dependent manner in colorectal cancer cells. Moreover, a self-stimulatory loop involving Wnt5a, Ror2 and Snail1 that is associated to EMT have been revealed.

# 3. Ror2 is required for tumor progression, metastasis and fibroblast activation

Ror2 and the non-canonical Wnt pathway have been implicated in many types of cancers and correlate with poor overall survival of the patients<sup>225,226</sup>. For instance, in gastric cancer the expression of non-canonical Wnt proteins correlated with poor survival<sup>227</sup>. Moreover, in general, the expression of Ror2 correlates with a worse prognosis in colorectal cancer<sup>226,228</sup>. In accordance to that, our results clearly demonstrated that Ror2 is required for tumor growth, since tumors derived from Ror2 knock-down cells appeared later and grew more slowly than controls.

When proliferation was analyzed *in vitro* in normal culture conditions (DMEM 10% FBS) no differences were observed between control and Ror2-depleted cells. However, when it was assessed reducing the FBS percentage at 1%, statistically significant differences were observed. In this condition, Ror2 depletion reduced cell proliferation. This observation matches with the reduction in tumor growth showed *in vivo*, probably because reducing the percentage of FBS conferred a more real condition, much similar to the condition in which cells are when injected to the mice. The reduction in cell proliferation after Ror2 depletion has been previously reported in ovarian cancer<sup>229</sup>.

The knock-down of Ror2 also affected the colony formation capacities in 2D and 3D. Similar to the results observed in proliferation, the differences in colony formation were more evident at 1% FBS, although at 10% the depletion of Ror2 also prevented colony formation, in contrast to proliferation. The clonogenic capacities in soft agar were also reduced after Ror2 depletion. The capacity of the cells to grow in this assay has been related to the acquisition of CSCs properties. Moreover, some authors have linked EMT with the acquisition of stemness properties in different tumors<sup>95</sup>. Therefore, since Ror2 depletion induces a MET process by decreasing mesenchymal markers and increasing epithelial, it is likely that Ror2-depleted cells have less CSCs properties compared to Ror2 expressing cells.

It has been described that Ror2 promotes migration and invasion in different types of cancer<sup>226,229</sup>. In addition, Ror2 is essential for Wnt5a-induced invasion<sup>53</sup>. In our model, the knock-down of Ror2 decreases migration and invasion of colon cancer cells *in vitro*. Both processes have been related to EMT and particularly to Snail1<sup>230</sup>. *In vivo*, the tumors generated from control cells were more invasive to the subjacent tissue than those coming from Ror2-depleted cells, confirming that Ror2 expression is correlated with higher migrative and invasive properties. Thus, it is possible that upon

115

reduction of Ror2 levels, the expression of Snail1 is affected and then it reduces the proliferative, migrative and invasive capacities due to a MET process.

Another important component of the tumor is the stroma<sup>101</sup>. The activation of stromal CAFs by the tumoral cells is a key step for tumor cells invasion and metastasis and is a process in which Snail1 has an important role. CAF activation has been described to be dependent on Snail1 expression, since CAFs KO for Snail1 are not capable to be activated and induce tumor cells invasion<sup>192</sup>. Moreover, activated CAFs express higher levels of Snail1, FN1 or  $\alpha$ SMA, among other markers<sup>103</sup>. This crosstalk between cancer cells and CAFs in which cancer cells activate fibroblasts, by secreting cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$  or others, and fibroblasts induce and support cancer cells invasion is very important for cancer progression and metastasis (Figure 85). Interestingly, Ror2-depleted colon cancer cells have a reduced capacity to activate fibroblasts. Therefore, Ror2-depleted cells did not induce fibroblast invasion, whereas Ror2-expressing cells did. This reduced capacity is due to a lower TGF- $\beta$  production, since the expression of this cytokine is dependent of the Wnt5a/Ror2/Snail1 axis. Importantly, although FN1 upregulation is impaired with a TGF- $\beta$  inhibitor, Snail1 is not. This suggests that TGF- $\beta$  is not the only cytokine responsible to induce fibroblast activation. Other factors secreted by tumor cells, such as Wnts, might also participate in this effect. Moreover, when the pathway is activated by Snail1 overexpression in HT29 M6 cells, these cells have the ability to better induce fibroblast activation. This result indicates that cells that have undergone EMT have increased capacities to activate the tumor microenvironment and induce a more invasive phenotype of the tumor (Figure 85).

### 4. Ror2/Snail1 regulate resistance to cisplatin and DNA-damage drugs

Cisplatin or platin-based drugs, such as oxaliplatin, are common chemotherapy treatments used to treat colorectal cancer, among other types of cancers. These agents induce cell death by causing DNA damage<sup>210</sup>. EMT and Snail1 have been related to the acquisition of chemoresistance to some drugs<sup>89,231</sup>. In colon cancer cells, Ror2 depletion affects the sensitivity to cisplatin since Ror2-expressing cells showed higher resistance to cisplatin. The role of Snail1 in promoting chemoresistance was confirmed, since Snail1 overexpression restored the resistance to cisplatin in the cells depleted of Ror2 and HT29 M6 cells. The levels of Snail1 not only promote higher resistance to cisplatin but to other drugs that also produce DNA damage, such as oxaliplatin and 5-FU, while no effect of Snail1-induced chemoresistance is observed to paclitaxel.

Interestingly, cisplatin treatment increased the protein stability and transcription of Snail1. This increase does not occur in cells that lack Ror2, due to the low levels of Snail1 expression in these cells. Accordingly, the apoptosis marker cleaved Caspase 3 increased in Ror2-depleted cells upon cisplatin treatments while in the Ror2-expressing cells the increase was lower or undetectable. Importantly, as mentioned above, this effect of Snail1-induced chemoresistance seems to be not only restricted to cisplatin since other drugs, such as oxaliplatin, 5-FU and doxorubicin, also elevated Snail1 expression.

Surprisingly, Snail1 expression did not promote higher resistance to paclitaxel. However, paclitaxel treatment also upregulated Snail1 expression as happens with the DNA damaging drugs, but this increase was accompanied by a phosphorylation of Snail1. Interestingly, different drugs that affect microtubule stability, such as paclitaxel, nocodazole, vinblastine and colcemid, promote Snail1 phosphorylation. Snail1 is a protein that can be highly modified post-translationally and phosphorylation is one of these modifications<sup>107</sup>. We have not identified the kinase responsible of this phosphorylation associated to Snail1 inactivation.

The Snail1 function in cisplatin chemoresistance is relevant for cancer treatment. As Snail1 is one of the main drivers of EMT and EMT has been related with the acquisition of CSCs properties<sup>231</sup>, it is reasonable to think that Snail1-expressing cells that survive after chemotherapy present stemness properties that induce the appearance of new tumors or metastasis. So, a way to inhibit Snail1-induced chemoresistance would be important for treating cancer. We have demonstrated that the non-canonical Wnt pathway controls Snail1 expression in colon cancer cells and Wnt inhibition with Porcupine inhibitors decreases Snail1 expression. Thus, Porcupine inhibitors were

the principal candidates to block Snail1-induced chemoresistance since Wnt inhibition enhanced cisplatin sensitivity of Ror2-expressing cells to similar levels than Ror2-depleted cells.

This reduced chemoresistance is associated to a decrease in Snail1 expression after blocking the non-canonical Wnt pathway. In fact, the cisplatin-induced upregulation of Snail1 is not observed when cells are co-treated with cisplatin and LGK. As Porcupine inhibition blocks both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling, the implication of one or the other pathways in the upregulation of Snail1 upon cisplatin is a matter of debate. However, the addition of recombinant Wnt5a to cells co-treated with cisplatin and LGK or WntC59 completely reversed the effect of Wnt inhibition. This suggests that, indeed, it is the non-canonical Wnt pathway the one relevant in controlling cisplatin-induced Snail1 upregulation. Moreover, addition of DKK1, a specific canonical Wnt pathway is not relevant in these cells. Whether cisplatin induces activation of the non-canonical Wnt pathway and then, Snail1 is expressed is still not clear and more experiments should be performed in order to determine this. However, it is clear that the non-canonical Wnt pathway in colon cancer cells controls Snail1 expression and activation of this pathway is required for cisplatin-induced Snail1 increase.

The chemoresistance inhibitory effect of Porcupine inhibitors was also confirmed in the MTOs model. LGK and WntC59 blocked the upregulation of Snail1 upon cisplatin also in these cells. In accordance to that, LGK and WntC59 increased the toxicity of cisplatin and promoted more MTOs death. Porcupine inhibitors are in preclinical assays for their use in colon cancer. Their effect has been mainly attributed to the block of the canonical Wnt pathway, since  $\beta$ -catenin upregulation is a common characteristic of colon cancer, due to mutations mainly in APC. However, we have demonstrated that the effect of Porcupine inhibitors in colon cancer should be more related to the capacity to inhibit the non-canonical Wnt pathway and the inhibition of Snail1 expression. Actually, the expression of Snail1, and also Ror2, is increased in colorectal tumors that do not responded to oxaliplatin treatment, compared to patients that do. Therefore, inhibitors of Porcupine might be useful in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs in colon cancer treatment.

Based on our results and the literature in the field, the following model is proposed for the control of Snail1 expression by the non-canonical Wnt signaling and its role in colorectal cancer progression and metastasis. Ror2-expressing colon cancer cells produce Wnt5a that induces a positive loop of autoactivation. Wnt5a, through Ror2, activates STAT3 and JNK2 that promote the expression of Snail1, but also Wnt5a, Ror2, Fz2 and TGF-β. Snail1 expression also induces the expression of

118

Fibronectin 1 and other genes related to cell survival. These genes may contribute to the chemoresistance effect to cisplatin. Colon cancer cells-produced TGF- $\beta$  induces the activation of the stromal fibroblasts and leads to fibroblast invasion, cancer progression and metastasis (Figure 85).



Figure 85: Role of the non-canonical Wnt signaling in the control of Snail1 expression and cancer progression. Ror2expressing colon cancer cells produce Wnt5a that self-amplifies the signaling and induces Snail1 expression and TGF- $\beta$ that promote fibroblast activation. Upon fibroblast activation, fibroblast invasion is promoted and leads cancer cell metastasis. Snail1 expression in the cancer cells induces the expression of anti-apoptotic genes that help the cells to resist chemotherapy.

# CONCLUSIONS

# CONCLUSIONS

- ✓ Ror2 and Wnt5a expression correlates with Snail1 expression in colon cancer cells and human colorectal tumors.
- ✓ Ror2 is necessary for Snail1 expression in colon cancer cells.
- ✓ The non-canonical Wnt signaling controls SNAI1 transcription and Snail1 protein stability in a Ror2-dependent manner.
- ✓ Wnt5a, Ror2 and Snail1 define an autoactivation feedback loop in tumor cells.
- ✓ Ror2 controls migration, invasion and tumorigenesis in colon cancer model.
- Ror2 regulates the secretion of Wnt5a and TGF-β by cancer cells and promotes fibroblast activation.
- ✓ Cisplatin promotes higher expression of Snail1.
- ✓ Ror2/Snail1 axis promotes higher resistance to cisplatin, but not to paclitaxel.
- ✓ Porcupine inhibitors block Snail1-induced cisplatin resistance and impair colon cancer metastasis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 1. Cell culture

### 1.1. Eukaryotic cell lines

The different cell lines used in the thesis were growth and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) high glucose supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 4,5 g/L of Sodium Pyruvate, 2 mM Glutamine, 56 U/L Penicillin, 56 U/L Streptomycin and non- essential amino acids. Cells were maintained at 37°C and 5% of CO<sub>2</sub>. The cell lines used during this thesis were the following:

Cell line	Origin	Characteristics	
SW(620	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology	
50020	adenocarcinoma	Lpithenal morphology	
HCT116	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology	
	adenocarcinoma		
SW480	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology	
	adenocarcinoma		
	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology. Resistant to 10 <sup>-6</sup> M	
	adenocarcinoma	methotrexate.	
HT29 M6 Snail1	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology. HT29 M6 that	
	adenocarcinoma	constitutively overexpress Snail1 <sup>122</sup> .	
LS174	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology	
	adenocarcinoma	Lpithenal morphology	
(aaa)	Human colorectal	Epithelial morphology	
Cacoz	adenocarcinoma	Lpitticilal morphology	
	Human colorectal	Enithelial morphology	
	adenocarcinoma	Lpitticilal morphology	
LoVo	Human colorectal	Epithelial meraheleau	
	adenocarcinoma	Lpithenal morphology	
НЕК 293Т		Non tumoral. Epithelial morphology.	
	Handin Chibi yonic Kuney	Transformed with Adenovirus 5.	
ΗΕΚ 293T TGF-β	Human embryonic kidney	Non tumoral. Epithelial morphology.	
reporter	naman embryonic Nulley	Express a TGF-β reporter luciferase	

Table 1: Enumeration and characteristics of the cell lines used in the thesis.

mMCS	Mesenchymal stem cells from mouse bone marrow	Mesenchymal phenotype.
L cells	Subcutaneous mouse connective tissue	Fibroblastic phenotype
L cells Wnt3a	Subcutaneous mouse connective tissue	Fibroblastic phenotype. Contains Wnt3a plasmid. G418 selection
L cells Wnt5a	Subcutaneous mouse connective tissue	Fibroblastic phenotype. Contains Wnt5a plasmid. G418 selection

Stock cells were grown in treated plastic flasks of 75 cm<sup>2</sup>. Before reaching confluence, medium was removed, cells were washed two times with PBS and allowed to detach with 0.5% trypsin (Gibco). Exposure time to trypsin depends on every cell line, going from 2 to 5 minutes at 37°C. Then, cells were seeded again in 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks for stock cells or in treated plastic plates of different sizes depending on the experiment that was performed.

For experiments, cells were counted with an optical microscope and a Neubauer chamber. Addition of trypan blue to the mix of resuspended cells allowed to determine cell integrity and viability. Number of seeded cells depended on the performed experiment.

#### 1.2. Obtention of conditioned medium

#### 1.2.1. Wnt3a and Wnt5a conditioned medium

Control and Wnt3a or Wnt5a conditioned media (CM) were obtained from parental L, Wnt3a-L or Wnt5a-L cells respectively. Cell maintenance was performed with DMEM 10% FBS for L cells and supplemented with G418 at 0.4mg/mL for Wnt3a-L and Wnt5a-L, to avoid losing plasmid expression. To obtain CM, the three cell lines were seeded in 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with DMEM 10% FBS without G418. After 4 days, CM first batch was recovered and fresh DMEM was added to the cells. After 3 more days, second batch was obtained and mixed with the first. CM was then centrifuged to eliminate cells that could be present. Supernatant was stored at 4°C and used as CM.

#### 1.2.2. Ror2-depleted and Snail1 overexpressing cells conditioned medium

Control and Ror2-depleted cells CM were obtained from SW620 and HCT116 shCtl or shRor2 cells, respectively. Control and Snail1-overexpressing cells CM were obtained from HT29 M6 control or Snail1-overexpressing cells. To obtain CM, all cell lines were seeded in 60 cm<sup>2</sup> plates with DMEM

10% FBS. After 24 hours, CM was recovered and centrifuged to eliminate cellular rests. Supernatant was stored at 4°C and used as CM.

#### 1.2.3. DKK1 conditioned medium

DKK1 is an antagonist of co-receptor LRP5/6. DKK1 CM is produced by overexpressing the pcDNA3-DKK1-HA in HEK293T cells that secret the protein to the medium. 24 hours after transfection CM first batch was recovered and fresh DMEM is added. After 24 hours more, second batch was obtained and mixed with the first. CM is then centrifuged and supernatant is used.

#### **1.3. Cellular treatments**

During this work, cells were treated with specific components in the different experiments performed. The different treatments are specified in Table 2.

Treatment	supplier	Concentration
SB-505124	Sigma	5 – 20 μΜ
LGK974	Sellechchem	1 – 10 μΜ
Wntc59	PeproTech	100 nM
Jnk inhibitor II	Calbiochem	25 – 50 μM
S3I-201	Selleckchem	50 – 100 μΜ
Cycloheximide (CHX)	Sigma	50 μg/mL
Recombinant Wnt5a	R & D System	50 ng/mL
Cisplatin	Calbiochem	40 – 400 μM
Doxorubicin	Sigma	5 nM
5-Fluorouracil	Accord	1 – 100 μΜ
Oxaliplatin	Teva	1 – 100 μΜ
Paclitaxel	Teva	1– 500 nM
Nocodazole	MedChemExpress	500 nM
Vinblastine	Stada	500 nM
Colcemid	Gibco	500 nM

#### **Table 2: Cell culture treatments**

# 2. Cell transfection and selection of transfectants

For expression or down-regulation of the different proteins of interest, the different cell lines were seeded in plates of different sized depending on the experiment performed. After seeding, cells were left 24 hours to properly adhere and grown until confluence reach about 50-60%. Then, cells were transfected differently depending on the transfected DNA.

#### 2.1. DNA transfection with PEI

Transfection is performed mixing the DNA of interest with DMEM (without serum and antibiotics) and 10  $\mu$ L of Polyethylenimine (PEI, Plysciences Inc.) was added per each  $\mu$ g of DNA. The mix was vortexed for 10 seconds and incubated for 20 minutes at RT before adding it over the plate. After 6 hours of transfection, cell medium was removed and fresh DMEM 10% FBS was added to avoid PEI toxicity.

For the stable Ror2 knock-down cells generation, SW620 and HCT116 cells were co-transfected with the vectors pLKO shRNA-Ror2 or pLKO shRNA-Control together with phrGFP. After 2 weeks, GFP positive cells were selected and the Ror2 knock-down efficiency was analyzed. Selection was maintained by adding puromycin.

For SW480 overexpressing Ror2-HA cells, SW480 cells co-transfected with the vectors pcDNA3 Ror2-HA or pcDNA3 empty vector together with phrGFP. After 2 weeks, GFP positive cells were selected and the Ror2-HA overexpression efficiency was analyzed.

#### 1.1. siRNA transfection

Transient Snail1 knock-down was performed using small interfering RNA (siRNA). 24 hours after seeding cells, culture medium was changed and DMEM without antibiotic was added. Cells were transfected using DharmaFECT transfection agent (Dharmacon) with 0.2 nmoles of siRNA control (siCtl) or Snail1 siRNA (siSnail1), according to manufacturer's instructions. Experiments were performed after 48 hours of transfection.

#### 2.2. DNA constructs

Vector	Origin
pcDNA3	
pcDNA3.1 Ror2-HA	Given by Dr. Y. Minami.
pcDNA3.1 Snail1-HA	Cloned in the lab. Described previously <sup>122</sup> .
DCDNA3 DKK1-HA	Given by Dr A. Muñoz.
phrGFP	Empty vector.
pLKO	
pLKO shRNA non-targeting	#SHC001, SIGMA.
pLKO shRNA-Ror2 #1	#TRCN1492, SIGMA.
oLKO shRNA-Ror2 #2	#TRCN10625, SIGMA.
siRNA	
Control siRNA	D-001810-02-50, Dharmacon.
Snail1 siRNA	L-010847-01-0005, Dharmacon.
pGL3*	
pGL3* <i>SNAI1</i> -869/+59	Cloned in the lab. Described previously <sup>187</sup> .
pGL3* <i>SNAI1</i> -194/+59	Cloned in the lab. Described previously <sup>187</sup> .

 Table 3: DNA constructs employed during the thesis.

#### 2.3. Plasmid DNA purification

Escherichia coli cells were used to produce and purify plasmid DNA constructs. E. coli cells were grown in the rich medium Luria Broth (LB) in liquid. The medium is sterilized in an autoclave machine for 20 minutes at 120°C. All the plasmid DNA constructs used in this study were previously transformed into E. coli. These, are maintained at -80°C with 15% glycerol in liquid LB. When needed, transformed stock E. coli were grown in LB at 37°C and agitation supplemented with the specific antibiotic for selection, depending on the transformed plasmid, but usually Ampicillin at 150mg/L. After an overnight culture, plasmid DNA isolation is performed with the commercial Wizard Plus SV Minipreps (Promega) or Maxipreps (Qiagen) kits, following manufacturer's protocols.

# 3. Techniques for protein analysis

#### 3.1. Cell extracts preparation:

To obtain protein extracts, culture medium was first removed from the culture plates and cells were washed two times with cold PBS (4°C). Then, cells were scrapped with lysis buffer, 1% SDS lysis buffer or RIPA buffer depending on the experiment. Volume of lysis buffer depends on the cell type, the size of the culture plate and the cell confluence. After cell lysis, protein concentration was determined using the DC Protein Assay kit.

- 1% SDS lysis buffer: Used to solubilize all cellular components including the nucleus. To avoid SDS precipitation, protein extracts were collected at RT. Samples were boiled at 95°C until they were perfectly homogenized and were centrifuged at 16000g for 5 minutes.
- RIPA lysis buffer: Used to solubilize almost all cellular compartments and keeping protein interactions. After scrapping, samples were centrifuged at 16000g for 10 minutes at 4<sup>a</sup>C.

#### 3.2. Electrophoresis and Western blot:

Western blot was the method used to analyze the results from the experiments performed at protein level. Protein analysis was performed in denaturing conditions by adding SDS in the polyacrilamide electrophoresis gels. Used gels were 8-12% polyacrilamide. Loading buffer 5x was added to the samples and boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes before loading samples into the gel. The Mini-Protean System (Bio-Rad) was used to run the gels in Tris-Glycine-SDS buffer (TGS).

After gel electrophoresis, proteins were transferred to a Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane in a wet system at 100 V for 60 minutes with cold transference buffer. Before immunoblotting, the PDVF membrane was blocked with TBS-Tween 20 (Tris-buffered Saline) 1% BSA for 45 minutes at RT. Then the membrane was incubated with the primary antibody diluted in TBST 0.1% BSA for 2 hours at RT or overnight at 4°C.

The following antibodies were used in this thesis:

Protein	Host	Dilution	Reference	Provider
c-Caspase3	Rabbit	1/1000	9661S	Cell Signaling
E-Cadherin	Mouse	1/1000	610182	BD Transduction Labs
Fibronectin1	Rabbit	1/1000	ab2413	Abcam

#### Table 4: List of antibodies used in the thesis.

Fz2	Rabbit	1/1000	ab52565	Abcam
HA tag	Mouse	1/1000	H9658	Sigma
JNK2	Rabbit	1/1000	178953	Abcam
Lamin B	Rabbit	1/1000	ab16048	Abcam
LRP5/6	Rabbit	1/1000	2560S	Cell Signaling
pChk1	Rabbit	1/1000	2348	Cell Signaling
pJNK2	Rabbit	1/1000	07-175	Millipore
pSMAD2	Rabbit	1/1000	3108	Cell Signaling
pSTAT3	Rabbit	1/1000	9145S	Cell Signaling
pTyrosine general	Mouse	1/1000	4370	Cell Signaling
Ror1	Rabbit	1/1000	4102S	Cell Signaling
Ror2	Mouse	1/1000	Sc-374174	Santa Cruz
SMAD2/3	Rabbit	1/1000	8685	Cell Signaling
Snail1	Rabbit	1/1000	3879	Cell Signaling
STAT3	Mouse	1/1000	Sc8019	Santa Cruz
Wnt5a	Goat	1/1000	AF645	R&D Systems
αSMA	Mouse	1/1000	A2547	Sigma
β-Actin	Mouse	1/10000	A5441	Sigma

After incubation, the primary antibody was removed from the membrane. Then, the membrane was washed three times with TBST. After washes, the membrane was incubated with the specific secondary antibody for 1 hour at RT. Finally, the membrane was washed three times again with TBST. Membrane was developed with Immobilon Western Chemiluminiscent HRP Substrate (Millipore) in Alliance Q9 (UVITEC) chemiluminescence imager. When indicated, protein levels were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 3.3. Dephosphorylation assay

This assay was performed to analyze the phosphorylation level of Snail1 after treatment with paclitaxel. After overnight treatment with paclitaxel cells were lysed with RIPA buffer (with protease inhibitors) and cellular extracts were separated in three different conditions. In two conditions, cellular extracts were incubated for 1 hour with phosphatase inhibitors at 4°C or 37°C in order to maintain protein phosphorylation. In the third condition, cellular extracts were

incubated for 1 hour with calf intestinal phosphatase (CIP) at 37<sup>a</sup>C. After incubation, protein concentration was determined and samples were analyzed by WB.

## 4. RNA analysis

#### 4.1. RNA extraction

Before starting RNA extraction protocol, cells were washed two times with cold PBS. Then, cells were lysed in TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). The volume of the reagent used depends on the culture plate surface. The lysates were mixed with 200 µL chloroform and 300 µL water and tubes were vortexed and incubated for 2 minutes. Then, tubes were centrifuged at 12000 g for 20 minutes at 4°C. The aqueous phase of the samples was transferred to a new eppendorf tube and mixed with 500 µL RNase free isopropanol and tubes were incubated for 20 minutes at RT to precipitate RNA. Next, tubes were centrifuged at 12000g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with RNase free 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 12000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Ethanol was completely removed and the RNA pellet was resuspended in 30-50 µL RNase free water and incubated for 5 minutes at 55°C.

#### 4.2. Quantitative Real Time PCR (RT-qPCR)

RNA was retrotranscribed using First Strand cDNA Synthesis KIT (Roche) following manufacturer's protocol. Triplicates of 40-100 ng cDNA were amplified using the SYBR Green LightCycler 480 Real Time System (Roche). The primers used fo RT-qPCR in this Thesis are listed in Table 5.

Gene	Forward (5'-3')	Reverse (5'-3')
AXIN2	TGTCTTAAAGGTCTTGAGGGTTGAC	CAACAGATCATCCCATCCAACA
BTRC	CACTCACAGCTTTCCAGACAT	TGCTGCAAGAGAAGGCACTC
CDH1	CCTGGGCAGAGTGAATTTTG	GGCGTAGACCAAGAAATGGA
CCND1	CTCAGACTTGCGCGTCACAG	CAGAACACGGCTCACGCTTA
FBXL5	CTTACCCAGACTGACATTTCAGATTC	GAAGACTCTGGCAGCAACCAA
FBXL14	AACGGATCCACCATGGAGACCCACA TCTCATGC	CAAGATATCCCCTTCTGGAGCTTCCC
FZD2	GTGCCGCTCTATCTGTGAGC	CTCCGTCCTCGGAGTGGTT
HPRT	GGCCAGACTTTGTTGGATTTG	TGCGCTCATCTTAGGCTTTGT
MMP9	TTCAGGGAGACGCCCATTTC	TGGGTGTAGAGTCTCTCGCT

#### Table 5: Primer sequences used in quantitative RT-PCR.

MMP13	AAGGACCCTGGAGCACTCAT	CCTGGACCATAGAGAGACTGGA
ROR1	AGTGCCTACCTCATCATGGAAC	GAGCCATAGATGGTGGACCG
ROR2	CTCGAGTAAAAGGGACACCAGAGTG GC	AAGCTTCCCTTATATTCCTCAGGCTTC AA
RYK	AGCTCCAACCACTTCTACGC	AACCACTTCTACGCGTGTGT
SIAH2	TTTGCCATCGTCCTGCTCAT	AACCACTTCTACGCGTGTGT
SNAI1	GTGCCTCGACCACTATGCC	GCTGCTGGAAGGTAAACTCTGG
TGFB1	AAGTGGAGCAGCACGTGGAG	CAGCCGGTTGCTCAGGTATC
TGFB2	TACTACGCCAAGGAGGTTTACAAA	TTGTTCAGGCACTCTGGCTTT
TGFB3	CTGGCCCTTTACAACAGC	CACTGAGGACACATTGAAGC
TWIST1	CAGCTACGCCTTCTCGGTCT	CTCGGACAAGCTGAGCAAGA
USP17L2	GGTCTTTGTCTCCAGAGGGC	GGTCTTTGTCTCCAGAGGGC
USP27X	CGTCCCTGGCCCATCTTATC	CAGGGCTTAAGGGTCTTGGG
USP37	TCCTGCCTGTAGCCAGAAG	GGCTTTGTTTCGCTCCACTG
WNT5A	GCTCCCCGACAGCCTGGTCT	AGGACATGGCCGCTGGGTGT
ZEB1	CGGCGCAATAACGTTACAAA	TTTCACTGCTCCTCCCTGGT

# 5. Cell proliferation and viability assays

#### 5.1. MTT assay

Cell proliferation and cell viability in cell lines were analyzed by MTT assay. For cell viability assays, 6000 cells were seeded in 96 well plates and after 24 hours cells were treated with the drugs at different concentrations for 24 hours. For cell proliferation assays, 4000 cells were seeded. Cell viability and proliferation was measured by adding 0.5 mg/mL of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT; Sigma-Aldrich) in DMEM 0% FBS for 3-4 hours at 37°C. After incubation, cells were solubilized in a solution of DMSO and isopropanol (1:4). The absorbance of the resulting solution was quantified in an Infinite M200 microplate reader (Tecan). The absorbance value at 590 nm was equivalent to the number of viable cells.

#### 5.2. Celltiter glo assay

For MTOs viability experiments celltiter glo (Promega) was used. 4000 MTO cells were seeded in Matrigel (normal MTOs growing conditions) in 96 well plates and after 72 hours cells were treated with the different treatments. 72 hours later, the assay was performed by adding 15µL of celltiter

glo in each well. After incubation, luminescence was analyzed with FB-12 luminometer (Berthold Detection Systems). The luminescence value was equivalent to the number of viable cells.

#### 5.3. Colony formation assays

For the 2D colony formation assays, 1000 cells were seeded in 6 well plates and allowed to grow for 10 days in DMEM 1% or 10% FBS. After 10 days of incubation, cells were fixed and stained with a buffer containing 30% methanol and 0.5% Crystal violet for 20 minutes. After incubation, cells were washed with PBS and the number of colonies were quantified with ImageJ software.

For the 3D soft agar colony formation assays, 6 well plates were firstly coated with a mix of DMEM (supplemented with Sodium Bicarbonate, Sodium Chloride, FBS and antibiotics to a final concentration of 2x) and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature to allow agar polymerization. After incubation, a mix of 0.6% agar and DMEM 10% FBS containing 5000 cells/well was added on top of the 1% agar. The mix was incubated 30 minutes again to allow agar polymerization. Finally, fresh DMEM 10% was added twice weekly on the top to avoid agar desiccation. After 21 days of grow, the experiments were stopped and MTT assay was performed. Micrographs were taken and colonies were quantified with ImageJ software.

### 6. Migration and invasion assays

Migration and invasion assays were performed using the Boyden chamber system. For both assays,  $40-100\times10^3$  cells were resuspended in DMEM 0.1% FBS in a final volume of 150 µL. For invasion assays, the transwells (3442, Costar) were first coated with 50 µL Matrigel 0.5 µg/µL (354230, Corning) and incubated for 2h at 37°C. Then, cells were seeded on top of the coating and incubated for 48 hours. For migration assays, cells were directly seeded on the transwells and incubated for 16 hours. DMEM 10% FBS was used as chemoattractant added in the lower compartment. After stopping the assay, cells were fixed with 100% MetOH for 20 minutes and the non-invading cells were removed from the transwell. Invading cells were stained with Crystal Violet (30% in MetOH) for 15 minutes. After three washes with PBS, cells were eluted with 30% Acetic Acid and absorbance was analyzed at 590 nm with the Infinite M200 microplate reader (Tecan).

For co-culture invasion assays, 80x10<sup>3</sup> tumoral cells and 20x10<sup>3</sup> GFP+ mMSCs were seeded on top of Matrigel-coated transwells. FBS gradient was used as chemoattractant as in single culture invasion assay. The assay was stopped at 24h to analyze fibroblast invasion. Cells were washed with PBS and fixed with 4% p-formaldehyde during 20 minutes. Non-invading cells were removed with a cotton swap and transwell membranes were mounted for microscopy analysis. Five random photos (4x) of each membrane were taken to analyze invasion of GFP+ fibroblasts. Number of invading cells was quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 7. SNAI1 promoter activity assay

Reporter assays were carried out seeding cells in 20 cm<sup>2</sup> plates and transfected with 50ng of two *SNAI1* promoter fragments cloned in pGL3<sup>\*</sup> basic vector (Promega), pGL3<sup>\*</sup> *SNAI1* -869/+59 and pGL3<sup>\*</sup> *SNAI1* -194/+59. They were co-transfected with 1ng of pTK-Renilla, the plasmid used as control that contains the Renilla Luciferase gene under the control of a constitutively active promoter. After 24 hours, cells were trypsinized and seeded in 96-well plates. 24 hours later, cells were lysed with the kit Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) and the promoter activity was quantified using the FB-12 luminometer (Berthold Detection Systems). The relative Firefly/Renilla Luciferase activity determines the Snail1 promoter activity. The mean ± SD of three independent experiments is represented.

#### 8. TGF-β reporter assay

The TGF-β reporter assay was used to determine the production of TGF-β by Ror2-depleted cells. HEK 293T TGF-β activity reporter cells were generated after infection with TGF/SMAD Luciferase Reporter Lentivirus (Kerafast). HEK 293T cells were treated with conditioned medium from control and Ror2-depleted HCT116 cells. After overnight treatment with conditioned medium, cells were lysed with the kit Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) and luciferase activity was measured with FB-12 luminometer (Berthold Detection Systems). The mean ± SD of three independent experiments is represented.

#### 9. Human tumor data analysis

The co-expression data of mRNA and protein was obtained from TCGA Colorectal Adenocarcinoma (Firehose Legacy) data in the cBioPortal public database (http://www.cbioportal.org/) on May,  $2020^{202,203}$ . In this study we assessed the mRNA expression of *ROR2, SNAI1, LRP5, LRP6, MMP9, MMP13, WNT5A, TGFB1, AXIN2* and *FZD2*. Protein expression of Snail1 and  $\beta$ -catenin was also analyzed.

The expression of *SNAI1, ROR2* and *WNT5A* in colorectal cancer patients treated with oxaliplatin was assessed using the public available Gene Expression Omnibus dataset GSE83129. Gene

expression data were downloaded from the GEO (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo) and analyzed using the Geo2R function from NCBI (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/geo2r) on April, 2021.

### **10.Statistical analyses**

All the results shown were representative from at least three independent experiments. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SD. When appropriate, statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, USA) and data were analyzed for significance using Unpaired T-Test. P values < 0.05 are symbolized with one asterisk, p < 0.01 with two asterisks and p < 0.001 with three asterisks.

#### **11.Reagents and solutions**

1% SDS lysis buffer: 1% SDS,

LB: 0.5% w/v yeast extract, 1% w/v bacto-tryptone, 170 mM NaCl, pH 7.0.

**Loading buffer 5x**: 200 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 15% glycerol, 8% SDS, 0.3%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 0.5% bromophenol blue.

**PBS**: 140 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> / 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (pH 7.4).

**PEI**: 1 mg/mL PEI pH 7.0.

RIPA lysis buffer: 1% NP-40, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS and PBS up to final volume.

**Stripping buffer**: 2% SDS, 62.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 100 mM β-mercaptoethanol.

TGS buffer: 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3, 192 mM glycine, 5% SDS.

Transference buffer: 192 mM glycine, 25 mM Tris-HCl, methanol 10%.

Trypan blue solution: 0.4 % w/v Trypan Blue in PBS.

TTBS: 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.1 % Tween-20, 135 mM NaCl.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Sadanandam, A. *et al.* A colorectal cancer classification system that associates cellular phenotype and responses to therapy. *Nat. Med.* **19**, 619–625 (2013).
- 2. Kuipers, E. J. et al. Colorectal cancer. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 1, 1–25 (2015).
- Cadigan, K. M. & Nusse, R. Wnt signaling: A common theme in animal development. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3286–3305 (1997).
- Logan, C. Y. & Nusse, R. the Wnt Signaling Pathway in Development and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 20, 781–810 (2004).
- 5. Bryan T. MacDonald and Xi He. Frizzled and LRP5 / 6 Receptors for Wnt / b -Catenin Signaling. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **4**, a007880 (2015).
- Kikuchi, A., Yamamoto, H., Sato, A. & Matsumoto, S. Wnt5a: Its signalling, functions and implication in diseases. *Acta Physiol.* 204, 17–33 (2012).
- Barker, N. Adult intestinal stem cells: Critical drivers of epithelial homeostasis and regeneration. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 15, 19–33 (2014).
- Schepers, A. & Clevers, H. Wnt Signaling, Stem Cells, and Cancer of the Gastrointestinal Tract. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4, a007989 (2012).
- Schatoff, E. M., Leach, B. I. & Dow, L. E. WNT Signaling and Colorectal Cancer. *Curr. Colorectal Cancer Rep.* 13, 101–110 (2017).
- Voloshanenko, O. *et al.* β -catenin-independent regulation of Wnt target genes by RoR2 and ATF2 / ATF4 in colon cancer cells. *Sci. Rep.* 1–14 (2018) doi:10.1038/s41598-018-20641-5.
- Bakker, E. R. M. *et al.* Wnt5a promotes human colon cancer cell migration and invasion but does not augment intestinal tumorigenesis in apc1638N mice. *Carcinogenesis* 34, 2629– 2638 (2013).
- 12. Willert, K. & Nusse, R. Wnt proteins. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **4**, 1–14 (2012).
- Komekado, H., Yamamoto, H., Chiba, T. & Kikuchi, A. Glycosylation and palmitoylation of Wnt-3a are coupled to produce an active form of Wnt-3a. *Genes to Cells* 12, 521–534 (2007).

Bibliography

- Van den Heuvel, M., Harryman-Samos, C., Klingensmith, J., Perimon, N. & Nusse, R.
   Mutations in the segment polarity genes wingless and porcupine impair secretion of the wingless protein. *EMBO J.* 12, 5293–5302 (1993).
- 15. Jiang, J. *et al.* A novel porcupine inhibitor blocks WNT pathways and attenuates cardiac hypertrophy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* **1864**, 3459–3467 (2018).
- 16. Li, J. *et al.* Porcupine Inhibitor LGK974 Downregulates the Wnt Signaling Pathway and Inhibits Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2020**, (2020).
- Madan, B. & Virshup, D. M. Targeting Wnts at the Source-New Mechanisms, New Biomarkers, New Drugs. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 14, 1087–1094 (2015).
- Kikuchi, A., Yamamoto, H., Sato, A. & Matsumoto, S. New Insights into the Mechanism of Wnt Signaling Pathway Activation. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology vol. 291 (Elsevier Inc., 2011).
- 19. Wang, Y., Chang, H., Rattner, A. & Nathans, J. *Frizzled Receptors in Development and Disease. Current Topics in Developmental Biology* vol. 117 (Elsevier Inc., 2016).
- 20. Grumolato, L. *et al.* Canonical and noncanonical Wnts use a common mechanism to activate completely unrelated coreceptors. *Genes Dev.* **24**, 2517–2530 (2010).
- 21. Vinson, C., Conover, S. & Adler, P. A Drosophila tissue polarity locus encodes a protein containing seven potential transmembrane domains. *Nature* **338**, 263–4 (1989).
- Hsieh, J. C., Rattner, A., Smallwood, P. M. & Nathans, J. Biochemical characterization of Wnt-frizzled interactions using a soluble, biologically active vertebrate Wnt protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96, 3546–3551 (1999).
- Tauriello, D. V. F. *et al.* Wnt/β-catenin signaling requires interaction of the Dishevelled DEP domain and C terminus with a discontinuous motif in Frizzled. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **109**, (2012).
- 24. Green, J., Nusse, R. & van Amerongen, R. The role of Ryk and Ror receptor tyrosine kinases in wnt signal transduction. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **6**, (2014).
- He, X., Semenov, M., Tamai, K. & Zeng, X. LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/βcatenin signaling: Arrows point the way. *Development* 131, 1663–1677 (2004).
- Niehrs, C. & Shen, J. Regulation of Lrp6 phosphorylation. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 67, 2551–2562 (2010).
- Davidson, G. *et al.* Casein kinase 1γ couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. *Nature* **438**, 867–872 (2005).
- MacDonald, B. T., Yokota, C., Tamai, K., Zeng, X. & He, X. Wnt signal amplification via activity, cooperativity, and regulation of multiple intracellular PPPSP motifs in the Wnt coreceptor LRP6. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 16115–16123 (2008).
- Chen, Q. *et al.* Tyrosine phosphorylation of LRP 6 by Src and Fer inhibits Wnt/β-catenin signalling . *EMBO Rep.* 15, 1254–1267 (2014).
- 30. Tamai, K. *et al.* A Mechanism for Wnt Coreceptor Activation. *Mol. Cell* **13**, 149–156 (2004).
- Yamamoto, H., Sakane, H., Yamamoto, H., Michiue, T. & Kikuchi, A. Wnt3a and Dkk1 Regulate Distinct Internalization Pathways of LRP6 to Tune the Activation of β-Catenin Signaling. *Dev. Cell* 15, 37–48 (2008).
- 32. Vinyoles, M. *et al.* Multivesicular GSK3 Sequestration upon Wnt Signaling Is Controlled by p120-Catenin/Cadherin Interaction with LRP5/6. *Mol. Cell* **53**, 444–457 (2014).
- 33. Gordon, M. D. & Nusse, R. Wnt signaling: Multiple pathways, multiple receptors, and multiple transcription factors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 22429–22433 (2006).
- 34. Casagolda, D. *et al.* A p120-catenin-CK1ε complex regulates Wnt signaling. *J. Cell Sci.* 123, 2621–31 (2010).
- Ishiyama, N. *et al.* Dynamic and Static Interactions between p120 Catenin and E-Cadherin Regulate the Stability of Cell-Cell Adhesion. *Cell* 141, 117–128 (2010).
- Hoshino, T. *et al.* Regulation of E-cadherin endocytosis by nectin through afadin, Rap1, and p120ctn. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 24095–24103 (2005).
- Roura, S., Miravet, S., Piedra, J., García De Herreros, A. & Duñachl, M. Regulation of Ecadherin/catenin association by tyrosine phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 36734–36740 (1999).
- Piedra, J. *et al.* p120 Catenin-Associated Fer and Fyn Tyrosine Kinases Regulate -Catenin
  Tyr-142 Phosphorylation and -Catenin- -Catenin Interaction. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 2287–2297

(2003).

- del Valle-Perez, B., Arques, O., Vinyoles, M., de Herreros, A. G. & Dunach, M. Coordinated
  Action of CK1 Isoforms in Canonical Wnt Signaling. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **31**, 2877–2888 (2011).
- 40. Duñach, M., Del Valle-Pérez, B. & García de Herreros, A. p120-catenin in canonical Wnt signaling. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **52**, 327–339 (2017).
- 41. Vinyoles, M. *et al.* Activation of CK1ε by PP2A/PR61ε is required for the initiation of Wnt signaling. *Oncogene* **36**, 429–438 (2017).
- 42. Wong, H. C. *et al.* Direct binding of the PDZ domain of Dishevelled to a conserved internal sequence in the C-terminal region of Frizzled. *Mol. Cell* **12**, 1251–1260 (2003).
- del Valle-Pérez, B. *et al.* Wnt controls the transcriptional activity of Kaiso through CK1εdependent phosphorylation of p120-catenin [J. Cell Sci., 124, (2011) 2298-2309]. *J. Cell Sci.*129, 873 (2016).
- García de Herreros & Duñach. Intracellular Signals Activated by Canonical Wnt Ligands
  Independent of GSK3 Inhibition and β-Catenin Stabilization. *Cells* 8, 1148 (2019).
- 45. Semenov, M. V., Habas, R., MacDonald, B. T. & He, X. SnapShot: Noncanonical Wnt Signaling Pathways. *Cell* **131**, 1378.e1-1378.e2 (2007).
- Nishita, M. *et al.* Ror2/Frizzled Complex Mediates Wnt5a-Induced AP-1 Activation by Regulating Dishevelled Polymerization. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **30**, 3610–3619 (2010).
- 47. Masiakowski, P. & Carroll, R. D. A novel family of cell surface receptors with tyrosine kinase-like domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**, 26181–26190 (1992).
- 48. Forrester, W. C., Dell, M., Perens, E. & Garriga, G. A C. elegans Ror receptor tyresine kinase regulates cell motility and asymmetric cell division. *Nature* **400**, 881–885 (1999).
- 49. Billiard, J. *et al.* The orphan receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2 modulates canonical Wnt signaling in osteoblastic cells. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **19**, 90–101 (2005).
- 50. Oishi, I. *et al.* The receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2 is involved in non-canonical Wnt5a/JNK signalling pathway. *Genes to Cells* **8**, 645–654 (2003).
- 51. Liu, Y., Rubin, B., Bodine, P. V. N. & Billiard, J. Wnt5a induces homodimerization and

activation of Ror2 receptor tyrosine kinase. J. Cell. Biochem. 105, 497-502 (2008).

- Akbarzadeh, S. *et al.* The deleted in Brachydactyly B domain of ROR2 is required for receptor activation by recruitment of Src. *PLoS One* 3, 1–8 (2008).
- Curto, J. *et al.* CK1ε and p120-catenin control Ror2 function in noncanonical Wnt signaling.
  *Mol. Oncol.* 12, 611–629 (2018).
- 54. Kani, S. *et al.* The receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2 associates with and is activated by casein kinase I∈. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 50102–50109 (2004).
- 55. van Bokhoven, H. *et al.* Mutation of the gene encoding the ROR2 tyrosine kinase causes autosomal recessive Robinow syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* **25**, 423–26 (2000).
- Ali, B. R. *et al.* Novel Robinow syndrome causing mutations in the proximal region of the frizzled-like domain of ROR2 are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Hum. Genet.* 122, 389–395 (2007).
- 57. Oldridge, M. *et al.* Dominant mutations in ROR2, encoding an orphan receptor tyrosine kinase, cause brachydactyly type B. *Nat. Genet.* **24**, 275–278 (2000).
- Rebagay, G., Yan, S., Liu, C. & Cheung, N. K. ROR1 and ROR2 in human malignancies:
  Potentials for targeted therapy. *Front. Oncol.* 2, 1–8 (2012).
- 59. Ford, C. E., Qian Ma, S. S., Quadir, A. & Ward, R. L. The dual role of the novel Wnt receptor tyrosine kinase, ROR2, in human carcinogenesis. *Int. J. Cancer* **133**, 779–787 (2013).
- Reddy, U., Phatak, S. & Pleasure, D. Human neural tissues express a truncated Ror1 receptor tyrosine kinase, lacking both extracellular and transmembrane domainsTitle. *Oncogene* 13, 1555–59 (1996).
- 61. Tseng, H. C., Lyu, P. C. & Lin, W. chang. Nuclear localization of orphan receptor protein kinase (Ror1) is mediated through the juxtamembrane domain. *BMC Cell Biol.* **11**, (2010).
- 62. Tseng, H. C. *et al.* Cytoskeleton network and cellular migration modulated by nuclearlocalized receptor tyrosine kinase ROR1. *Anticancer Res.* **31**, 4239–4249 (2011).
- Endo, M., Doi, R., Nishita, M. & Minami, Y. Ror family receptor tyrosine kinases regulate the maintenance of neural progenitor cells in the developing neocortex. *J. Cell Sci.* 125, 2017–2029 (2012).

- Oishi, I. *et al.* Spatio-temporally regulated expression of receptor tyrosine kinases, mRor1, mRor2, during mouse development: Implications in development and function of the nervous system. *Genes to Cells* 4, 41–56 (1999).
- Baskar, S. *et al.* Unique cell surface expression of receptor tyrosine kinase ROR1 in human
  B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 14, 396–404 (2008).
- Hojjat-Farsangi, M. *et al.* Inhibition of the Receptor Tyrosine Kinase ROR1 by Anti-ROR1
  Monoclonal Antibodies and siRNA Induced Apoptosis of Melanoma Cells. *PLoS One* 8, 19–20 (2013).
- 67. Fradkin, L. G., Dura, J. M. & Noordermeer, J. N. Ryks: new partners for Whts in the developing and regenerating nervous system. *Trends Neurosci.* **33**, 84–92 (2010).
- Kim, G. H., Her, J. H. & Han, J. K. Ryk cooperates with Frizzled 7 to promote Wnt11mediated endocytosis and is essential for Xenopus laevis convergent extension movements. J. Cell Biol. 182, 1073–1082 (2008).
- 69. Li, P. *et al.* Stat3 activates the receptor tyrosine kinase like orphan receptor-1 gene in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *PLoS One* **5**, (2010).
- 70. Lu, W., Yamamoto, V., Ortega, B. & Baltimore, D. Mammalian Ryk is a Wnt coreceptor required for stimulation of neurite outgrowth. *Cell* **119**, 97–108 (2004).
- Berndt, J. D. *et al.* Mindbomb 1, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, forms a complex with RYK to activate Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *J. Cell Biol.* **194**, 737–750 (2011).
- Lyu, J., Yamamoto, V. & Lu, W. Cleavage of the Wnt Receptor Ryk Regulates Neuronal Differentiation during Cortical Neurogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 15, 773–780 (2008).
- Mikels, A. J. & Nusse, R. Purified Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits β-catenin-TCF signaling depending on receptor context. *PLoS Biol.* 4, 570–582 (2006).
- 74. Mikels, A., Minami, Y. & Nusse, R. Ror2 receptor requires tyrosine kinase activity to mediate Wnt5A signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**, 30167–30176 (2009).
- 75. Chen, W. *et al.* Dishevelled 2 recruits β-arrestin 2 to mediate Wnt5A-stimulated endocytosis of frizzled 4. *Science (80-. ).* **301**, 1391–1394 (2003).
- 76. Shojima, K. et al. Wnt5a promotes cancer cell invasion and proliferation by receptor-

mediated endocytosis-dependent and -independent mechanisms, respectively. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 8042 (2015).

- 77. Sato, A., Yamamoto, H., Sakane, H., Koyama, H. & Kikuchi, A. Wnt5a regulates distinct signalling pathways by binding to Frizzled2. *EMBO J.* **29**, 41–54 (2010).
- Yamagata, K. *et al.* Dissection of Wnt5a-Ror2 signaling leading to matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-13) expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 1588–1599 (2012).
- 79. Gujral, T. S. *et al.* A noncanonical frizzled2 pathway regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis. *Cell* **159**, 844–856 (2014).
- Topol, L. *et al.* Wnt-5a inhibits the canonical Wnt pathway by promoting GSK-3independent β-catenin degradation. *J. Cell Biol.* **162**, 899–908 (2003).
- Villarroel, A. *et al.* Src and Fyn define a new signaling cascade activated by canonical and non-canonical Wnt ligands and required for gene transcription and cell invasion. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* (2019) doi:10.1007/s00018-019-03221-2.
- 82. Almeida, M., Han, L., Bellido, T., Manolagas, S. C. & Kousteni, S. Wnt proteins prevent apoptosis of both uncommitted osteoblast progenitors and differentiated osteoblast by βcatenin-dependent and -independent signaling cascades involving Src/ERK and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 41342–41351 (2005).
- Lai, S. S. *et al.* Ror2-Src signaling in metastasis of mouse melanoma cells is inhibited by NRAGE. *Cancer Genet.* 205, 552–562 (2012).
- Rozovski, U. *et al.* STAT3-Induced Wnt5a Provides Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells with Survival Advantage. *J. Immunol.* **203**, 3078–3085 (2019).
- Lin, Y. *et al.* Stabilization of the transcription factors slug and twist by the deubiquitinase dub3 is a key requirement for tumor metastasis. *Oncotarget* 8, 75127–75140 (2017).
- Wu, Y. *et al.* Dub3 inhibition supresses breast cancer invaion and metastasis by promoting Snail1 degradation. *Nat. Commun.* 1–16 (2017) doi:10.1038/ncomms14228.
- Li, Y., Liu, Y., Xu, Y., Voorhees, J. J. & Fisher, G. J. UV irradiation induces Snail expression by AP-1 dependent mechanism in human skin keratinocytes. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 60, 105–113 (2010).

- 88. Liu, W. *et al.* Cisplatin-selected resistance is associated with increased motility and stemlike properties via activation of STAT3 / Snail axis in atypical teratoid / rhabdoid tumor cells. *Oncotarget* **6**, (2015).
- 89. Dongre, A. & Weinberg, R. A. New insights into the mechanisms of epithelial– mesenchymal transition and implications for cancer. *Nat. Rev.* **20**, 69–84 (2019).
- 90. Thiery, J. P., Acloque, H., Huang, R. Y. J. & Nieto, M. A. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transitions in Development and Disease. *Cell* **139**, 871–890 (2009).
- De Herreros, A. G., Peiró, S., Nassour, M. & Savagner, P. Snail family regulation and epithelial mesenchymal transitions in breast cancer progression. *J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia* 15, 135–147 (2010).
- Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674 (2011).
- Morel, A.-P., Lièvre, C., Thomas, G., Hinkal, G. & Lie, M. Generation of Breast Cancer Stem Cells through Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. *PLoS One* 3, 1–7 (2008).
- Mazzolini, R. *et al.* Snail1 transcription factor controls telomere transcription and integrity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46, 146–158 (2018).
- Mani, S. A. *et al.* The Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Generates Cells with Properties of Stem Cells. *Cell* 133, 704–715 (2008).
- Kondaveeti, Y., Reed, I. K. G. & White, B. A. Epithelial–mesenchymal transition induces similar metabolic alterations in two independent breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Lett.* 364, 44–58 (2015).
- 97. Acloque, H. *et al.* Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions : the importance of changing cell state in development and disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **119**, 1438–49 (2009).
- Klymkowsky, M. W. & Savagner, P. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition: A Cancer Researcher's Conceptual Friend and Foe. *Am. J. Pathol.* **174**, 1588–1593 (2009).
- 99. Prall, F. Tumour budding in colorectal carcinoma. *Histopathology* **50**, 151–162 (2007).
- Brabletz, T. *et al.* Variable β-catenin expression in colorectal cancers indicates tumor progression driven by the tumor environment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 10356–61

(2001).

- 101. Baulida, J. & Garcia de Herreros, A. Snail1-driven plasticity of epithelial and mesenchymal cells sustains cancer malignancy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1856**, 55–61 (2015).
- 102. Labernadie, A. *et al.* A mechanically active heterotypic E-cadherin/N-cadherin adhesion enables fibroblasts to drive cancer cell invasion. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **19**, 224–237 (2017).
- Stanisavljevic, J. *et al.* Snail1-Expressing Fibroblasts in the Tumor Microenvironment
  Display Mechanical Properties That Support Metastasis. *Cancer Res.* **75**, 284–296 (2015).
- 104. Sala, L. *et al.* Abrogation of myofibroblast activities in metastasis and fibrosis by methyltransferase inhibition. *Int. J. Cancer* **145**, 3064–3077 (2019).
- 105. Baulida, J. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition transcription factors in cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Mol. Oncol.* **11**, 847–859 (2017).
- 106. Kaufhold, S. & Bonavida, B. Central role of Snail1 in the regulation of EMT and resistance in cancer : a target for therapeutic intervention. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* **33**, 1–19 (2014).
- 107. Baulida, J., Díaz, V. M. & García de Herreros, A. Snail1: A Transcriptional Factor Controlled at Multiple Levels. *J. Clin. Med.* **8**, 757 (2019).
- Lambies, G. *et al.* TGF b -Activated USP27X Deubiquitinase Regulates Cell Migration and Chemoresistance via Stabilization of Snail1. *Cancer Res.* **79**, 33–47 (2019).
- 109. Viñas-Castells, R. *et al.* Nuclear ubiquitination by FBXL5 modulates Snail1 DNA binding and stability. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **42**, 1079–1094 (2014).
- 110. Villagrasa, P. *et al.* Akt2 interacts with Snail1 in the E-cadherin promoter. *Oncogene* 1, 4022–4033 (2012).
- Escriva, M. *et al.* Repression of PTEN Phosphatase by Snail1 Transcriptional Factor during Gamma Radiation-Induced Apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 1528–1540 (2008).
- 112. Lee, J. *et al.* AKT phosphorylates H3-threonine 45 to facilitate termination of gene transcription in response to DNA damage. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **43**, 4505–4516 (2015).
- 113. Kudo-saito, C., Shirako, H., Takeuchi, T. & Kawakami, Y. Cancer Metastasis Is Accelerated through Immunosuppression during Snail-Induced EMT of Cancer Cells. *Cancer Cell* **15**,

195-206 (2009).

- 114. Zhuo, W. *et al.* Knockdown of Snail , a novel zinc finger transcription factor , via RNA interference increases A549 cell sensitivity to cisplatin via JNK / mitochondrial pathway. *Lung Cancer* **62**, 8–14 (2008).
- Hsu, D. S. *et al.* Regulation of Excision Repair Cross-Complementation Group 1 by Snail Contributes to Cisplatin Resistance in Head and Neck Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16, 4561– 4572 (2010).
- 116. Haslehurst, A. M. *et al.* EMT transcription factors snail and slug directly contribute to cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer. *BMC Cancer* **12**, (2012).
- Tsukita, S., Furuse, M. & Itoh, M. MULTIFUNCTIONAL STRANDS IN TIGHT JUNCTIONS. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 2, 285–93 (2001).
- 118. Thomason, H. A., Scothern, A., McHarg, S. & Garrod, D. R. Desmosomes : Adhesive strength and signalling in health and disease. *Biochem. J.* **429**, 419–33 (2010).
- 119. Perl, A., Wilgenbus, P., Dahl, U., Semb, H. & Christofori, G. A causal role for E-cadherin in the transition from adenoma to carcinoma. *Nature* **392**, 711–714 (1998).
- 120. Birchmeier, W. & Behrens, J. Cadherin expression in carcinomas: role in the formation of cell junctions and prevention of invasiveness. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1198**, 11–26 (1994).
- Solanas, G. *et al.* E-cadherin controls β -catenin and NF- κ B transcriptional activity in mesenchymal gene expression. 2224–2234 (2005) doi:10.1242/jcs.021667.
- 122. Batlle, E. *et al.* The transcription factor Snail is a repressor of E-cadherin gene expression in epithelial tumour cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2**, 84–89 (2000).
- Cano, A. *et al.* The transcription factor Snail controls epithelial mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, 76–83 (2000).
- Guaita, S. *et al.* Snail Induction of Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Tumor Cells Is Accompanied by MUC1 Repression and ZEB1 Expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 39209–39216 (2002).
- 125. Vandewalle, C., Van Roy, F. & Berx, G. The role of the ZEB family of transcription factors in development and disease. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **66**, 773–787 (2009).

- 126. Dave, N. *et al.* Functional Cooperation between Snail1 and Twist in the Regulation of ZEB1
  Expression during Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 12024–12032
  (2011).
- Fu, J. *et al.* The TWIST / Mi2 / NuRD protein complex and its essential role in cancer metastasis. *Cell Res.* 21, 275–289 (2011).
- Medici, D., Hay, E. D. & Goodenough, D. A. Cooperation between Snail and LEF-1
  Transcription Factors Is Essential for TGF-β1– induced Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition.
  Mol. Biol. Cell 17, 1871–1879 (2006).
- Bouard, C. *et al.* Interhelical loops within the bHLH domain are determinant in maintaining TWIST1 – DNA complexes. *J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn.* **32**, 226–241 (2014).
- Nieman, M. T., Prudoff, R. S., Johnson, K. R. & Wheelock, M. J. N-Cadherin Promotes Motility in Human Breast Cancer Cells Regardless of their E-Cadherin Expression. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 631–643 (1999).
- Hazan, R. B., Phillips, G. R., Qiao, R. F., Norton, L. & Aaronson, S. A. Exogenous Expression of N-Cadherin in Breast Cancer Cells Induces Cell Migration, Invasion, and Metastasis. *J. Cell Biol.* 148, 779–790 (2000).
- 132. Barkan, D., Green, J. E. & Chambers, A. F. Extracellular matrix : A gatekeeper in the transition from dormancy to metastatic growth. *Eur. J. Cancer* **46**, 1181–1188 (2010).
- 133. Radisky, E. S. & Radisky, D. C. Matrix Metalloproteinase-Induced Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **15**, 201–212 (2010).
- Thiery, J. P. & Sleeman, J. P. Complex networks orchestrate epithelial mesenchymal transitions. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 7, 131–142 (2006).
- 135. Zhang, J., Tian, X.-J. & Xing, J. Signal Transduction Pathways of EMT Induced by TGF-β, SHH, and WNT and Their Crosstalks. *J. Clin. Med.* **5**, 41 (2016).
- 136. Easwaran, V., Pishvaian, M. & Byers, S. Cross-regulation of β-catenin LEF / TCF and retinoid signaling pathways. *Curr. Biol.* **9**, 1415–1419 (1999).
- Jayachandran, A. *et al.* Thrombospondin 1 promotes an aggressive phenotype through epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human melanoma. *Oncotarget* 5, 5782–97 (2014).

- Yook, J. I. *et al.* A Wnt–Axin2–GSK3 β cascade regulates Snail1 activity in breast cancer cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 1398–406 (2006).
- Hernández-martínez, R., Ramkumar, N. & Anderson, K. V. p120-catenin regulates WNT signaling and EMT in the mouse embryo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 116, 16872–81 (2019).
- Xu, J. & Zhang, B. ROR2 promotes the epithelial mesenchymal transition by regulating MAPK / p38 signaling pathway in breast cancer. 1–12 (2020) doi:10.1002/jcb.29666.
- Murillo-garzón, V. *et al.* Frizzled-8 integrates Wnt-11 and transforming growth factor- β signaling in prostate cancer. *Nat. Commun.* 9, (2018).
- 142. Kwa, M. Q., Herum, K. M. & Brakebush, C. Cancer-associated fibroblasts : how do they contribute to metastasis ? *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* **0**, 0 (2019).
- Domínguez, D. *et al.* Phosphorylation Regulates the Subcellular Location and Activity of the Snail Transcriptional Repressor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 5078–5089 (2003).
- 144. Mingot, J., Vega, S., Maestro, B., Sanz, J. M. & Nieto, M. A. Characterization of Snail nuclear import pathways as representatives of C2H2 zinc finger transcription factors. *J. Cell Sci.* 122, 1452–1460 (2009).
- Nieto, M. A. THE SNAIL SUPERFAMILY OF ZINC-FINGER TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS. *Nat. Rev.* 3, 155--166 (2002).
- 146. Zhang, K. *et al.* Lats2 kinase potentiates Snail1 activity by promoting nuclear retention upon phosphorylation. *EMBO J.* **31**, 29–43 (2011).
- Yang, Z. *et al.* Pak1 Phosphorylation of Snail , a Master Regulator of Epithelial-to-Mesenchyme Transition , Modulates Snail 's Subcellular Localization and Functions. *Cancer Res.* 65, 3179–3185 (2005).
- 148. Stanisavljevic, J., Porta-de-la-Riva, M., Batlle, R., Garcia de Herreros, A. & Baulida, J. The p65 subunit of NF- k B and PARP1 assist Snail1 in activating fibronectin transcription. *J. Cell Sci.* 124, 4161–71 (2011).
- 149. Peinado, H., Ballestar, E., Esteller, M. & Cano, A. Snail Mediates E-Cadherin Repression by the Recruitment of the Sin3A/Histone Deacetylase 1 (HDAC1)/HDAC2 Complex. *Mol. Cell.*

Biol. 24, 306–319 (2004).

- Ayyanathan, K. *et al.* The Ajuba LIM Domain Protein Is a Corepressor for SNAG Domain Mediated Repression and Participates in Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling. *Cancer Res.* 67, 9097–9107 (2007).
- 151. Zhang, W. *et al.* Four and a half LIM protein 2 (FHL2) negatively regulates the transcription of E-cadherin through interaction with Snail1. *Eur. J. Cancer* 47, 121–130 (2010).
- Hou, Z. *et al.* The LIM Protein AJUBA Recruits Protein Arginine Methyltransferase 5 To Mediate SNAIL-Dependent Transcriptional Repression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 3198–3207 (2008).
- Balogun, B., Storz, P., Bastea, L. I. & Do, H. Protein Kinase D1 Maintains the Epithelial Phenotype by Inducing a DNA-Bound , Inactive SNAI1 Transcriptional Repressor Complex. *PLoS One* 7, e30459 (2012).
- 154. Herranz, N. *et al.* Polycomb Complex 2 Is Required for E-cadherin Repression by the Snail1 Transcription Factor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **28**, 4772–4781 (2008).
- 155. Peinado, H. *et al.* A molecular role for lysyl oxidase-like 2 enzyme in Snail regulation and tumor progression. *EMBO J.* **24**, 3446–3458 (2005).
- Herranz, N. *et al.* Lysyl oxidase-like 2 (LOXL2) oxidizes trimethylated lysine 4 in histone H3.
  *FEBS J.* 2, 4263–4273 (2016).
- 157. Stemmer, V., Craene, B. De, Berx, G. & Behrens, J. Snail promotes Wnt target gene expression and interacts with b -catenin. *Oncogene* **27**, 5075–5080 (2008).
- Wu, W. *et al.* Snail collaborates with EGR-1 and SP-1 to directly activate transcription of MMP 9 and ZEB1. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–13 (2017).
- 159. Kaufhold, S. & Bonavida, B. Central role of Snail1 in the regulation of EMT and resistance in cancer: A target for therapeutic intervention. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* **33**, 1–19 (2014).
- Furuse, M. *et al.* Occludin: A Novel Integral Membrane Protein Localizing at Tight Junctions. *J. Cell Biol.* **123**, 1777–1788 (1993).
- 161. Findley, M. K. & Koval, M. Critical Review Regulation and Roles for Claudin-family Tight

Junction Proteins. Life 61, 431–437 (2009).

- Martínez-Estrada, O. M. *et al.* The transcription factors Slug and Snail act as repressors of Claudin-1 expression in epithelial cells. *Biochem. J.* 457, 449–457 (2006).
- 163. Ikenouchi, J., Matsuda, M., Furuse, M. & Tsukita, S. Regulation of tight junctions during the epithelium- mesenchyme transition : direct repression of the gene expression of claudins / occludin by Snail. J. Cell Sci. 116, 1959–67 (2003).
- 164. Zaretsky, J. Z. *et al.* MUC1 gene overexpressed in breast cancer : structure and transcriptional activity of the MUC1 promoter and role of estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) in regulation of the MUC1 gene expression. *Mol. Cancer* 14, 1–14 (2006).
- 165. Sánchez-Tilló, E. *et al.* ZEB1 represses E-cadherin and induces an EMT by recruiting the SWI
  / SNF chromatin-remodeling protein BRG1. *Oncogene* 1, 3490–3500 (2010).
- 166. Mahabir, R. *et al.* Sustained elevation of Snail promotes glial-mesenchymal transition after irradiation in malignan glioma. *Neuro-Oncolofy* **16**, 671–685 (2014).
- 167. Qiao, B. I. N., Johnson, N. W. & Gao, J. I. N. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in oral squamous cell carcinoma triggered by transforming growth factor-ß1 is Snail family-dependent and correlates with matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 expressions. *Int. J. Oncol.* **37**, 663–668 (2010).
- Peiró, S. *et al.* Snail1 transcriptional repressor binds to its own promoter and controls its expression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 2077–2084 (2006).
- 169. Díaz, V. M., Viñas-Castells, R. & Garcia de Herreros, A. Regulation of the protein stability of EMT transcription factors. *Cell Adh. Migr.* **8**, 418–428 (2014).
- Díaz, V. M. & de Herreros, A. G. F-box proteins: Keeping the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in check. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 36, 71–79 (2016).
- 171. Wu, G. *et al.* Structure of a B-TrCP1-Skp1-B-Catenin Complex : Destruction Motif Binding and Lysine Specificity of the SCF B-TrCP1 Ubiquitin Ligase. *Mol. Cell* **11**, 1445–1456 (2003).
- 172. Zhou, B. P. *et al.* Dual regulation of Snail by GSK-3 β -mediated phosphorylation in control of epithelial mesenchymal transition. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **6**, 931–940 (2004).
- 173. Xu, Y. et al. Role of CK1 in GSK3 b -mediated phosphorylation and degradation of Snail.

Oncogene 29, 3124–3133 (2010).

- 174. Deshiere, A. *et al.* Unbalanced expression of CK2 kinase subunits is sufficient to drive epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition by Snail1 induction. *Oncogene* **32**, 1373–1383 (2013).
- 175. Viñas-Castells, R. *et al.* The Hypoxia-controlled FBXL14 Ubiquitin Ligase Targets SNAIL1 for Proteasome Degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 3794–3805 (2010).
- 176. Lander, R., Nordin, K. & Labonne, C. The F-box protein Ppa is a common regulator of core EMT factors Twist, Snail, Slug, and Sip1. *J. Cell Biol.* **194**, 17–25 (2011).
- 177. Cui, Y. H. *et al.* FBXL14 abolishes breast cancer progression by targeting CDCP1 for proteasomal degradation. *Oncogene* **37**, 5794–5809 (2018).
- He, Z. J. *et al.* miR-1306–3p targets FBXL5 to promote metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma through suppressing snail degradation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 504, 820–826 (2018).
- 179. Wu, Y., Evers, B. M. & Zhou, B. P. Small C-terminal Domain Phosphatase Enhances Snail Activity through Dephosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**, 640–648 (2009).
- 180. Hu, Q. *et al.* LncRNAs-directed PTEN enzymatic switch governs epithelial mesenchymal transition. *Cell Res.* (2019) doi:10.1038/s41422-018-0134-3.
- Sun, M. *et al.* Activation of the ATM-Snail pathway promotes breast cancer metastasis. *J. Mol. Cell Biol.* 4, 304–315 (2012).
- 182. Yu, Q., Zhou, B. P., Wu, Y., Sciences, N. & Biochemistry, C. The regulation of snail: on the ubiquitin edge. *Cancer Cell Microenviron.* **4**, (2017).
- Komander, D., Clague, M. J. & Urbé, S. Breaking the chains : structure and function of the deubiquitinases. *Nat. Rev.* 10, 550–563 (2009).
- Liu, T. *et al.* CDK4/6-dependent activation of DUB3 regulates cancer metastasis through SNAIL1. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 13923 (2017).
- 185. Xiao, Z. et al. USP37 is a SNAI1 deubiquitinase. Am. J. Cancer Res. 9, 2749–2759 (2019).
- Cai, J. *et al.* USP37 Promotes Lung Cancer Cell Migration by Stabilizing Snail Protein via Deubiquitination. *Front. Genet.* **10**, 1–9 (2020).

- Barberà, M. J. *et al.* Regulation of Snail transcription during epithelial to mesenchymal transition of tumor cells. *Oncogene* 23, 7345–7354 (2004).
- Julien, S. *et al.* Activation of NF-kB by Akt upregulates Snail expression and induces epithelium mesenchyme transition. *Oncogene* 26, 7445–7456 (2007).
- Jo, E., Park, S. J., Choi, Y. S., Jeon, W. & Kim, B. Kaempferol Suppresses Transforming
  Growth Factor- β 1 Induced Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Migration of A549
  Lung Cancer Cells by Inhibiting Akt1-Mediated Phosphorylation of Smad3 at Threonine 179. Neoplasia 17, 525–537 (2015).
- 190. Francí, C. *et al.* Expression of Snail protein in tumor stroma interface. *Oncogene* 25, 5134–5144 (2006).
- Batlle, R. *et al.* Snail1 controls TGF- b responsiveness and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Oncogene* **32**, 3381–3389 (2013).
- Alba-Castellón, L. *et al.* Snail1-Dependent Activation of Cancer- Associated Fibroblast
  Controls Epithelial Tumor Cell Invasion and Metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 2, 6205–6218 (2016).
- Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Guo, Y. & Yue, Y. Novel role of Snail 1 in promoting tumor neoangiogenesis. *Biosci. Rep.* 39, 1–7 (2019).
- 194. Kokudo, T. *et al.* Snail is required for TGF  $\beta$  -induced endothelial- mesenchymal transition of embryonic stem cell- derived endothelial cells. *J. Cell Sci.* **121**, 3317–3324 (2008).
- 195. Brenot, A., Knolhoff, B. L., Denardo, D. G. & Longmore, G. D. SNAIL1 action in tumor cells influences macrophage polarization and metastasis in breast cancer through altered GM-CSF secretion. *Oncogenesis* **7**, (2018).
- 196. Bellam, N. & Pasche, B. TGF-β Signaling Alterations and Colon Cancer. *Cancer Treat. Res.* 155, 85–103 (2010).
- Jung, B., Staudacher, J. J. & Beauchamp, D. Transforming Growth Factor β Superfamily Signaling in Development of Colorectal Cancer. *Gastroenterology* **152**, 36–52 (2017).
- Fleming, N. I. *et al.* SMAD2, SMAD3 and SMAD4 mutations in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 73, 725–735 (2013).
- 199. Miyaki, M. et al. Higher frequency of Smad4 gene mutation in human colorectal cancer

with distant metastasis. Oncogene 18, 3098–3103 (1999).

- 200. Woodford-Richens, K. L. *et al.* SMAD4 mutations in colorectal cancer probably occur before chromosomal instability, but after divergence of the microsatellite instability pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 9719–9723 (2001).
- 201. Galli, L. M., Barnes, T. L., Secrest, S. S., Kadowaki, T. & Burrus, L. W. Porcupine-mediated lipid-modification regulates the activity and distribution of Wnt proteins in the chick neural tube. *Development* **134**, 3339–3348 (2007).
- 202. Cerami, E. *et al.* The cBio Cancer Genomics Portal: An open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discov.* **2**, 401–404 (2012).
- 203. Gao, J. *et al.* Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci. Signal.* **6**, (2013).
- 204. Kalluri, R. & Weinberg, R. A. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J. Clin. Invest.*119, 1420–1428 (2010).
- 205. Xue, A. G., Chan, M. & Gujral, T. S. Pan-cancer analysis of the developmental pathways reveals non-canonical wnt signaling as a driver of mesenchymal-type tumors. *Transl. Res.*224, 1–15 (2020).
- 206. Katoh, M. & Katoh, M. STAT3-induced WNT5A signaling loop in embryonic stem cells, adult normal tissues, chronic persistent inflammation, rheumatoid arthritis and cancer (Review). *Int. J. Mol. Med.* **19**, 273–278 (2007).
- 207. Henry, C. *et al.* Expression of the novel Wnt receptor ROR2 is increased in breast cancer and may regulate both  $\beta$  - catenin dependent and independent Wnt signalling. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* **141**, 243–254 (2015).
- 208. Nishita, M. *et al.* Filopodia formation mediated by receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2 is required for Wnt5a-induced cell migration. *J. Cell Biol.* **175**, 555–562 (2006).
- 209. Kurrey, N. K. *et al.* Snail and slug mediate radioresistance and chemoresistance by antagonizing p53-mediated apoptosis and acquiring a stem-like phenotype in ovarian cancer cells. *Stem Cells* **27**, 2059–2068 (2009).
- 210. Dasari, S. & Bernard Tchounwou, P. Cisplatin in cancer therapy: Molecular mechanisms of

action. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 740, 364–378 (2014).

- 211. André, T. *et al.* Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **350**, 2343–51 (2004).
- 212. Chen, B. *et al.* Small molecule-mediated disruption of Wnt-dependent signaling in tissue regeneration and cancer. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **5**, 100–107 (2009).
- Tauriello, D. V. F. *et al.* TGFβ drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. *Nature* 554, 538–543 (2018).
- 214. Weaver, B. A. How Taxol/paclitaxel kills cancer cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **25**, 2677–2681 (2014).
- 215. Beswick, R. W., Ambrose, H. E. & Wagner, S. D. Nocodazole , a microtubule depolymerising agent , induces apoptosis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells associated with changes in Bcl-2 phosphorylation and expression. *Leuk. Res.* **30**, 427–436 (2006).
- 216. Salerni, B. L., Bates, D. J., Albershardt, T. C., Lowrey, C. H. & Eastman, A. Vinblastine induces acute, cell cycle phase-independent apoptosis in some leukemias and lymphomas and can induce acute apoptosis in others when Mcl-1 is suppressed. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 9, 791–802 (2011).
- Jha, M. N., Bamburg, J. R. & Bedford, J. S. Cell Cycle Arrest by Colcemid Differs in Human Normal and Tumor Cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 5011–5016 (1994).
- 218. Florian, S. & Mitchison, T. J. Anti-Microtubule Drugs. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1413, 403–21 (2016).
- Herreros, A. G. De & Baulida, J. Cooperation, amplification, and feed-back in epithelial mesenchymal transition. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1825, 223–228 (2012).
- 220. Zhang, B. *et al.* Loss of Smad4 in colorectal cancer induces resistance to 5-fluorouracil through activating Akt pathway. *Br. J. Cancer* **110**, 946–957 (2014).
- 221. Markowitz, S. *et al.* Inactivation of the type II TGF-β receptor in Colon Cancer Cells with Microsatellite Instability. *Science (80-. ).* 268, 1336–38 (1995).
- 222. Lee, J. *et al.* Transforming Growth Factor Beta Receptor 2 (TGFBR2) Changes Sialylation in the Microsatellite Unstable (MSI) Colorectal Cancer Cell Line HCT116. *PLoS One* **8**, (2013).

- 223. Papachristou, D. J., Batistatou, A., Sykiotis, G. P., Varakis, I. & Papavassiliou, A. G. Activation of the JNK-AP-1 signal transduction pathway is associated with pathogenesis and progression of human osteosarcomas. *Bone* **32**, 364–371 (2003).
- Ilyas, M., Tomlinson, I. P. M., Rowan, A., Pignatelli, M. & Bodmer, W. F. β-Catenin mutations in cell lines established from human colorectal cancers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94, 10330–10334 (1997).
- 225. Chen, Y., Chen, Z., Tang, Y. & Xiao, Q. The involvement of noncanonical Wnt signaling in cancers. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **133**, 110946 (2021).
- Menck, K., Heinrichs, S., Baden, C. & Bleckmann, A. The WNT/ROR Pathway in Cancer:
  From Signaling to Therapeutic Intervention. *Cells* 10, 1–31 (2021).
- 227. Astudillo, P. A Non-canonical Wnt Signature Correlates With Lower Survival in Gastric Cancer. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* **9**, 1–11 (2021).
- 228. Mei, H. *et al.* High expression of ROR2 in cancer cell correlates with unfavorable prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **453**, 703–709 (2014).
- 229. Henry, C. E., Llamosas, E., Djordjevic, A., Hacker, N. F. & Ford, C. E. Migration and invasion is inhibited by silencing ROR1 and ROR2 in chemoresistant ovarian cancer. *Oncogenesis* **5**, e226–e226 (2016).
- Assani, G. & Zhou, Y. Effect of modulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition regulators Snail1 and Snail2 on cancer cell radiosensitivity by targeting of the cell cycle, cell apoptosis and cell migration/invasion (Review). *Oncol. Lett.* **17**, 23–30 (2019).
- Celià-Terrassa, T. & Jolly, M. K. Cancer Stem Cells and Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in Cancer Metastasis. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* a036905 (2019) doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a036905.